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 Bank Sohar SAOG 

Board of Directors Report 2014 

It is my privilege to present you with Bank Sohar’s financial performance report for the year ending 

December 31, 2014. 

2014 proved to be a yet another milestone year for Oman and the Banking sector under the wise 

leadership of His Majesty Sultan Qaboos bin Said. The Sultanate celebrated the 44th National Day 

anniversary and it is expected that its real growth rate will be 4% in 2014 amidst falling oil prices and 

very challenging external environment. Last year Bank Sohar continued its growth path having recorded 

a net profit of OMR 29.878 million, a growth of 11.19% over the previous year. As a result, the Board of 

Directors has recommended a cash dividend of 4% for the year, which corresponds to 4 baizas per share, 

and a stock dividend of 6%, i.e., 6 shares for every 100 shares held. 

Bank Sohar’s dedication to excellence is clearly evident in the awards it has received over the years. In 

2014 alone the Bank has received 21 local, regional and international awards, with acknowledgements 

varying from financial excellence and growth to unique products and CSR awards. This includes being 

named the ‘Best Financial Brand Oman 2014’ by renowned UK based Global Brands Magazine as well as 

receiving ‘The Diamond Eye Award for Quality, Commitment & Excellence’ from the French based 

Otherways Management & Consulting Association and ‘Business Excellence Award’ by Texas based, 

World Confederation for Business (WORLDCOB), among others. Bank Sohar’s year-long ‘Saving Water, 

Electricity and Our Planet’ campaign also received recognition at the OER Oman Green Awards where 

the Bank was awarded with the ‘Green Campaign of the Year’ award.  

ECONOMY 

During 2014, monetary and financial policies had a positive impact on business growth and performance 

of the banking system in Oman. During the first six months of 2014 Oman’s GDP showed a moderate 

growth of 4% year-on-year compared to 2% growth registered in 2013. The Government has proposed 

for continued investment and economic growth in its 2015 Budget which could generate opportunities 

for the banking sector.  

According to the 2015 Budget of Oman, the State's total revenues for 2015 are estimated to be RO 11.6 

billion, lower by 1% compared to last year's approved revenues due to falling oil prices. Oil revenues 

represent 79% of total revenues, while non-oil revenues form the remaining 21%.  
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The total assets of commercial banks increased by 11% to RO 24.7 billion in November 2014 compared 

to RO 22.3 billion in November 2013. Total credit increased by 10.4% over the year to RO 16.8 billion as 

at the end of November 2014 in comparison to RO 15.2 billion at the end of November 2013. Total 

deposits held with commercial banks also witnessed a significant rise of 14% to RO 17.3 billion in 

November 2014 from RO 15.2 billion in November 2013.  

The position on the inflation front has been improving, with the average CPI for Oman lower at 1.02% 

during January-November 2014 compared to 1.3% during the corresponding period last year. The 

records of CBO's interest rate for absorption of surplus liquidity indicate the flat rate of 0.13% in 

November 2014 same as that of November 2013. Similarly on the other hand, CBO's policy rate for 

injection of liquidity remained unchanged at 1% since March 2012. 

Standard & Poor Rating services (S&P) have revised its outlook on Oman from stable to negative but at 

the same time, have affirmed the country’s A/A-1 long and short-term foreign and local currency 

sovereign credit ratings. The affirmation reflects Oman's strong net external and general government 

asset positions.  

Within the framework of the government’s policy to diversify and stimulate the economy, the State 

General Budget (SGB) stated that the total spending was estimated at RO 14.1 billion, an increase of       

4.5 per cent compared with 2014 budget, and includes allocations of about RO 9.6 billion to meet social 

requirements in fields such as education, health and housing at the same level as last year. The 

government has been geared to spend heavily on industrial projects and infrastructure to diversify the 

economy beyond oil. This will generate an estimated budget deficit of RO 2.5 billion, that is 18% of the 

overall revenues and 8% of GDP.  

FINANCIAL RESULTS OVERVIEW 2014 

2014 has proved to be yet another successful year for Bank Sohar. Completing seven years of successful 

operation, the bank has made a net profit of OMR 29.878 million for the year, which is 11.19% higher 

than the previous year’s net profit of OMR 26.871 million. The operating profit for the year was OMR 

38.988 million as compared to OMR 31.735 million in 2013, an increase of 22.85%. Net interest income 

during the year climbed 9.34% to OMR 47.592 million, as compared to OMR 43.526 million in 2013. The 

operating income for the year 2014 increased to OMR 70.319 million, an increase of 18.76% as 

compared to OMR 59.210 million in 2013.  

Impressive gains were achieved in other areas of the Bank’s business as well. Net loans and advances 

jumped 14.02% during the year to touch OMR 1,423 million, against the previous year’s level of OMR 

1,248 million. Customer deposits grew 11.49% to OMR 1,552 million during the year, as compared to 

OMR 1,392 million in 2013. The Bank’s share of Private Sector Credit stood at 9.14% as at November 

2014 as compared to 9.04% in December 2013 while the Bank’s share of Private Sector Deposit was 

7.37% in November 2014 as against 7.96% at the end of 2013. 
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Our impressive financial performance during 2014 was in no small part the result of the continued hard 

work and commitment of the bank’s staff to deliver excellent service to our customers and clients in a 

very competitive environment. It is through their efforts that Bank Sohar has succeeded in building 

customer’s trust in our establishment and delivering sustainable value to our shareholders. These efforts 

were supplemented by an intensive drive by the management to improve the overall quality of its 

assets, enhance yield growth, and reduce operating expenses. 

Further contributing to its financial accomplishments was the successful revamp of the organizational 

structure of various divisions within the bank, coupled with the introduction of numerous innovative 

and unique retail and corporate products. In addition, Sohar Islamic offering our customers a wide 

choice of products to choose from further strengthen the continued growth of the bank’s business. 

Reaffirming its confidence in Bank Sohar’s policies and growth strategy, leading international ratings 

agency Fitch has once again affirmed a Long Term Issuer Default Rating of BBB+ to the Bank in 2014. The 

positive rating is in recognition of the bank’s strengthening profitability due to the successful 

deployment of its strategy, and its capable and experienced management.  It also acknowledges the 

Bank’s success in maintaining one of the lowest non-performing loan ratios among the banks in Oman as 

well as a strong reserve coverage. The rating recognises the bank’s balanced growth of loans and 

deposits, in addition to its decreased cost of funding and increasing profitability. In essence, the BBB+ 

Rating is a testament to Bank Sohar’s sound asset quality and a reflection of the confidence that is 

shared by both our retail and wholesale customers. 

FUTURE PLANS 

2014 was another successful year for the bank, having made consistent progress across every facet of its 

business as we enter 2015 in a stronger position. However, in the face of ever-increasing competition 

and falling market conditions due to lower oil prices, it would be challenging ahead to drive profitability 

and continue growth. Amidst the challenging market scenario, we are ready to face the market 

excitingly with full dedication and maximise our efforts and grasp opportunities, derive maximum 

benefits and efficiency in every field of operation to maintain our growth stint. 

One of the key component and focus area ahead will be to enhance customer service and satisfaction. 

Bank Sohar will leverage its technology and add further delivery channels that will keep up with the 

usage patterns of the customers. We have laid down plans to work in this area, upgrade our systems 

and enhance customer conveniences by offering effective e-channels. On the other hand our call centre 

channels will be better equipped with relevant technology and expertise to facilitate timely guidance 

and assistance to customers.  
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The Bank intends to follow the Government in its drive to encourage SME enterprises. The access to 

credit for this sector has been limited due to lack of focus of the banks in this sector. Further, the past 

history of the banking sector in lending to this sector has not been satisfactory. We would like to 

continue our SME strategy and have a complete value chain of business and financing based on 

understanding of the business. We intend to serve SME customers efficiently by providing them with a 

one-stop solution. To ensure that the ventures have a better chance of success, we plan to provide the 

much needed financial advice and hand-holding in addition to credit facilities. 

People are the cornerstone of our Bank’s successes.  We will continue to invest in the development of 

our staff as great assets to the Bank and the country.  We will use best practice people development 

tools such as assessment centres, blended learning, leadership and executive development initiatives to 

enhance the skills and competencies of our staff to meet all future challenges and their career 

aspirations. Ongoing development in this field will continue to be a long term strategy of the bank and 

continuous training and development will continue with vigour and commitment at all levels within the 

Bank. 

Once accomplished, these significant milestones will go a long way toward building a solid institution 

which is responsive to the financial needs of Omani Market. It will also pave the way for the introduction 

of the ninth five-year plan in 2015. With the strength and stability of our financial assets coupled with 

our sound management, dedicated staff and ever-increasing customer base, we are well positioned to 

take advantage of these opportunities and manage the risks in the emerging economic landscape for 

2015. As we look forward, we shall consolidate the Bank’s achievements, always aiming for strategic fit, 

quality and effectiveness in the course of fulfilling our mandate and meeting our customer’s 

expectations. 

CORPORATE GOVERANCE 

The Bank has included a comprehensive report on Corporate Governance duly certified by the statutory 

auditors within the Annual Report for the year 2014. This Report has been made in line with the 

directives provided for the same under the Code of Corporate Governance promulgated by the Capital 

Market Authority. Bank Sohar continues to confirm its adherence to the best traditions of Corporate 

Governance and to provide both adequate disclosure and accountability. We have consistently 

honoured that assurance during the current year and will continue to do so in years to come. The Bank’s 

system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify the principal risks to the 

achievement of the Bank’s aims and objectives. It is also designed to identify the nature and extent of 

those risks and manage them efficiently and economically, thereby providing reasonable assurance the 

Bank’s shareholders, board of directors and customers of the Bank’s effectiveness. 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Bank Sohar has always placed great effort to ensure the continued wellbeing of the community and has 

put in place a comprehensive Corporate Social Responsibility programme. As a part of this programme 

the Bank strives to ensure that its contributions are carefully planned and evaluated in order to diversify 

and reach out to the maximum number of people especially those in most need of it, offering them 

both; hope and support. Over the years it has extended its support to a broad range of charitable 

organizations as well as charitable programmes and events that have helped improve the lives of the 

disabled, orphans and the underprivileged across the Sultanate. This has encompassed everything from 

direct donations, event sponsorships, essential equipment contributions and volunteer programmes. 

The Bank has also supported various road safety and environment awareness campaigns to raise 

awareness on these key topics within the country. 

IN CONCLUSION 

It gives me great pleasure to express my appreciation towards everyone who has worked towards 

making our seventh year one of success and prosperity. For a growing Bank like us, it is essential to have 

a team comprising of dedicated and committed professionals, and I would like to take this opportunity 

to demonstrate my gratitude to all our stakeholders, the Board of Directors, Management and staff. 

More importantly, it is necessary for us to highlight the role that our customers have played in making 

2014 noteworthy and aiding us in our stride towards excellence. They have been a constant pillar of 

strength, believing in us and our products and inspiring us to achieve greater heights.  

Our gratitude is also extended to the Central Bank of Oman and the Capital Market Authority who have 

pioneered the financial services sector in the Sultanate and encouraged an environment of 

transparency. To conclude, we must acknowledge the efforts of the Government of His Majesty the 

Sultan, for their commendable efforts in promoting the banking sector in Oman, in line with the vision of 

His Majesty. Lastly and most significantly, we extend our heartfelt thanks to His Majesty Sultan Qaboos 

bin Said for his vision, foresight and benevolent leadership. 

 

 

 

Abdullah Humaid Al Mamary 

Chairman 
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31 December 31 December    31 December 31 December 

2013 2014    2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000   Note  RO’000   RO‘000  

       

  ASSETS     

275,525  568,010 Cash and balances with Central Bank  B1 218,684 106,077 

769,866 399,444 Due from banks and other money market placements  B2 153,786 296,398 

3,241,660 3,696,243 Loans, advances and financing (net)  B3 1,423,053 1,248,039 

536,003  624,706 Investment securities  B4 240,512 206,361 

34,374 33,257 Property, equipment and fixtures   B5 12,804 13,234 

7,532 7,532 Investment properties  B6 2,900 2,900 

32,754 61,444 Other assets  B7 23,656 12,611 

  ————    ————       ————    ————  

4,897,714 5,390,636    2,075,395 1,885,620 

  ══════    ══════       ══════    ══════  

  LIABILITIES     

       

621,252 633,777 Due to banks and other money market borrowings  B8 244,004 239,182  

3,616,587 4,030,379 Customers‘ deposits  B9 1,551,696 1,392,386  

63,234 75,792 Other liabilities  B10 29,180 24,345  

133,067 133,070 Subordinated loans  B11 51,232 51,231 

18,720 18,720 Compulsorily convertible bonds  B12 7,207 7,207 

  ————    ————       ————    ————  

4,452,860 4,891,738    1,883,319 1,714,351 

  ————    ————       ————    ————  

  SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     

 285,714  297,143 Share capital  B13 114,400  110,000  

 28,122  35,883 Legal reserve  B14 13,815  10,827  

 2,761  2,566 General reserve  B15 988  1,063  

 (1,213) (13,346) Fair value reserve  B16 (5,138)  (467) 

 36,797  62,771 Subordinated loans reserve  B11 24,167  14,167  

 92,673  113,881 Retained earnings   43,844  35,679  

  ————    ————       ————    ————  

444,854 498,898    192,076 171,269 

  ————    ————       ————    ————  

4,897,714 5,390,636    2,075,395 1,885,620 

  ══════    ══════       ══════    ══════  
- - Net assets per share (in baizas)  B17 167.89         155.70 

40.44 43.61 Net assets per share (in cents)   - - 

       

       

667,561 892,065 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  B18 343,445 257,011 

578,662 605,210 COMMITMENTS  B18 233,006 

 

222,785 

 

 

 

The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 26th January 2015 and signed on their 

behalf by: 

 

 

 

 

_____________________    _____________________ 

             Chairman           Board member  
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 

      

      

31 December 31 December   31 December 31 December 

2013 2014   2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  Note RO’000 RO‘000 

      

187,862 190,122 Interest income C1 73,197 72,327 

(74,808) (66,506) Interest expense C2 (25,605) (28,801) 

———— ————    ————  ———— 

113,054 123,616 Net interest income  47,592 43,526 

982 4,387 

Net income from Islamic financing and investing  

activities 
 

1,689 378 

39,756 54,644 Other operating income C3 21,038 15,306 

———— ————    ————  ———— 

153,792 182,647 OPERATING INCOME  70,319 59,210 

 ————   ————     ————  ———— 

  OPERATING EXPENSES    

(42,738) (49,729) Staff costs  (19,146) (16,454) 

(24,501) (27,006) Other operating expenses C4 (10,397) (9,433) 

(4,125) (4,644) Depreciation B5 (1,788) (1,588) 

 ————  ————    ————  ———— 

(71,364) (81,379)   (31,331) (27,475) 

 ————  ————    ————  ———— 

82,428 101,268 OPERATING PROFIT  38,988 31,735 

(3,911) (5,524) Impairment allowance on portfolio basis B3 (2,127) (1,506) 

(239) (9,512) Impairment allowance on specific basis B3 (3,662) (92) 

———— ————   ———— ———— 

78,278 86,231 NET PROFIT BEFORE TAX   33,199 30,137 

 ————   ————     ————  ———— 

(8,483) (8,626) Income tax expense C5 (3,321) (3,266) 

———— ————    ————   ————  

69,795 77,605 NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  29,878 26,871 

———— ————   ———— ———— 

  Other comprehensive income    

      

 

997 (12,132) 

Net changes in fair value of available for sale  

financial assets net of income tax (re-classifiable 

to profit or loss) 

 (4,671) 

 

384 

———— ————   ———— ———— 

 

997 (12,132) 

Other comprehensive income for the year net of 

income tax 
 

(4,671) 384 

———— ————   ———— ———— 

70,792 65,473 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 

THE YEAR 
 

25,207 27,255 

══════ ══════   ══════ ══════ 
      

- - Basic earnings per share  for the year – in baizas C6 26.117 23.722 
      

6.16 6.78 Basic earnings per share  for the year – in cents C6 - - 
      

- - Diluted earnings per share  for the year – in baizas C6 25.450 23.016 

      

5.98 6.61 Diluted earnings per share  for the year – in cents C6 - - 
      

  Net profit/(loss) for the year    

71,483 78,483 Conventional banking  30,216 27,521 

  (1,688)      (878) Islamic banking       (338)      (650) 

69,795 77,605 Total  29,878 26,871 

═════ ═════   ═════ ═════ 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 

 
 

 

Share 

capital 

Legal 

reserve 

General 

reserve 

Fair value 

reserve 

Subordinated 

loans reserve 

Retained  

earnings Total 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

        

Balance as at 1 January 2013 100,000 8,006 413 (851) 4,167 33,145 144,880 

 ────── ───── ───── ────── ────── ───── ────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year        
Net profit for the year 

- - - - - 26,871 26,871 

Other comprehensive income for the year  
       

Net change in fair value of available for sale 
investments – net of tax   - - - 1,740 - - 1,740 

Release on sale of available for sale 

investments - - - (1,356) - - (1,356) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 384 - 26,871 27,255 

Issue of rights shares 10,000 - - - - - 10,000 

Rights issue expenses (net) - 134 - - - - 134 

Transfers - 2,687 650 - 10,000 (13,337) - 

Issue of compulsorily convertible bonds - - - - - (7,150) (7,150) 

Dividend paid for the year 2012 - - - - - (3,850) (3,850) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Balance as at 31 December 2013 110,000 10,827 1,063 (467) 14,167 35,679 171,269 

 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

 

 

Balance as at 1 January 2014 110,000 10,827 1,063 (467) 14,167 35,679 171,269 

 ────── ───── ───── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year        

Net profit for the year - - - - - 29,878 29,878 

Other comprehensive income for the year         

Net change in fair value of available for sale 

investments – net of tax   - - - (320) - - (320) 

Release on sale of available for sale 

investments - - - (4,351) - - (4,351) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (4,671) - 29,878 25,207 

Transfers - 2,988 (75) - 10,000 (12,913) - 

Issue of stock dividend for the year 2013 4,400 - - - - (4,400) - 

Dividend paid for the year 2013 - - - - - (4,400) (4,400) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Balance as at 31 December 2014 114,400 13,815 988 (5,138) 24,167 43,844 192,076 

 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ═════ 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 
 

 

 

Share 

capital 

Legal 

reserve 

General 

reserve 

Fair value 

reserve 

Subordinated 

loans reserve 

Retained  

earnings Total 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

        

Balance as at 1 January 2013 259,740 20,795 1,073 (2,210) 10,823 86,091 376,312 

 ────── ───── ───── ────── ────── ───── ────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year        

Net profit for the year 
- - - - - 69,795 69,795 

Other comprehensive income for the year         

Net change in fair value of available for sale 

investments – net of tax    - - - 4,519 - - 4,519 

Release on sale of available for sale 

investments - - - (3,522) - - (3,522) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 997 - 69,795 70,792 

Issue of rights shares 25,974 - - - - - 25,974 

Rights issue expenses (net) - 348 - - - - 348 

Transfers  6,979 1,688 - 25,974 (34,641) - 

Issue of compulsorily convertible bonds - - - - - (18,572) (18,572) 

Dividend paid for the year 2012 - - - - - (10,000) (10,000) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Balance as at 31 December 2013 285,714 28,122 2,761 (1,213) 36,797 92,673 444,854 

 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

 
Balance as at 1 January 2014 285,714 28,122 2,761 (1,213) 36,797 92,673 444,854 

 ────── ───── ───── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year        

Net profit for the year - - - - - 77,605 77,605 

Other comprehensive income for the year          

Net change in fair value of available for sale 

investments – net of tax    - - - (832) - - (832) 

Release on sale of available for sale 

investments - - - (11,301) - - (11,301) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (12,133) - 77,605 65,472 

Transfers  7,761 (195) - 25,974 (33,540) - 

Issue of stock dividend for the year 2013 11,429 - - - - (11,429) - 

Dividend paid for the year 2013 - - - - - (11,428) (11,428) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Balance as at 31 December 2014 297,143 35,883 2,566 (13,346) 62,771 113,881 498,898 

 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ═════ 

  



 Bank Sohar SAOG                                                       
────────────────────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 

The attached notes A1 to E2 form an integral part of these financial statements                                                 Page 6 of 62 

 

 

31 December 

 2013 

31 December 

 2014 

 31 December 

 2014 

 31 December 

 2013 
USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000  RO‘000 

  OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

78,278 86,231 Net profit for the year before tax 33,199  30,137 

  Adjustments for:    

4,125 4,644 Depreciation  1,788  1,588 

4,153 15,036 Impairment for credit losses and investment 5,789  1,599 

(6,579) (8,615) Profit on sale of investment securities (3,317)  (2,533) 

(10) 21 Profit on sale of property, equipment and fixtures 8  (4) 

(2,216) (3,629) Interest on investment  (1,397)  (853) 

────── ──────  ──────  ────── 

77,751 93,688 
Operating profit before changes in operating assets 

and liabilities 36,070 
 

29,934 

405,605 307,403 Due from banks and money market placements 118,350  156,158 

(255,343) (469,618) Loans, advances and financing  (180,803)  (98,307) 

(48,052) (52,816) Investment in held for trading investment (20,334)  (18,500)  

(239) (27,024) Other assets (10,404)  (92) 

45,790 261,281 Due to banks and other money market borrowings 100,593  17,629 

117,471 413,793 Customers‘ deposits 159,310  45,226 

3,130 10,792 Other liabilities 4,155  1,205 

────── ──────  ──────  ────── 

346,113 537,499 Cash from operating activities 206,937  133,253 

(7,423) (8,376) Income tax paid (3,225)  (2,858) 

────── ──────  ──────  ────── 

338,690 529,123 Net cash  from operating activities 203,712  130,395 

══════ ══════  ══════  ══════ 

  INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

(81,413) (128,356) Purchase of investments (net) (49,417)  (31,344) 

56,756 113,810 Proceeds from sale/redemption of investments 43,817  21,851 

(7,221) (3,548) Purchase of property, equipment and fixtures (1,366)  (2,780) 

10 - Proceeds from sale of property, equipment and fixtures -  4 

2,215 3,629 Interest received on investments 1,397  853 

────── ──────  ──────  ────── 

(29,653) (14,465) Net cash used in investing activities (5,569)  (11,416) 

══════ ══════  ══════  ══════ 

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

26,322 - Issue of rights shares (net of Issue expenses) -  10,134 

(10,000) (11,429) Dividends paid (4,400)  (3,850) 

────── ──────  ──────  ────── 

16,322 (11,429)  (4,400)  6,284 

══════ ══════  ══════  ══════ 

325,359 503,229 
NET  CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS 193,743 
 

125,263 

      

325,371 650,730 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT BEGINNING 

OF THE YEAR 250,531 
 

125,268 

────── ──────  ──────  ────── 

650,730 1,153,959 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 

OF THE YEAR 444,274 
 

250,531 

══════ ══════  ══════  ══════ 

  REPRESENTING:    

275,525 568,010 Cash and balances with Central Banks 218,684  106,077 

470,256 399,444 Due from banks and other money market lending 153,786  181,048 

375,235 400,239 Investments securities 154,092  144,466 

(470,286) (213,734) Due to banks and other money market borrowings (82,288)  (181,060) 

────── ──────  ──────  ────── 

650,730 1,153,959  444,274  250,531 

══════ ══════  ══════  ══════ 
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A1 Legal status and principal activities 
 

Bank Sohar SAOG (―the Bank‖) was established in the Sultanate of Oman on 4 March 2007 as a public joint stock company 

and is primarily engaged in commercial, investment and Islamic banking through a network of twenty six commercial banking 

branches and 4 Islamic banking branches within the Sultanate of Oman. The Bank operates under commercial, investment and 

Islamic banking licences issued by the Central Bank of Oman (CBO) and are covered by its deposit insurance scheme. The 

Bank started commercial operations from 9 April 2007. The registered address of the Bank is PO Box 44, Hai Al Mina, Postal 

Code 114, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman. The Bank has its primary listing on the Muscat Securities Market. 
 

With effect from 30 April 2013, the Bank obtained a license to operate an Islamic Banking Window (―Sohar Islamic‖). Sohar 

Islamic offers a full range of Islamic banking services and products. The principal activities of the window include 

accepting Shari'a compliant customer deposits, providing Shari'a compliant financing based on Murabaha, Mudaraba, 

Musharaka, Ijarah, Istisna'a, Salam and providing commercial banking services, investment and other activities permitted 

under Islamic Banking Regulatory Framework (IBRF).  

 

The Bank employed 650 employees as of 31 December 2014 (31 December 2013: 639). 
 

A2 Basis of preparation 

 

A2.1 Statement of compliance 
 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (―IFRS‖), 

requirements of the Oman Commercial Companies Law of 1974, as amended, and the disclosure requirements of the Capital 

Market Authority and the applicable regulations of the CBO. 
 

In accordance with the Royal Decree 69/2012 regarding the amendment in the Banking Law 2000, CBO has issued circular 

no. IB - 1 under which a complete Islamic Banking Regulatory Framework (IBRF) has been promulgated. The framework 

identifies the permissible form of trade-related modes of financing including purchase of goods by banks from their 

customers and immediate resale to them at appropriate profit in price on deferred payment basis. The purchases and sales 

arising under these arrangements are not reflected in these financial statements as such, but are restricted to the amount of 

facility actually utilized and the appropriate portion of profit thereon. 

 

The financial results of the Islamic Banking Window have been reflected in these financial statements for reporting 

purposes after eliminating inter branch transactions / balances.  

 

A2.2 Basis of measurement  

 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for derivative financial instruments, 

held for trading and available for sale financial assets which have been measured at fair value.  
 

A2.3 Functional and presentation currency  
 

These financial statements are presented in Rial Omani, which is the Bank‘s functional currency and also in US Dollars, 

for the convenience of readers. The US Dollar amounts, which are presented in these financial statements have been 

translated from the Rial Omani amounts at an exchange rate of US Dollar 1 = RO 0.385 (RO 1 = 1000 baizas). All 

financial information presented in Rial Omani and US Dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousands. 
 

A2.4 Use of estimates and judgements 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that effect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and 

expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on industry data and various other factors that are believed by the Bank to 

be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of 

assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  
 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 

in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future 

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Estimates considered by the Bank to have a significant risk of 

material adjustment in subsequent periods are discussed in note A4. 

 



 Bank Sohar SAOG                                                       
────────────────────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (continued) 

 

The attached notes A1 to E2 form an integral part of these financial statements                                                 Page 8 of 62 

 

A2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

 

A2.5 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2014 and relevant for the Bank’s operations 

 

For the year  ended 31 December 2014, the Bank has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for periods beginning on 1 January 2014.  

 

Amendment to IAS 32, ‗Financial instruments: Presentation‘ on offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. This 

amendment clarifies that the right of set-off must not be contingent on a future event. It must also be legally enforceable 

for all counterparties in the normal course of business, as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The 

amendment also considers settlement mechanisms. The amendment did not have a significant effect on the Bank‘s 

financial statements. 
 

A2.6 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not 

been early adopted by the Bank: 
 

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for 

the Bank‘s accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2015 or later periods, but the Bank has not early adopted them and 

the impact of these standards and interpretations is not reasonably estimable as at 31 December  2014:  
 

 Amendments to IFRS 3, ‗Business Combinations‘ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IFRS 8, ‗Operating segments‘ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IFRS 13, ‗Fair value measurement‘ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 16, ‗Property, plant and equipment‘ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 38, ‗Intangible assets‘ 

 Amendments to IFRS 9, ‗Financial instruments‘ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 37, ‗Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets‘ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 

July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 39, Financial instruments – Recognition and measurement‘ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 

July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 40, ‗Investment property‘. (Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 27, ‗Separate financial statements‘ on the equity method (Annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2016) 

 Amendments to IFRS 5, ‗Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations‘ regarding methods of disposal. 

(Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016) 

 Amendments to IFRS 7, ‗Financial instruments: Disclosures‘, (with consequential amendments to IFRS 1) regarding 

servicing contracts. (Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016) 

 IFRS 15 ‗Revenue from contracts with customers‘(Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017) 

 IFRS 9 ‗Financial instruments‘(Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) 

 

A3 Significant accounting policies 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Bank to all periods presented in these financial 

statements, unless otherwise stated. 

 

A3.1 Foreign currency translation 

 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the spot exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into the 

functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the 

difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for the effective interest 

and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at the end 

of the period. The non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 

retranslated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at the date the fair value was determined. Foreign currency 

differences arising on retranslation are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, except for non-monetary 

financial assets, such as equities classified as available-for-sale, which are included in other comprehensive income. Non-

monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.2 Revenue and expense recognition 

 

A3.2.a Interest income and expense 

 

Interest income and expense is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest method. The 

effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected 

life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or 

liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial asset/liability and is not revised 

subsequently. Interest income and expense presented in the statement of comprehensive income include: 

 Interest on financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis; 

 Interest on available for sale investment securities on an effective interest rate basis; and 

 Fair value changes in qualifying derivatives (including hedge ineffectiveness) and related hedged items when interest 

rate risk is the hedged risk. 

 

Interest income which is doubtful of recovery is included in impairment allowance and excluded from income until it is 

received in cash. 

 

A3.2.b Fair value gains and losses 

 

Fair value changes on derivatives held for risk management purposes and available for sale financial assets are presented in 

the statement of other comprehensive income. 

 

Net income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, including all realised and unrealised fair value changes, 

interest, dividend and foreign exchange differences are presented in the income statement. 

 

A3.2.c Dividend income 

 

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive dividend is established.  

 

A3.2.d Fees and commission 

 

Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are 

included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. 

 

Other fees and commission income include account servicing fees, credit related fees, advisory fees, administration fees and 

other management fees, sales commission, placement fees and syndication fees. These are recognised as the related services 

are performed.  

 

A3.2.e Provisions 

 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 

estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions 

are equivalent to the amortised value of the future liabilities which is determined by discounting the expected future cash 

flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the 

liability. 

 

A3.2.f Offsetting of income and expense 

 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from a 

group of similar transactions such as in the Bank‘s trading activity.  

 

A3.2.g Temporary significant influence 

 

The Bank is exempt from applying the equity method when significant influence over an associate is intended to be 

temporary. The temporary significant influence infers that there is an evidence that an associate is acquired with the intention 

to reduce its stake that it no more has a significant influence on the investee company by soliciting investors to inject fresh 

capital to the investee company. The investment is classified as available for sale in the financial statements.  
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.3 Financial assets and liabilities 
 

A3.3.a Classification 
 

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 

receivables, held to maturity and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial 

assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this 

category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for 

trading unless they are designated as hedging instruments. 
 

Loans and receivables  
 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market and the Bank does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.  
 

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value which is the cash consideration to originate or purchase the loan 

including any transaction costs - and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method less 

specifically identified  and collective allowance for impairment and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as 

‗impairment allowance‘. Specific provisions are made against the carrying amount of loans and receivables that are identified 

as being impaired based on regular reviews of outstanding balances to reduce the impaired loans and receivables to their 

recoverable amounts. Loans and receivables are reported in the statement of financial position as loans and advances to 

banks or customers. Interest on loans is included in the statement of comprehensive income and is reported as ‗interest 

income‘.  
 

Held to maturity financial assets  
 

Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the 

Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity and which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss 

or available-for-sale. 
 

These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and measured subsequently at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 
 

Interest on held to maturity investments is included in the statement of comprehensive income and reported as ‗interest 

income‘. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss has been reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the 

investment and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as ‗impairment on investments‘. Held to maturity 

investments includes corporate bonds and other debt securities. 
 

Available-for-sale financial assets 
 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of 

the other categories. 

 

Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may 

be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices or that are not 

classified as loans and receivables, held to maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration including any 

transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised in the statement of other 

comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until the financial asset is 

derecognised. If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously 

recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

However, interest is calculated using the effective interest method, and foreign currency gains and losses on monetary 

assets classified as available for sale are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Dividends on available-for-

sale equity instruments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in ‗other operating income‘ when the 

Bank‘s right to receive payment is established. 
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

A3.3 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

A3.3.b Recognition 
 

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that 

they are originated. All other financial assets and liabilities  are initially recognised on the trade date at which the Bank 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 

A3.3.c Derecognition 
 

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 

transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its 

contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expired. 
 

A3.3.d Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 

when, the Bank has a legal right to set off the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 

settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable rights must not be contingent on future events and must be 

enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank and the counter 

party. 
 

A3.3.e Amortised cost measurement 
 

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial 

recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using effective interest method of any 

difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. 
 

A3.3.f Fair value measurement 
 

A number of the Bank‘s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and 

non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on 

a number of accounting policies and methods. Where applicable, information about the assumptions made in determining 

fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 
 

For investments where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to 

the current market value of a similar investment, or is based on the expected discounted cash flows. Investments having short 

term maturities are not discounted. 
 

The fair value of loans and advances is estimated at the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of 

interest at the reporting date.  
 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their quoted price, if available. If a quoted price is not available, 

then fair value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward 

price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). The fair value of 

interest rate swaps is based on broker quotes. Those quotes are tested for reasonableness by discounting estimated future 

cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest rates for a similar instrument at the 

measurement date. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take account of the credit 

risk of the Bank and counterparty when appropriate. 
 

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 

interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.  
 

A3.3.g Identification and measurement of impairment of financial assets 
 

(i) Assets carried at amortised cost 
 

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 

assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and an impairment loss is incurred if, and 

only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 

of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 

asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets 

is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Bank about the following loss events as well as 

considering the guidelines issued by the CBO: 
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

A3.3 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

A3.3.g Identification and measurement of impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

(i) Assets carried at amortised cost (continued) 
 

 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 

 a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 

 the Bank granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower‘s financial difficulty, a 

concession that the lender would not otherwise consider; 

 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 

 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or 

 observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of 

financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the 

individual financial assets in the Bank, including adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group, or 

national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the Bank. 
 

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 

individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Bank 

determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant 

or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses 

them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues 

to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 
 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments carried at 

amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset‘s carrying amount 

and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted 

at the financial asset‘s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 

allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If a loan or held-to-

maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective 

interest rate determined under the contract. 
 

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash 

flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is 

probable. 
 

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of 

the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics 

similar to those in the group.  
 

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any 

differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 
 

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. Such loans are written off 

after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.  
 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 

event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting 

the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

(ii) Assets classified as available-for-sale 

 

The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 

of financial assets is impaired. For debt securities, the Bank uses the criteria referred to in (i) above. In the case of equity 

investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost 

is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the 

cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment 

loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss - is removed from equity and recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on equity instruments 

are not reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.  
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

A3.3 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

A3.3.h Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, unrestricted balances held with central banks and highly liquid financial 

assets with original maturities of  upto three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and 

are used by the Bank in management of its short term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in 

the statement of financial position. 

 

A3.3.i Repurchase and resale agreements 
 

Securities sold with a commitment to repurchase (repos) at a specified future date are recognised in the statement of financial 

position and are measured in accordance with accounting policies for trading securities or investment securities. The 

counterparty liability for amounts received under these agreements is included in ‗due to banks and other money market 

borrowings‘. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest expense and accrued over the life of the 

repo agreement.  
 

Securities purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repos) are not recognised in 

the statement of financial position and the amounts paid under these agreements are included in ‗due from banks and other 

money market lendings‘. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as interest income and accrued over the 

life of the reverse repo agreement. 
 

A3.3.j Acceptances 
 

Acceptances are disclosed on the statement of financial position under other assets with corresponding liability disclosed 

under other liabilities. Therefore, there is no off-balance sheet commitment for acceptances. 
 

A3.3.k Derivatives held for risk management purposes 
 

Derivatives held for risk management purposes include all derivative assets and liabilities that are not classified as trading 

assets or trading liabilities. Derivatives held for risk management purposes are measured at fair value in the statement of 

financial position. The treatment of changes in their fair value depends on their classification into the following categories: 
 

Fair value hedge 
 

When a derivative is designated as a hedge of the change in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment, 

changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognised immediately in statement of comprehensive income together with 

changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk. 

 

If the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, no longer meets the criteria for fair value hedge accounting, or the 

designation is revoked, hedge accounting is discontinued. Any adjustment up to that point, to a hedged item for which the 

effective interest method is used, is amortised to profit or loss as part of the recalculated effective interest rate of the item over 

its remaining life. 
 

Cash flow hedge 
 

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular 

risk associated with a recognised asset or a liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the 

effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income in hedging 

reserve. The amount recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to comprehensive income as a reclassification 

adjustment in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss, and in the same line item in the statement of 

comprehensive income. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in 

statement of comprehensive income. 

 

If the hedging derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for cash flow 

hedge accounting, or the hedge designation is revoked, then the hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. In a 

discontinued hedge of a forecast transaction the cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive income from the 

period when the hedge was effective is reclassified from the equity to statement of comprehensive income as a reclassification 

adjustment when the forecast transaction occurs and affects profit or loss. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to 

occur, then the balance in other comprehensive income is reclassified immediately to statement of comprehensive income as a 

reclassification adjustment.  
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.3 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

A3.3.k Derivatives held for risk management purposes (continued) 

 

Other non-trading derivative 

 

When a derivative is not held for trading, and is not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, all changes in its fair value 

are recognised immediately in statement of comprehensive income. 

 

A3.4 Property, equipment and fixtures 

 

Items of property, equipment and fixtures are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and preparing the asset for its 

intended use. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of property, equipment and 

fixtures, except freehold land. The estimated useful lives for the current period are as follows: 

 Years 

Motor vehicles 5 

Furniture and fixtures 6-7 

Office equipment 6-7 

Production software 10 

 

The assets‘ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting 

date.  

 

An asset‘s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset‘s carrying amount is greater 

than its estimated recoverable amount. 

 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised 

within ‗other operating income‘ in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset‘s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 

is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be 

measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 

to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 

A3.5 Investment properties 

 

Investment properties comprise plots of land received by the Bank as grant from the Government of Sultanate of Oman 

during the year 2008. These are currently held for an undetermined business use and not occupied by the Bank. These are 

carried at the average valuation of the two professional valuators carried out during 2008. Subsequent to initial 

measurement these properties are carried at cost less accumulated impairments, if any. 

 

A3.6 Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities 

 

All money market and customer deposits are initially measured at fair value plus transaction cost and subsequently carried at 

amortised cost. Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities are measured at their amortized cost using the 

effective interest method. The Bank classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance 

with the substance of the contractual terms of the instrument.  

 

A3.7 Taxation 

 

Taxation is provided in accordance with Omani fiscal regulations. Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax 

expense is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly 

in equity or other comprehensive income.  

 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 

the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.7 Taxation (continued) 
 

Deferred tax assets/liabilities are calculated using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary difference when they reverse, based 

on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 

which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is 

no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

 

A3.8 Fiduciary assets 

 

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Bank and accordingly are not included in these 

financial statements. 

 

A3.9 Trade and settlement date accounting 

 

All ―regular way‖ purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the entity commits 

to purchase or sell the asset.  Regular way purchase or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 

assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place. 

 

A3.10 Leases 

 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term. 

 

A3.11 Financial guarantees  

 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs 

because a specified debtor fails to make payment, when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 

 

Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value, and the initial fair value is amortised over the life of 

the financial guarantee. The guarantee liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present 

value of any expected payment (when a payment under the guarantee has become probable). The unamortized value or 

present value of the expected payment arising from the financial guarantee as the case may be is included in the other 

liabilities. 

 

A3.12 Employee benefits 

 

A3.12.a Terminal benefits  
 

End of service benefits are accrued in accordance with the terms of employment of the Bank's employees at the reporting 

date, having regard to the requirements of the Oman Labour Law 2003, as amended.   

 

Contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan and occupational hazard insurance for Omani employees in 

accordance with the Omani Social Insurances Law of 1991 are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive 

income as incurred. 

 

A3.12.b Short term benefits 

 

Short term benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. 

 

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 

this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

A3.13 Earnings per share 
 

The Bank presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing 

the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the year. Annualised EPS is calculated by annualizing the basic EPS for the whole year. Diluted EPS is 

determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and weighted average number of ordinary 

shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes or similar 

instruments. 
 

A3.14 Corresponding figures 
 

The corresponding figures included for comparative purposes have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in the 

current year. 
 

A3.15 Segment reporting 
 

An operating segment is the component of the Bank that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 

incur expenses, including revenue and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Bank‘s other components, whose 

operating results are reviewed regularly by the Bank‘s CEO (being the chief operating decision maker) to make decisions 

about resources allocated to each segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is 

available.  
 

A3.16    Directors’ remuneration and sitting fees 
 

The Directors‘ remuneration is governed as set out in the Commercial Companies Law, regulations issued by the Capital 

Market Authority and the Articles of Association of the Company. 
 

The Annual General Meeting determines and approves the remuneration and the sitting fees for the Board of Directors and 

its sub-committees provided such fees, in accordance with Article 106 of the Commercial Companies Law of 1974 as 

amended, shall not exceed 5% of the annual net profit after deduction of the legal reserve and the optional reserve and the 

distribution of dividends to the shareholders provided that such fees does not exceed RO 200,000. The sitting fee for each 

Director does not exceed RO 10,000 in one year. 

 

A4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 

the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom 

equal the related actual results.  
 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The Bank‘s significant accounting 

estimates are on: 
 

A4.1 Impairment losses on loans and advances 
 

The Bank follows IFRS and CBO guidelines in assessing the impairment against non-performing loans. The Bank reviews 

its loan portfolios to assess impairment on a monthly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded 

in the statement of comprehensive income, the Bank makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data 

indicating an impairment followed by measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans 

before the decrease can be identified within that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there 

has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers and or national or local economic conditions that correlate 

with defaults on assets. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk 

characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. 

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed 

periodically to reduce any difference between loss estimates and actual loss experience. For individually significant loans 

and advances which are impaired, the necessary impairment loss is considered based on the future cash flow estimates. 

Individually significant loans and advances which are not impaired and all individually insignificant loans and advances 

are then assessed collectively considering historical experience and observable data on a portfolio basis, in group of assets 

with similar risk characteristics to determine whether collective impairment loss to be made.  

 



 Bank Sohar SAOG                                                       
────────────────────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (continued) 

 

The attached notes A1 to E2 form an integral part of these financial statements                                                 Page 17 of 62 

 

A4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued) 

 

A4.1 Impairment losses on loans and advances (continued) 

 

In determining collective impairment loss, the Bank takes into account several factors including credit quality, 

concentration risk, levels of past due, sector performance, available collateral and macro economic conditions. 

 

A4.2 Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments 

 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 

determined by using valuation techniques. The Bank uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and makes 

assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. The Bank uses 

expected cash flow analysis for various available-for-sale financial assets that are not traded in active markets. 

 

A4.3 Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments 

 

The Bank determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or 

prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or objective evidence of impairment exists. This determination of what is 

considered to be significant or prolonged requires judgement. In applying judgement, the Bank evaluates among other 

factors, the volatility in share price. Objective evidence of impairment may be due to deterioration in the financial health of 

the investee, industry and sector performance.  

 

A4.4 Fair value estimation of unquoted securities 

 

In cases where the underlying assets are fair valued such as private equity funds, management uses net assets value. 

Management believe that net assets values of these investments are representative of their fair values as the majority of the 

underlying assets are fair valued and the reported net assets of those entities takes into account the updated fair values 

changes.  
 

 

B1 Cash and balances with central bank 
 

31 December 31 December  31 December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

27,541 31,782 Cash  12,236 10,603 

 1,319  1,319 Capital deposit with CBO 508 508 

 246,665  534,909 Balance with CBO 205,940 94,966 

────── ──────  ────── ────── 

275,525 568,010  218,684 106,077 

══════ ══════  ══════ ══════ 
 

The capital deposit with the CBO cannot be withdrawn without the approval of CBO.  
 

B2 Due from banks and other money market placements 
 

31 December 31 December  31 December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

  Foreign currency:   

658,487 249,865 Money market  placements 96,198 253,517 

84,000 116,319 Lending  to banks 44,783 32,340 

27,379 33,260 Demand balances  12,805 10,541 

 —————   —————    —————   —————  

769,866 399,444  153,786 296,398 

═══════ ═══════  ═══════ ═══════ 
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B3 Loans, advances and financing - net  

     

31December 31December  31 December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

2,181,171 2,459,408 Corporate  loans 946,872 839,751 

1,126,247 1,319,195 Retail loans 507,890 433,605 

────── ───────  ─────── ─────── 

3,307,418 3,778,603 Gross loans, advances and financing 1,454,762 1,273,356 

     

(42,639) (48,163) Impairment allowance on portfolio basis (18,543) (16,416) 

(23,119) (34,197) 

Impairment allowance on specific basis (including 

reserved interest) (13,166) (8,901) 

────── ───────  ─────── ─────── 

3,241,660 3,696,243 Net loans and advances  1,423,053 1,248,039 

═══════ ═══════  ═══════    ═══════ 

 

Gross loans and advances include RO 38,319,042 (2013: RO 9,580,155) through Sohar Islamic financing activities, under Islamic 

mode of financing.  

 

Loans, advances and financing comprise: 

 

31December 31December  31 December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

3,037,462 3,431,805 Loans 1,321,245 1,169,423 

 116,348  145,699 Overdrafts  56,094 44,794 

 114,218  135,174 Loan against trust receipts 52,042 43,974 

 39,390  65,925 Bills discounted 25,381 15,165 

  ───────   ───────    ─────── ─────── 

3,307,418 3,778,603 Gross loans and advances 1,454,762 1,273,356 

(42,639) (48,163) Impairment allowance on portfolio basis (18,543) (16,416) 

(23,119) (34,197) 

Impairment allowance on specific basis (including 

reserve interest) (13,166) (8,901) 

      ───────     ───────      ─────── ─────── 

3,241,660 3,696,243 Net loans and advances  1,423,053 1,248,039 

  ═══════    ═══════     ═══════ ═══════ 
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B3 Loans, advances and financing - net (continued) 

 

As per the CBO requirements, the movement in the impairment allowance is as analysed below: 

 

 31 December 31 December Loan loss provision 31 December 31 December 

 2013 2014  2014 2013 

 USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

   Impairment allowance on portfolio basis   

 38,728 42,639 Balance at beginning of year 16,416 14,910 

 3,911 5,524 Provided during the year 2,127 1,506 

 ─────── ───────  ─────── ─────── 

 42,639 48,163 Balance at the end of the year 18,543 16,416 

   ═══════   ═══════    ═══════   ═══════ 

   Impairment allowance on specific basis   

    1)   Loan loss provision   

 20,193 16,176 Balance at beginning of year 6,228 7,774 

 7,353 14,748 Provided during the year 5,678 2,831 

 (4,255) - Written off - (1,638) 

 - (1,179) Transfer to other assets (454) - 

 (7,114) (5,236) Written back due to recovery (2,016) (2,739) 

 ─────── ───────  ─────── ─────── 

 16,177 24,509 Balance at the end of the year 9,436 6,228 

   ═══════   ═══════    ═══════   ═══════ 

   2) Reserved interest   

 6,720 6,942 Balance at beginning of year 2,673 2,587 

 3,634 3,551 Reserved during the year 1,367 1,399 

 (1,585) - Written off - (610) 

 (1,827) (805) Written back due to recovery  (310) (703) 

  ───────  ───────   ───────  ─────── 

 6,942 9,688 Balance at end of the year 3,730 2,673 

 ═══════ ═══════  ═══════ ═══════ 

 23,119 34,197 Total 13,166 8,901 

 ═══════ ═══════  ═══════ ═══════ 

 

Impairment allowance on portfolio basis is established to meet the credit risks inherent within the loans, advances and 

financing on a portfolio basis.  

 

All loans and advances require payment of interest, some at fixed rates and others at rates that reprice prior to maturity. 

Interest reserve account is maintained by the Bank to comply with rules, regulations and guidelines issued by CBO against 

loans and advances which are impaired. As of 31 December 2014, loans and advances on which interest is not being accrued 

or where interest has been reserved amounted to RO 21,934,854 (2013 - RO 13,618,071). 
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B3 Loans, advances and financing - net (continued) 

 

The table below analyses the concentration of gross loans and advances by economic sector: 
 

31 December 31 December  31 December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

 1,126,426  1,319,196 Personal 507,890  433,674  

 578,182  626,149 Construction 241,067  222,600  

 443,735  514,829 Whole sale and retail 198,209  179,191  

 158,907  487,193 Services 187,569  170,838  

 150,860  189,353 Financial institutions 72,901  61,179  

 99,413  103,465 Transport and communication 39,834  46,686  

 92,501  233,158 Manufacturing 89,766  58,081  

 23,262  33,995 International trade 13,088  38,274  

 114  154,408 Mining and quarrying 59,447  35,613  

 465,431  71,166 Electricity, gas and water 27,399  14,019  

 36,413  33,351 Non – resident 12,840  8,956  

 121,262  6,086 Agriculture and allied activities 2,343  2,653  

 6,891   8  Government  3   44  

          4,021  6,246 Other 2,406  1,548  

═══════ ═══════  ═══════ ═══════ 

3,307,418 3,778,603  1,454,762 1,273,356 

═══════ ═══════  ═══════ ═══════ 
 

 

B4 Investment Securities 

 

31 December 31 December  31 December  31 December 

2013 2014  2014  2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000  RO‘000 

      

48,179 116,652 Held for trading investments 44,911  18,549 

462,769 490,358 Available for sale investments 188,788  178,166 

25,055 17,696 Held to maturity investments 6,813  9,646 

─────── ───────  ───────  ─────── 

536,003 624,706  240,512  206,361 

═══════ ═══════  ═══════  ═══════ 
 

 

B4.a Held-for-trading investments comprise: 

 

31December 31December  31December  31 December 

2013 2014  2014  2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000  RO‘000 

      

48,179 101,075 Government development bonds – Oman 38,914  18,549 

- 15,577 Sukuk trust certificates - secured 5,997  - 
 

─────── ───────  ───────  ─────── 

48,179 116,652  44,911  18,549 

       ═══════ ═══════  ═══════  ═══════ 

 

The certificates are for a period of 5 years and carry fixed profit rate of 5% per annum. 
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B4 Investment Securities (continued) 

 

B4.b Available for sale investments comprise: 

 

Carrying/ 

fair value 

31 December 

2014 

Cost 

31 December  

2014 

Carrying/  

fair value 

31 December 

2013 

Cost 

31 December 

2013 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO‘000 RO‘000 

     

Unquoted  securities  1,297 1,500 983 1,304 

Quoted securities 33,511 38,651 32,837 33,143 

Treasury bills 153,980 153,994 144,346 144,352 

  ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────  

 188,788 194,145 178,166 178,799 

  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════  

 

 

 

Carrying/ 

fair value 

31 December 

2014 

Cost 

31 December  

2014 

Carrying/  

fair value 

31 December 

2013 

Cost 

31 December 

2013 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD‘000 USD‘000 

     

Unquoted  securities  3,369 3,896 2,553 3,387 

Quoted securities 87,041 100,392 85,291 86,086 

Treasury bills 399,948 399,984 374,925 374,940 

  ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────  

 490,358 504,272 462,769 464,413 

  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════  

 

Oman Development Fund SAOC (―Fund‖) was incorporated on 7 May 2014 under the license no. 1196427 with the Bank playing 

the role of the founder shareholder. The purpose of the Fund is to identify mid-segment industrial and manufacturing sectors that 

leverage Oman‘s unique advantages such as its infrastructure, tax treaties, geography and natural mineral resources for potential 

investment opportunities. The Bank is currently holding 49.9% stake in the Fund and is in the process of bringing on board the 

committed investors to the Fund. As per the Private Placement Memorandum (PPM), Bank Sohar SAOG will hold 5% of the paid-up 

capital of the Fund and it also envisages that it will enter into an Investment Management Agreement (IMA) with the Company.  

 

B4.c Held-to-maturity investments comprise: 

 

31December 31December  31December  31 December 

2013 2014  2014  2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000  RO‘000 

 4,057  - Quoted - secured -   1,562  

 20,998  17,696 Unquoted - secured 6,813   8,084  

__________ __________  __________  __________ 

25,055 17,696  6,813  9,646 

═══════ ═══════  ═══════  ═══════ 
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B5 Property, Equipment and Fixtures  
 

 

 

Freehold 

land 

 

Computer 

software 

Furniture 

and 

fixtures 

 

Office 

equipment 

 

Motor 

vehicles 

Capital 

work in 

progress 

 

Total 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

Cost:         

1 January 2014 4,100 7,736 3,536 4,710 726 1,947 22,755 

Additions - 942 435 242 - - 1,619 

Transfers/disposals         -         -    (82)         (4)      -  (253)     (339) 

As at 31 December 2014 4,100 8,678 3,889 4,948 726 1,694 24,035 

Accumulated depreciation: 

1 January 2014           - (3,906) (2,273) (2,937) (405)         -  (9,521) 
Depreciation and 

amortisation - (645) (415) (628) (100) - (1,788) 

Disposals           -          -       74         4        -         -       78 

As at 31 December 2014            - (4,551) (2,614) (3,561) (505)         -  (11,231) 

Net book  value at  

31 December  2014(OMR)  4,100 4,127 1,275 1,387 221 1,694 12,804 

31 December 2014 (USD’000) 10,649 10,719 3,312 3,603 574 4,400 33,257 

           

 

 

 

Freehold 

land 

 

Computer 

software 

Furniture 

and fixtures 

 

Office 

equipment 

 

Motor 

vehicles 

Capital 

work in 

progress 

 

Total 

 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 

Cost:         

At 1 January 2013 4,100 6,588 3,241 3,986 505 1,711 20,131 

Additions - 1,148 295 724 232 236 2,635 

Disposals         -         -         -         - (11)          -      (11) 

At 31 December 2013 4,100 7,736 3,536 4,710 726 1,947 22,755 

        

Accumulated depreciation:        

At 1 January 2013         - (3,379) (1,947) (2,285) (333)     - (7,944) 

Depreciation and 

amortisation - (527) (326) (652) (83) - (1,588) 

Disposals           -          -          -         -    11         -         11 

As at 31 December 2013           - (3,906) (2,273) (2,937) (405)         -  (9,521) 

Net book value:        

31 December 2013(OMR) 4,100 3,830 1,263 1,773 321 1,947 13,234 

31 December 2013(USD’000) 10,649 9,948 3,281 4,605 834 5,057 34,374 
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B6 Investment properties 

 

Investment properties represent two plots of land received by the Bank as grant from the Government of Sultanate of Oman 

during the year 2008. The Bank has recorded the land based on the average valuation carried out during 2008 by two 

professional valuators. The plots of land are currently held vacant. The fair value of these properties as at 31 December 

2014 is RO 3.053 million. 
 

B7      Other assets 

 

31 December 31 December  31 December 31 December 

 2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

     

296 145 Interest receivable 56                      114  

13,055 30,842 Acceptances 11,874 5,026 

6,119 8,208 Prepayments  3,160 2,356 

2,912 2,714 Other receivables 1,045 1,121 

10,372 19,535 Other 7,521 3,994 

─────── ───────  ─────── ─────── 

32,754 61,444  23,656 12,611 

═══════ ═══════  ═══════ ═══════ 

 

B8 Due to banks and other money market borrowings 
 

31 December 31 December  31 December 31 December 

 2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

  Local currency:   

 167,268  72,855   Money market borrowings 28,049  64,398  

 1,140  2,935 Demand balances 1,130  439  

  ————     ————      ————     ————   

168,408 75,790  29,179 64,837 

 ————   ————    ————   ————  

  Foreign currency:   

452,844 557,987 Money market borrowings 214,825 174,345 

  ————     ————      ————     ————   

452,844 557,987  214,825 174,345 

 ————    ————     ————    ————   

621,252 633,777  244,004 239,182 

   ═════     ═════      ═════     ═════  
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B9 Customers’ deposits 

 

       31 December        31 December         31 December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

 2,029,857  2,053,556 Term deposits 790,619 781,495 

 1,012,117  1,302,626 Demand deposits 501,511 389,665 

 559,117  648,013 Saving deposits 249,485 215,260 

 15,496  26,184 Margin deposits 10,081 5,966 

————              ————                ———— ———— 

3,616,587 4,030,379  1,551,696 1,392,386 

═════  ═════    ═════  ═════  

 

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 

 Conventional 

banking 

Islamic  

banking 

 

Total 

Conventional 

banking 

Islamic  

banking 

 

Total 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 

Retail customers:       

Term deposits 16,007 256 16,263 17,953 867 18,820 

Demand deposits 19,397 1,167 20,564 15,504 181 15,685 

Saving deposits 241,671 7,814 249,485 215,079 3,524 218,603 

       

       

Corporate customers:        

Term deposits 761,148 13,208 774,356 751,526 - 751,526 

Demand deposits 473,095 7,852 480,947 370,637 14,743 385,380 

Margin deposits 3,632 6,449 10,081 2,372 - 2,372 

 ──────   ──────   ──────  ──────   ──────   ──────  

 1,514,950 36,746 1,551,696 1,373,071 19,315 1,392,386 

  ══════  ══════   ══════  ══════  ══════  ══════  

 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 

Retail customers:       

Term deposits 41,577 665 42,242 46,631 2,252 48,883 

Demand deposits 50,382 3,031 53,413 40,270 470 40,740 

Saving deposits 627,717 20,296 648,013 558,647 9,153 567,800 

       

Corporate customers:        

Term deposits 1,977,008 34,306 2,011,314 1,952,015 - 1,952,015 

Demand deposits 1,228,817 20,395 1,249,212 962,694 38,294 1,000,988 

Margin deposits 9,434 16,751 26,185 6,161 - 6,161 

 ──────   ──────   ──────  ──────   ──────   ──────  

 3,934,935 95,444 4,030,379 3,566,418 50,169 3,616,587 

  ══════  ══════   ══════  ══════  ══════  ══════  
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B10     Other liabilities 

 

       31 December        31 December         31 December  31 December 

  2013  2014   2014 2013 

 USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

      

 5 191 Interest payable 74 2 

 13,055 30,842 Acceptances 11,874 5,026 

 9,132 10,525 Staff entitlements 4,052 3,516 

 8,738 8,969 Income tax payable  3,453 3,364 

 184 60 Deferred tax liability (note C5) 23 71 

 32,120 25,205 Other accruals and provisions  9,704 12,366 

 ──── ─────  ────  ───── 

 63,234 75,792  29,180 24,345 

  ═════ ═════    ════   ═════ 

   Staff entitlements:   

      

  1,371  1,673 End of service benefits 644  528  

  7,761  8,852 Other liabilities 3,408  2,988  

 ———  ———   ———  ——— 

 9,132 10,525  4,052 3,516 

 ════ ════  ════ ════ 

 

  

Movement in the end of service benefits 

liability:   

  1,049  1,371 At 1 January 528 404  

 457  593 Expenses recognised in the profit or loss 228  176  

  (135) (291) End of service benefits paid (112)  (52) 

  ———  ———   ——— ———— 

 
1,371 1,673 At 31 December 644 528 

 ════ ════  ════ ═════ 
 

B11  Subordinated Loans 
 

The Bank raised an unsecured subordinated loan of RO 50 million in 2011 with a maturity period of 7 years. The instrument 

is unlisted, non-transferable, and non-negotiable and non-convertible with no early call option. The instrument carries a 

fixed rate of interest of 6.5%. Principal amount of the subordinated loan is repayable on maturity while interest is payable 

semi-annually. The Bank is required to create a subordinated loan reserve equal to 20% of the issue value annually from 

August 2012 up till the maturity of the subordinated loans. This reserve is created at the end of each financial year from 

retained earnings. Accordingly, during the year a reserve of RO 10 million (2013: RO 10 million) was created. According 

to the Regulations of CBO, the subordinated loan as reduced by subordinated loan reserve is considered as Tier II capital for 

Capital Adequacy purposes.  
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B12       Compulsorily convertible bonds 
 

The compulsorily convertible bonds of RO 7.150 million carrying an annual coupon rate of 4.5% were issued on 28 April 

2013. These bonds will be converted into ordinary shares of the Bank in three equal instalments at the end of 3rd, 4th and 5th 

years from their dates of issue at a conversion price derived by applying a discount of 20% to the 3 months average share price 

of the Bank on the Muscat Securities Market prior to the date of conversion.  
 

B13  Share capital 

    

The authorised share capital of the Bank is 2,000,000,000 shares of RO 0.100 each (2013 - 2,000,000,000 of RO 0.100 each). 

During the year Bank has issued stock dividend of RO 4,400,000. The issued and paid up share capital of the Bank is 

1,144,000,000 shares of RO 0.100 each (2013 - 1,100,000,000 shares of RO 0.100 each).  

 

In the Annual general meeting held on 30
th
 March 2014 the shareholders approved the board‘s recommendation to distribute 

4% stock dividend resulting in issuance of 44,000,000 new shares. 

 

As of 31 December 2014, the following shareholders held 10% or more of the Bank‘s capital, either individually or together 

with family members: 

 Number of shares % Holding 

Oman Investment & Finance Co.SAOG 171,600,000 15.00% 

The Royal Court of Affairs 160,669,748 14.57% 
  

B14 Legal reserve 
 
In accordance with the Commercial Companies Law of Oman of 1974, an annual appropriation of 10% of the net profit for 

the year is required to be made to legal reserve until such time that the accumulated reserve is equal to at least one third of the 

Bank‘s issued share capital.  

During 2013, an amount of RO 134,000 received towards right issue expenses net of actual cost was transferred to the legal 

reserve.  
  

B15 General reserve 

 

The Board of Directors decided to create a non-distributable general reserve for the amount of RO 412,500 in the year 2010. 

During the current year following the approval from CBO, the Bank has transferred the reserve to retained earnings. During 

the year, the Bank has created additional reserve of RO 338,000 to cover the losses incurred by Sohar Islamic. 
 

B16 Fair value reserve 
 
The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of the available-for-sale investments net of 

applicable income tax until the investment is derecognised or sold. 
 

B17 Net assets per share 

The calculation of net assets per share is based on net assets of RO 192,076,000 as at 31 December 2014 (2013 - 

RO 171,269,000) attributable to ordinary shareholders on 1,144,000,000 ordinary shares, being the number of shares 

outstanding as at 31 December 2014 (2013: 1,100,000,000 ordinary shares). 
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B18 Contingent liabilities and commitments 
 
B18.1 Contingent liabilities 
 
Standby letters of credit and guarantees commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers‘ contingent upon the failure of 

the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.   
 

31December 31December    31December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

560,091 780,808 Guarantees 300,611 215,635 

107,470 111,257 Documentary letters of credit 42,834 41,376 

 ──────   ──────    ──────   ──────  

667,561 892,065  343,445 257,011 

══════  ══════   ══════  ═══════  

     

31December 31December    31December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

391,727 546,849 Construction 210,537 150,815 

90,216 80,688 Financial institution 31,065 34,733 

50,761 58,792 International trade 22,635 19,543 

77,197 143,837 Services 55,377 29,721 

30,852 32,312 Manufacturing 12,440 11,878 

9,821 3,634 Government 1,399 3,781 

7,158 11,021 Transport and communication 4,243 2,756 

9,829 14,932 Others 5,749 3,784 

 ──────   ──────    ──────   ───────  

667,561 892,065  343,445 257,011 

══════  ══════   ══════  ═══════  

 

B18.2 Commitments 

 

Credit related commitments include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarantees, which are designed 

to meet the requirements of the Bank‘s customers. Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make 

loans and revolving credits. Commitments generally have fixed expiry dates or other termination clauses and require the 

payment of a fee. Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily 

represent future cash obligations. 
 

 

31 December 31 December  31 December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

3,055 4,255 Capital commitments 1,638 1,176 
575,607 600,955 Credit related commitments 231,368 221,609 

─────── ───────  ─────── ─────── 

578,662 605,210  233,006 222,785 

═══════ ═══════  ═══════ ═══════ 
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B19 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

In the ordinary course of business the Bank conducts transactions with certain of its directors, shareholders, senior 

management, Shari‘a supervisory board, Shari‘a reviewer and companies in which they have a significant interest.  These 

transactions are conducted on an arm‘s length basis and are approved by the Bank‘s management and Board of Directors. 

 

The aggregate amount of balances and the income and expenses generated with such related parties are as follows: 
 

31 December 31 December  31 December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

66,361 71,312 Loans and advances (balance at end of period) 27,455 25,549 

177,496 267,234 Loans disbursed during the period 102,885 68,336 

(172,927) (276,842) Loans repaid during the period (106,584) (66,577) 

     

120,740 36,138 Deposits (balance at end of period) 13,913 46,485 

56,371 37,468 Deposits received during the period 14,425 21,703 

(18,678) (17,119) Deposits paid during the period (6,591) (7,191) 

     

1,909 2,197 Interest income (during the period) 846 735 

1,462 192 Interest expense (during the period) 74 563 

     

  Senior management compensation   

10,431 11,229 Salaries and other short term benefits 4,323 4,016 

509 535 Directors‘ sitting fees and remuneration 206 196 

140 130 Shari‘a Supervisory Board members 50 54 

 

No specific provision has been established in respect of the loans given to related parties. 
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B20 Fair value of financial instruments 
 

The Bank considers that the fair value of financial instruments was not significantly different to their carrying value 

(including accrued interest) at each of those dates. The table below sets out the classification of each class of financial 

assets and liabilities, and their fair values as at 31 December 2014: 

At 31 December 2014 

Loans and 

receivables 

Held to 

maturity 

Available for 

sale 

Held  for 

trading 

Total carrying 

(including 

accrued 

interest)/fair 

value 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

Assets as per statement of financial position     

Cash and balances with CBO 218,684 - - - 218,684 

Due from banks and other money market 

lendings 153,786 - - - 153,786 

Loans and advances  1,423,053 - - - 1,423,053 

Investment securities - 6,813 188,788 44,911 240,512 

Other assets (excluding prepayments)      20,496         -             -            -     20,496 

Total 1,816,019 6,813 188,788 44,911 2,056,531 
      

      

Liabilities as per statement of financial position    RO’000 

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings    

 

244,004 

Customers‘ deposits      1,551,696 

Other liabilities      22,583 

Convertible bonds     7,207 

Subordinated loans          51,231 

Total     1,876,722 
 

At 31 December 2013 

Loans and 

receivables 

Held to 

maturity 

Available for 

sale 

Held for 

trading 

Total carrying 

(including 

accrued 

interest)/fair 

value 

 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 

Assets as per statement of financial position      

Cash and balances with Central Bank 106,077 - - - 106,077 

Due from banks and other money market 

lendings 296,398 - - 

 

- 296,398 

Loans and advances  1,248,039 - - - 1,248,039 

Investment securities - 9,646 178,166 18,549 206,361 

Other assets (excluding prepayments)       10,255         -             -            -        10,255 

Total 1,660,769 9,646 178,166 18,549 1,867,130 
      

      

Liabilities as per statement of financial position    RO‘ 000 

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings    

 

239,182 

Customers‘ deposits      1,392,386 

Other liabilities      16,206 

Convertible bonds     7,207 

Subordinated loans           51,231 

Total     1,706,212 
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B20 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)  
 

At 31 December 2014 

Loans and 

receivables 

Held to 

maturity 

Available for 

sale 

Held  

for trading 

Total carrying 

(including 

accrued 

interest)/fair 

value 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Assets as per statement of financial 

position      

Cash and balances with Central Bank 568,010 - - - 568,010 

Due from banks and other money market 

lendings 399,444 - - - 399,444 

Loans and advances  3,696,243 - - - 3,696,243 

Investment securities - 17,696 490,358 116,652 624,706 

Other assets (excluding prepayments)     53,236            -              -                 -         53,236 

Total 4,716,933  17,696 490,358 116,652 5,341,639 
      

      

Liabilities as per statement of financial 

position    

 

USD’000 

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings    

 

633,777 

Customers‘ deposits      4,030,379 

Other liabilities      58,657 

Convertible bonds     18,720 

Subordinated loans       133,070 

Total     4,874,602 
 

At 31 December 2013 

Loans and 

receivables 

Held to 

maturity 

Available for 

sale 

Held for 

trading 

Total carrying 

(including 

accrued 

interest)/fair 

value 

 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 

Assets as per statement of financial position     

Cash and balances with Central Bank 275,525 - - - 275,525 

Due from banks and other money market 

lendings 769,866 - - - 769,866 

Loans and advances  3,241,660 - - - 3,241,660 

Investment securities - 25,055 462,769 48,179 536,003 

Other assets (excluding prepayments)     26,635            -              -                 -          26,635 

Total 4,313,686 25,055 462,769 48,179 4,849,689 
      

     USD‘000 

Liabilities as per statement of financial position     

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings    

 

621,252 

Customers‘ deposits      3,616,587 

Other liabilities      42,094 

Convertible bonds     18,720 

Subordinated loans       133,067 

Total     
4,431,720 
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B 20 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)  

 

Estimation of fair values 

 

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of assets and liabilities. 

 

Loans and advances 

 

Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows. Loan repayments are 

assumed to occur at contractual repayment dates, where applicable. For loans that do not have fixed repayment dates or 

that are subject to prepayment risk, repayments are estimated based on experience in previous periods when interest rates 

were at levels similar to current levels, adjusted for any differences in interest rate outlook. Expected future cash flows are 

estimated considering credit risk and any indication of impairment. Expected future cash flows for homogeneous 

categories of loans are estimated on a portfolio basis and discounted at current rates offered for similar loans to new 

borrowers with similar credit profiles. The estimated fair values of loans reflect changes in credit status since the loans 

were made and changes in interest rates in the case of fixed rate loans. 

 

Investments carried at amortised cost and derivatives 

 

Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs. If a quoted 

market price is not available, fair value is estimated based on discounted cash flow and other valuation techniques.  

 

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management‘s best estimates 

and the discount rate is a market related rate for a similar instrument at the reporting date. 

 

Bank and customer deposits 

 

For demand deposits and deposits with no defined maturities, fair value is taken to be the amount payable on demand at the 

reporting date. The estimated fair value of fixed-maturity deposits, including certificates of deposit, is based on discounted 

cash flows using rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities. The value of long-term relationships 

with depositors is not taken into account in estimating fair values.  

 

Other on-balance sheet financial instruments 

 

The fair values of all on-balance sheet financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.   

 

Off-balance sheet financial instruments 

 

No fair value adjustment is made with respect to credit-related off-balance sheet financial instruments, which include 

commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarantees, as the related future income streams materially 

reflect contractual fees and commissions actually charged at the reporting date for agreements of similar credit standing 

and maturity. 

 

Foreign exchange contracts are valued based on market prices.  The market value adjustments in respect of foreign 

exchange contracts are included in the book values of other assets and other liabilities.  

 

Valuation of financial instruments: 

 

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 

making the measurements: 

 

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 

 

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 
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B20 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)  

 

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period: 

 

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 

 Investment 

securities 

 

Derivatives 

 

Total 

Investment 

securities 

 

Derivatives 

 

Total 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 

       

Level 1 19,306 - 19,306 18,734 - 18,734 

Level 2 214,393 28 214,421 177,924 (86) 177,838 

 233,699 28 233,727 196,658  (86) 196,572 

       

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 

 Investment 

securities 

 

Derivatives 

 

Total 

Investment 

securities 

 

Derivatives 

 

Total 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 

       

Level 1 50,145 - 50,145 48,661 - 48,661 

Level 2 556,866 73 556,939 462,140 (223) 461,917 

 607,011 73 607,084 510,801  (223) 510,578 

       

 

B21 Derivatives  

 

In the ordinary course of business the Bank enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial 

instruments. A derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties where payments are dependent upon 

movements in price in one or more underlying financial instrument, reference rate or index. These derivatives are stated at 

fair value. The fair value of a derivative is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from  marking to market the 

derivative using prevailing market rates or internal pricing models. Unrealised gains or losses are included in the statement 

of comprehensive income.  The derivative financial instruments used by the Bank are described below: 

 

B21.1 Derivative product types 

 

Forwards and futures are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency, commodity or financial 

instrument at a specific price and date in the future. 

 

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange interest or foreign currency differentials based on a 

specific notional amount.  For interest rate swaps, counter parties generally exchange fixed and floating rate interest payments 

based on a notional value in a single currency.    

 

Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, to either buy or sell a specific amount of a 

commodity, foreign currency or financial instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed future date or at any time within a 

specified period.   

 

B21.2 Derivatives held or issued for hedging purposes 

 

As part of its asset and liability management the Bank uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to reduce its exposure 

to currency and interest rate risks. This is achieved by hedging specific financial instruments and forecasted transactions as 

well as strategic hedging against overall statement of financial position exposures.   
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B21.2 Derivatives held or issued for hedging purposes (continued) 

 

The Bank uses forward foreign exchange contracts, to hedge against specifically identified currency risks.  The Bank uses 

forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge against exposures in various currencies to meet the net open position limit as 

specified by CBO.  

 

For interest rate risk strategic hedging is carried out by monitoring the re-pricing of financial assets and liabilities and 

entering into interest rate swaps to hedge a proportion of the interest rate exposure.  As strategic hedging does not qualify 

for special hedge accounting, the related derivatives are accounted for as trading instruments.  

 

The table below shows the notional amounts of derivative financial instruments as on the reporting date, which are the 

amount of a derivative‘s underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of 

derivatives are measured. 
  Notional amounts by term to maturity 

As at 31 December  2014 

 

Notional 

amount  

Within 3  

months 

3 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

     

Forward foreign exchange purchase contracts 323,166 211,145 112,021 - 

 ═══════  ═══════  ═══════  ═══════  

Forward foreign exchange sales contracts 320,728 211,120 109,608 - 

 ═══════  ═══════  ═══════  ═══════  

     

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

     

Forward Foreign exchange purchase contracts 839,392 548,429 290,964 - 

 ══════ ═════ ═════ ═════ 

Forward foreign exchange sales contracts 833,060 548,364 284,696 - 

 ═════ ═════ ═════ ═════ 

 
  Notional amounts by term to maturity 

As at 31 December 2013 

 

Notional 

amount  

Within 

3months 

3 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 

 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 

     

Forward Foreign exchange purchase contracts 643,001 332,312 301,699 30,030 

 ═══════  ═══════  ═══════  ═══════  

Forward foreign exchange sales contracts 664,566 322,456 291,065 30,005 

 ═══════  ═══════  ═══════  ═══════  

 
As at 31 December 2013 
 

 Notional amounts by term to maturity 

 Notional 

amount  

Within 

3months 

3 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 

 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 

     

Forward Foreign exchange purchase contracts 1,670,132 863,148 783,634 78,000 

 ══════ ═════ ═════ ═════ 

Forward foreign exchange sales contracts 1,726,145 837,548 756,013 77,935 

 ══════ ═════ ═════ ═════ 
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B22 Proposed dividend 

 

For the year 2014 the Board of Directors has proposed a cash dividend of 4% of the share capital i.e., 4 baizas per share 

amounting to RO 4,576,000 and a stock dividend of 6% of the share capital,( i.e.,6 shares for every 100 shares held) 

amounting to RO 6,864,000 (2013: Cash dividend of 4% of the share capital i.e.4 baizas per share amounting to RO 4.40 

million and stock dividend of 4% of the share capital amounting to RO 4.40 million)The proposed dividend is subject to 

formal approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 
 

C1 Interest income 
 

 

31 December 

2013 

 

31 December 

2014 

  

31 December 

2014 

 

31 December 

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

168,867 178,657 Loans and advances to customers 68,783 65,014 

16,779 7,836 

Due from banks and other money market 

placements 3,017 6,460 

2,216 3,629 Investment securities 1,397 853 

───── ─────  ───── ───── 

187,862 190,122  73,197 72,327 

═════ ═════  ═════ ═════ 

 

C2 Interest expense 
 

31 December 

2013 

31 December 

2014 
 31 December 

2014 

31 December  

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

58,705 49,742 Customers‘ deposits 19,151 22,601 

8,442 8,442 Subordinated debt 3,250 3,250 

7,092 7,486 

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings 2,882 2,731 

569 836 Compulsorily convertible bonds 322 219 

 ─────   ─────    ─────   ─────  

74,808 66,506  25,605 28,801 

═════ ═════  ═════ ═════ 

 

C3 Other operating income 
 

31 December 

2013 

31 December 

2014 
 31 December 

2014 

31 December  

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

25,545 34,227 Fees and commission 13,178 9,835 

4,260 5,743 Net gains from foreign exchange dealings 2,211 1,640 

2,244 4,371 Dividend income 1,683 864 

10 (21) (Loss) / profit on sale of fixed assets (8) 4 

- 177 Bad debt recovery written off earlier 68 - 

1,380 1,530 

Net gains from held for trading investment 

securities 589 531 

6,317 8,616 

Net realised gains from available for sale 

investment securities 3,317 2,432 

 ─────   ─────    ─────   ─────  

39,756 54,643  21,038 15,306 

═════ ═════  ═════ ═════ 
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C4 Other operating expenses 

 

31December 

2013 

31December 

2014 
 31December 

2014 

31December  

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 
     

18,660 20,751 Operating and administration costs 7,989 7,184 

5,192 5,590 Establishment cost 2,152 1,999 

509 535 Directors sitting fees 206 196 

140 130 

Shari‘a supervisory board remuneration and 

sitting fees 50 54 

 ─────   ─────    ─────   ─────  

24,501 27,006  10,397 9,433 

════ ═════  ═════ ═════ 

C5 Income tax  

a) Recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 

31 December 

2013 

31 December  

2014  

31 December 

2014 

31 December  

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

  Tax expenses    

8,377 8,964 Current tax 3,451 3,225 

- (356) Prior period adjustment (137) - 

106 18 Deferred tax expense  7 41 

──────  ──────    ──────   ──────  

8,483 8,626 Total tax expenses 3,321 3,266 

══════ ══════   ══════   ══════  

 

The Bank is liable to income tax for the year in accordance with the income tax laws of the Sultanate of Oman at the rate of 

12% on taxable profits in excess of RO 30,000. 

   

b)Reconciliation   

31 December 

2013 

31 December  

2014 

 31 December 

2014 

31 December  

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

78,278 86,231 Net profit before tax for the year 33,199 30,137 

══════ ══════   ══════  ═══════  

9,382 10,338 Income tax as per rates mentioned above 3,980 3,612 

  Tax impact of:   

2 - - non-deductible expenses - 1 

(901) (1,356) - tax exempt income (522) (347) 

- (356) - prior period adjustments (137) - 

────── ──────   ──────  ─────── 

8,483 8,626 Income tax expense 3,321 3,266 

══════ ══════   ══════  ═══════  

c) Deferred tax (liability)/ asset   

31 December 31 December  31 December 31 December 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

(540) (558) On comprehensive income items (215) (208) 

 

356 499 

On other comprehensive income  

items 192 137 

────── ──────   ──────  ────── 

(184) (59)  (23) (71) 

══════ ══════  ══════ ══════ 
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C5 Income tax (continued) 

 

d)  Tax assessment 

 

The assessments of the Bank for the years 2007 to 2011 are completed and for the year 2012 and 2013 have not yet been agreed with 

the Secretariat General for Taxation at the Ministry of Finance. The Bank is of the opinion that additional taxes, if any, related to the 

open tax years would not be significant to the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2014. 

 

e)    Movement of current tax provision 

 

 

31 December 

2013 

 

31 December 

2014  

 

31 December 

2014 

31December 

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

7,782 8,738 Balance as at 1 January  3,364 2,996 

8,377 8,964 Charge during the year  3,451 3,225 

(7,421) (8,387) Paid during the year (3,225) (2,857) 

- (387) 

Reversal of excess charge on finalization of 

assessment  (137) - 

─────── ───────    ─────── ────── 

8,738 8,928    Balance as at 31 December 3,453 3,364 

═══════  ═══════     ═══════ ══════ 

 

f)        Movement of deferred tax (liability) / assets  

 

 

31 December 

2013 

 

31 December 

2014  

 

31 December 

2014 

31December 

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

(345) (184) Balance as at 1 January  (71) (133) 

(106) (18) Charge during the year  (7) (41) 

267 143 

Reversal on release of sale of available for 

sale investments 55 103 

─────── ───────  ─────── ────── 

(184) (59) Balance as at 31 December (23) (71) 

═══════  ═══════   ═══════ ══════ 
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C6 Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share 

 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding 

during the year.  

 

 

31 December 

2013 

 

31 December 

2014  

 

31 December 

2014 

31December 

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

69,795 77,605 Net profit for the year 29,878 26,871 

─────── ───────  ───────  ───────  

 

1,132,767 1,144,000 

Weighted average number of shares of 

RO 0.100 each outstanding during the period 

(in thousands)  1,144,000 1,132,767 

─────── ───────  ───────  ───────  

  

Basic earnings per share for the year (in 

baizas) 26.117 23.722 

   ═══════  ═══════  

6.16 6.78 

Basic earnings per share for the year (in 

cents)   

═══════ ═══════    

 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (after adjusting for interest on 

the convertible bonds, net of tax) for the period by the weighted average number of ordinary shares including dilutive potential 

ordinary shares issued on the conversion of convertible bonds.   

 

 

31 December 

2013 

 

31 December 

2014  
31 December 

2014 

31 December 

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

69,795 77,605 Net profit for the year 29,878 26,871 

 

500 735 

Interest on convertible bonds, net of  

taxation 283 192 

─────── ───────  ───────  ───────  

70,295 78,340  30,161 27,063 

═══════ ═══════  ═══════  ═══════  

 

 

1,175,839 

 

 

1,185,092 

Weighted average number of shares of RO  

0.100 each outstanding during the year 

(in thousands) 1,185,092 1,175,839 

─────── ───────  ───────  ───────  

 

 

 

 

Diluted earnings per share for the year 

(in baizas) 25.450 23.016 

   ═══════ ═══════ 

5.98 6.61 

Diluted earnings per share for the year 

( in cents)   

═══════ ═══════    
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D Financial risk management  

 

The primary objective of the risk management system is to safeguard the Bank‘s capital and its financial resources from various 

risks. The Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

 

 Credit risk 

 Liquidity risk 

 Market risk 

 Operational risk 

 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank‘s risk management framework. 

Such responsibility is discharged by the Board through a Risk Management Committee, constituted by the Board which is 

responsible for developing and monitoring the Bank‘s risk management policies in their specified areas. Risk Management 

Committee submits periodic reports to the Board, appraising on various aspects of risk and movement of risk profile of the Bank. 

 

The Bank‘s risk management policies will focus on identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risk, irrespective of its 

manner of manifestation. In this process, the Bank recognizes that dynamics of markets may necessitate decisions that may deviate 

on few occasions from the principles of CRM and to cater to such requirements, minimal and requisite level of flexibilities need to be 

built into the Bank‘s Risk Management policies, along with suitable and adequate safeguards/controls. 

 

The Bank‘s Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank‘s risk management policies and procedures, 

and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Bank‘s Audit 

Committee is assisted in these functions by Internal Audit department. Internal Audit department undertakes both regular and ad-hoc 

reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee. 

 

There are sub-committees at the management level for managing risks in businesses. Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) is for 

managing the risks in the balance sheet arising out of liquidity management, interest rates management as well as tenor of exposures 

taken by the Bank. Guidance is provided to the management by ALCO on managing these risks and risk appetite is articulated 

through various limits, ratios and caps. Operational Risk is managed under the guidance of Operational Risk Committee (ORCO) at 

the management level. Risk & Control Committee comprising of heads of Risk, Compliance and Audit is constituted to examine 

various critical events of risks that have surfaced and deliberate on weaknesses and suggest improvements in control, if required. 

 

A separate ALCO has also been established to monitor the performance of the assets of Islamic banking services.  

 

D1 Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations, In simpler terms, it represents the probability of default by any counterparty in repayment of principal 

obligations and / or servicing interest obligations in accordance with the set redemption schedule or terms of contract.  

 

D1.1 Management of credit risk 

 

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the monitoring of credit risk to its Risk Management Committee of the Board 

and is responsible for handling all facets of risk for both Islamic and conventional banking division. The Bank has a Chief Risk 

Officer who heads the management of Risk reporting to the Risk Management Committee. Credit risk is managed by the following: 

 

 setting up risk limits and boundaries, within the regulatory guidelines, for risk origination to be within the approved risk 

appetite of the Bank; 

 Credit risk at the origination is managed and controlled through a time tested credit appraisal process which includes 

independent credit risk review of individual corporate credit proposals and through a Board approved Retail products policy 

and template lending. Exceptions are reviewed by Credit Risk function. 

 continuous monitoring of these stand-alone credit risks in the ‗corporate‘ and ‗emerging corporate‘ portfolio as well as in the 

retail credit portfolio through an independent loan review group (LRG), reporting to head of risk, for risk grading of the 

portfolios and tracking the movement of the grades;  

 portfolio credit risk measurement through tracking on the set portfolio risk parameters such as concentration risk;  

 the Bank will not entertain credit proposals from entities/individuals, whose name appears in the CBO classified list 

under Bank Credit and Statistical Bureau (BCSB) . However, in exceptional cases in the retail business unit, loans are 

approved, with strong justifications and risk mitigations for considering any such proposals, and then these have to be 

referred to delegated authorities, as per the retail loan policy;  

 limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and industries (for loans and advances), and by 

issuer, market liquidity and country (for investment securities); 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D1 Credit risk (continued) 

 

D1.1 Management of credit risk 

 

 developing and maintaining the Bank‘s risk grading in order to categorise exposures according to the degree of risk of 

 financial loss faced and to focus management on the attendant risks; and  

 providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice throughout the Bank in the 

management of credit risk. 
 

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The Bank follows a risk mitigation practice of 

identifying business cash flows as the primary driver for the advances extended. These cash flows are then tested for 

sustainability over the tenor of the credit facility and a suitable mechanism is put in place to capture the same into the client 

account with the Bank. To cover unforeseen risk, which dries up the cash flows, additional tangible securities are taken such 

as real estate or equity shares. The Bank implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral credit risk 

mitigation. The principal types of collaterals for loans and advances are: 
 

 mortgages over properties; 

 charges of assets under murabaha agreements 

 ownership/title of assets under Ijarah financing 

 charges over business assets such as premises inventory and accounts receivable; 

 Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities. 

  
All loans and advances of the Bank are regularly monitored to ensure compliance with the stipulated repayment terms. Those 

loans and advances are classified into one of the 5 risk classification categories: Standard, Special Mention, Substandard, 

Doubtful and Loss – as stipulated by CBO regulations and guidelines. The responsibility for identifying problem accounts and 

classifying them rests with business line function.  

 

D1.2 Exposure to credit risk 

 

The credit exposure of the Bank as on the reporting date is as follows: 

 2014  2013  

 

Loans and 

advances- 

gross 

Due from 

banks and 

other money 

market 

lendings 

 

Debt 

securities 

 

 

 

Other 

receivables 

Loans and 

advances- 

gross 

Due from 

banks and 

other money 

market 

lendings 

 

Debt 

securities 

 

 

 

Other 

receivables 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 

         

Carrying 

amount 

1,454,762 153,786 209,960 20,496 1,273,356 296,398 176,045 10,255 

         

Past due but 

not impaired    

 

   

 

1-30 days 30,389 - - - 919 - - - 

31-60 days 9,966 - - - 4,231 - - - 

61-89 days 12,372   -   -   - 2,456   -   -   - 

 52,727   -   -   - 7,606   -   -   - 

         

Past due and 

impaired 21,935  -  -  - 13,618  -  -  - 

         

Neither past 

due nor 

impaired 1,380,100 153,786 209,960 

 

 20,496 1,252,132 296,398 176,045 

 

10,255 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D1 Credit risk (continued) 

 

D1.2 Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
 

 2014  2013 

 

Loans and 

advances-

gross 

Due from 

banks and 

other money 

market 

lendings 

Debt 

securities 

 

 

 

Other 

receivables 

Loans and 

advances- 

gross 

Due from 

banks and 

other money 

market 

lendings 

Debt 

securities 

 

 

 

Other 

receivables 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 

         

Carrying 

amount 

3,778,603 399,444 545,351 53,236 3,307,418 769,866 457,260 26,635 

         

Past due but not 

impaired    

 

   

 

1-30 days 78,932 - - - 2,387 - - - 

31-60 days 25,886 - - - 10,990 - - - 

61-89 days   32,135    -    -    -  6,379   -   -   - 

 136,953    -    -    - 19,756   -   -   - 

         

Past due and 

impaired 56,974   -   - 

 

 - 35,371   -   -   - 

         

Neither past due 

nor impaired 3,584,676 399,444 545,351 

 

 53,236 3,252,291 769,866 457,260 

 

26,635 

 

 

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements for all on-balance sheet assets are 

based on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position. 
 

The maximum credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items calculated as per Basel II guidelines are provided in 

note D5. The amounts represented in the note D5 represent a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure as of 31 December 

2014 and 2013, without taking into account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. 

 
 

D1.3 Credit rating analysis 

   

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills by rating agency designation at 

31 December 2014, based on Moody‘s ratings or equivalent. 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

4,000 - BB- - 1,540 

12,987 9,813 BBB- 3,778 5,000 

7,839 21,501 BBB+ 8,278 3,018 

9,455 13,016 Unrated bonds 5,011 3,641 

422,979 501,021 Sovereign securities 192,893 162,846 

457,260 545,351  209,960 176,045 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D1 Credit risk (continued) 

 

D1.3 Credit rating analysis (continued) 

 

The following table shows the gross placements held with counterparties at the reporting date:  
 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

      

127,023 24,483 Aaa1 to Aaa3 9,426 48,904 

66,663 60,538 A1 to A3 23,307 25,665 

324,284 148,857 Baa1 to Baa3 57,310 124,849 

80,013 3,416 Ba1 to Ba3 1,315 30,805 

147,696 152,153 B1 to Caa 58,579 56,863 

 24,187     9,997 Unrated     3,849 9,312 

769,866 399,444  153,786 296,398 
 

The Bank performs an independent assessment based on quantitative and qualitative factors in cases where a Bank is unrated. 

 

D1.4 Impaired loans and securities 

 

These are loans and securities for which the Bank determines that it is probable that it will be unable to collect all the 

principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan /securities agreement.  

 

D1.4.a Past due but not impaired 

 

These are loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but the Bank believes that 

impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security /collateral available and /or the stage of collection of 

amounts owed by the Bank. 

 

D1.4.b Loans with renegotiated terms 

 

Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower‘s financial position 

and where the Bank has made concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once the loan is restructured it remains in 

this category independent of satisfactory performance after restructuring. 

 

D1.4.c Allowances for impairment  

 

The Bank establishes an allowance for impairment losses account that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loan 

portfolio. The main components of this allowance are specific loss components that relate to individually significant 

exposures, and a collective loan loss allowance established for group of homogenous assets in respect of losses that have 

been incurred but have not been identified on loans subject to individual assessment for impairment. 

 

D1.4.d Write off policy 

 

The Bank writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when the Bank determines 

that the loan/security is uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of 

significant changes in the borrower/issuer‘s financial position such that the borrower/issuer can no longer repay the 

obligation, or that proceeds from the collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. For smaller balance 

standardised loans, charge off decisions generally are based on a product specific past due status.  
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D Financial risk management (continued) 
 

D1 Credit risk (continued) 
 

D1.4 Impaired loans and securities (continued) 
 

D1.4.d Write off policy (continued) 

 

Set out below is an analysis of gross and net (of allowances for impairment) amounts of individually impaired assets by 

risk classification. 

 2014 2013 

 Loans and advances Loans and advances 

Particulars Gross Net Gross Net 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO‘000 RO‘000 
     

Sub-standard 3,033 2,225 1,880 1,376 

Doubtful 6,616 3,983 2,128 1,000 

Loss 12,286 2,561   9,610 2,341 

 21,935 8,769 13,618 4,717 

     

Particulars Gross Net Gross Net 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD‘000 USD‘000 

     

Sub-standard 7,878 5,779 4,883 3,574 

Doubtful 17,184 10,345 5,527 2,597 

Loss 31,912   6,652 24,961   6,081 

 56,974 22,776 35,371 12,252 

 

D1.5 Collateral securities 

 

The Bank holds collateral against the loans and advances to customers in the form of mortgage interests over property, 

other registered securities, assets and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of the collateral assessed at 

the time of borrowing and updated once in three years, except when a loan is individually assessed as impaired. The shares 

of MSM listed companies which are taken as securities are valued on fortnightly basis, unless there are significant 

fluctuations whereby the valuation is done on daily basis to manage the risks of extreme volatility.  

 

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against loans and advances is shown 

below: 
 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

  Against past due but not impaired   

2,265 251,823 Property 96,952 872 

- 16,886 Equity 6,501 - 

        -     5,364 Fixed deposits   2,065       - 

2,265 274,073 Total 105,518 872 

  Against past due and impaired   

11,348 18,951 Property 7,296 4,369 

     

  Against neither past due nor impaired   

603,919 684,530 Property 263,544 232,509 

220,610 392,065 Commercial mortgage 150,945 84,935 

43,361 38,434 Fixed deposits 14,797 16,694 

99,753 51,086 Equity 19,668 38,405 

- 610 Vehicle 235 - 

  25,670     10,086 Guarantees    3,883     9,883 

993,313 1,176,811  453,072 382,426 
     

1,006,926 1,469,835  565,886 387,667 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D1 Credit risk (continued) 

 

D1.6 Settlement risk 

 

Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a party to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other 

assets as contractually agreed on the day of settlement. 

 

In foreign exchange trades, though there is fulfilment of both the legs of the transaction on the settlement date as is 

common practice between trading partners (free settlement), there will be risk on account of different time zones. In these 

cases, the settlement risk is mitigated through the execution of bilateral payment netting agreements. 

 

D1.7 Concentrations 

 

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities or activities 

in the same geographic region or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual 

obligations to be affected similarly by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk 

indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank‘s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic 

location. 

 

The Bank seeks to manage its credit risk exposure through diversification of lending activities to avoid undue 

concentrations of risks with individuals or group of customers in specific locations or businesses.It also obtains appropriate 

security. 

 

 
2014 2013 

 

Loans and 

advances-

gross 

Due from 

banks and 

other money 

market 

lendings 

Debt 

securities 

Loans and 

advances-

gross 

Due from 

banks and 

other money 

market 

lendings 

Debt 

securities 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 

  

Concentration by sector  

Corporate 946,872 - 17,065 839,751 - 13,198 

Personal 507,890 - - 433,605 - - 

Sovereign - - 192,895 - - 162,847 

Banks               - 153,786             -                 - 296,398             - 

 1,454,762 153,786 209,960 1,273,356 296,398 176,045 

  

Concentration by location  

Middle east 1,410,018 59,077 51,724 1,239,667 117,072 28,108 

Europe 44,744 48,072 3,208 26,924 34,098 3,591 

North America - 6,727 155,028 - 3,190 144,346 

South America - 7,815 - - 7,700 - 

Asia - 32,084 - 6,765 134,329 - 

Australia                -          11             -                -            9             - 

 1,454,762 153,786 209,960 1,273,356 296,398 176,045 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D1 Credit risk (continued) 

 

D1.7 Concentrations (continued) 
 

 
2014 2013 

 

Loans and 

advances-

gross 

Due from 

banks and 

other money 

market 

lendings 

Debt 

securities 

Loans and 

advances-

gross 

Due from 

banks and 

other money 

market 

lendings 

Debt 

securities 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 
  

Concentration by sector  

Corporate 2,459,579 - 44,325 2,181,170 - 160,701 

Personal 1,319,024 - - 1,126,248 - - 

Sovereign - - 501,026 - - 374,925 

Banks                - 399,444             -                - 769,866             - 

 3,778,603 399,444 545,351 3,307,418 769,866 535,626 

       

Concentration by location  

Middle east 3,662,384 153,447 134,348 3,219,915 304,083 129,088 

Europe 116,219  124,862  8,332  69,932 88,566 31,613 

North America - 17,473  402,671  - 8,286 374,925 

South America - 20,299  - - 20,000 - 

Asia - 83,334  - 17,571 348,908 - 

Australia                -         29            -                -           23              - 

 3,778,603  399,444   545,351  3,307,418 769,866 535,626 

 

Concentration by location for loans and advances is measured based on the location of the entity holding the asset, which 

has a high correlation with the location of the borrower. Concentration by location for investment securities is measured 

based on the location of the issuer of the security. The Bank seeks to manage its credit risk exposure through 

diversification of lending activities to avoid undue concentrations of risk with banks or customers in a specific currency. 

It also obtains security when appropriate. An analysis of the Bank‘s gross exposure to relevant segments is provided in 

note E. 

 

D2 Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its financial 

liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

 

D2.1 Management of liquidity risk  

 

The Bank‘s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to 

meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 

damage to the Bank‘s reputation. The Bank has put in place an approved Contingency Liquidity Plan to facilitate 

management of liquidity  

 

Liquidity risk is managed by the Bank through closely monitoring the liquidity gap against the limit fixed. 

 

Adequate liquidity is ensured by Treasury, which receives information from other business units regarding the liquidity 

profile of their financial assets and liabilities and details of other projected cash flows arising from projected future 

business. Central Treasury then maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets, largely made up of short-term liquid 

investment securities, loans and advances to banks and other inter-bank facilities, to ensure that sufficient liquidity is 

maintained within the Bank as a whole. In this process due care is taken to ensure that the Bank complies with all the 

Central Bank regulations. 

 

All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by ALCO. 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D2 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

D2.2 Exposure to liquidity risk  

 

The lending ratio, which is the ratio of the total loans and advances to customer deposits and capital, is monitored on a 

daily basis in line with the regulatory guidelines. Internally the lending ratio is set at a more conservative basis than 

required by regulation. The Bank also manages its liquidity risk on a regular basis and by monitoring the liquid ratio which 

is a ratio of net liquid assets to total assets on monthly basis. For this purpose net liquid assets are considered as including 

cash and cash equivalents and investment grade debt securities for which there is an active and liquid market. 

 

Details of the reported lending and liquid ratio as at 31 December 2014 were as follows:  

 

 2014 2013 

 
Lending 

ratio 

Liquid 

 ratio 

Lending 

ratio 

Liquid 

ratio 

Average for the year 82.94% 23.49% 83.53% 24.00% 

Maximum for the year 84.64% 27.40% 85.40% 27.60% 

Minimum for the year 77.99% 17.04% 81.00% 20.55% 

 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Bank‘s liabilities as on the reporting date based on contractual 

repayment arrangements.The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the 

remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date and do not take account of the 

effective maturities as indicated by the Bank‘s deposit retention history and the availability of liquid funds. 

 

 Carrying 

amount 

Gross 

Nominal 

Outflow 

Within 3 

months 

 3 - 12 

months 

Over 1 

year 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

31 December 2014 

 

Non- derivative liabilities 

 

     

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings 
244,004 246,071 82,196 66,294 97,581 

Customers‘ deposits  1,551,696 1,719,765 938,465 602,607 178,693 

Other liabilities 29,180 38,803 38,803 - - 

Subordinated loans 51,232 59,764 1,603 1,603 56,558 

Compulsorily convertible bonds         7,207         7,963            159         159      7,645 

Total  1,883,319 2,072,366 1,061,226 670,663 340,477 

 

 Carrying 

amount 

Gross 

Nominal 

Outflow 

Within 3 

months 

 3 - 12 

months 

Over 1 

year 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

31 December 2014 

 

     

Non -  derivative liabilities 

      

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings 
633,777 639,145 213,496 172,192 253,457 

Customers‘ deposits  4,030,379 4,466,922 2,437,571 1,565,213 464,138 

Other liabilities 75,792 100,787 100,787 - - 

Subordinated loans 133,070 155,231 4,164 4,164 146,904 

Compulsorily convertible bonds      18,720       20,683            413           413   19,857 

Total  4,891,738 5,382,768 2,756,431 1,741,982 884,356 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D2 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

D2.2 Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 

 

 Carrying 

amount 

Gross 

Nominal 

Outflow 

Within 3 

months 

 3 - 12 

months 

Over 1 year 

 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 

31 December 2013 

Non -  derivative liabilities 

 

     

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings 
239,182 247,570 185,481 23,116 38,973 

Customers‘ deposits  1,392,386 1,435,834 799,033 329,893 306,908 

Other liabilities 24,345 24,349 24,349 - - 

Subordinated loans 51,231 63,161 1,603 1,603 59,955 

Compulsorily convertible bonds         7,207       8,120                -        317     7,803 

      

Total  1,714,351 1,779,034 1,010,466 354,929 413,639 

      

 

 Carrying 

amount 

Gross 

Nominal 

Outflow 

Within 3 

months 

 3 - 12 

months 

Over 1 year 

 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 

31 December 2013      

Non -  derivative liabilities 

 

     

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings 
621,252 643,039 481,769 60,042 101,229 

Customers‘ deposits  3,616,587 3,729,439 2,075,410 856,865 797,164 

Other liabilities 63,234 63,244 63,244 - - 

Subordinated loans 133,067 164,055 4,164 4,164 155,727 

Compulsorily convertible bonds    18,720     21,091                -        823     20,268 

      

Total 4,452,860 4,620,868 2,624,587 921,894 1,074,388 

      

 

The Bank prepares a liquidity gap report to monitor the Bank‘s short term liquidity position on the Rial denominated assets 

and liabilities in a time horizon spanning one month. The gap is adjusted for availability of instruments for repo or 

refinance and also for un-availed committed lines of credit, if any. This statement of short term liquidity is to be reported to 

the ALCO every month. 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D3 Market risk 

 

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from the changes in the interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, equity 

prices and commodity prices. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 

within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return to risk. 

 

D3.1 Measurement of market risk 

 

The Bank is mainly engaged in Spots, Forwards and Currency swaps. Since the positions are taken mainly for customer 

transactions, the complexity is further reduced. In view of above, the Bank measures and controls the risk by using a limit 

framework. As and when the Bank enters into more complex derivatives, it will have more sophisticated models and 

techniques to measure market risk, supported by suitable mechanism. 

 

D3.2 Management of market risks 

 

The Bank separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios. Trading portfolios include all 

positions arising from market making and proprietary position taking, together with financial assets and liabilities that are 

managed on a fair value basis. 

 

All foreign exchange risk within the Bank is transferred by Central Treasury to the trading book. Accordingly, the foreign 

exchange position is treated as a part of the Bank‘s trading portfolio for risk management purposes. Foreign currency risk 

is monitored and managed by the Bank by establishment of Mid Office to monitor the market risk, and the risk is managed 

by putting in place Market Risk Management Policy, and implementing limit framework, reporting tools like Currency 

Position Report, Risk Analysis of Currency Position, Breach Analysis Report, and Dealer Limit Breach report. 

 

Overall authority for market risk is vested in ALCO. The risk management function is responsible for development of 

detailed risk management policies (subject to approval by ALCO and Risk Management Committee of the Board). The 

Market Risk Policy is periodically reviewed to keep it up to date with the market developments. 

 

D3.3 Exposure to interest rate risk – non trading portfolios 

 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the fair values of 

financial instruments. The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches of interest rate and re-pricing 

tenure of rate sensitive assets and liabilities. 

 

The effective interest rate (effective yield) of a monetary financial instrument is the rate used in a present value calculation 

which results in the carrying amount of the instrument. The rate is a historical rate for a fixed rate instrument carried at 

amortised cost and a current rate for a floating rate instrument or an instrument carried at fair value.  

 

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows 

or fair values of financial instrument because of a change in market interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed principally 

through monitoring interest rate gaps. The ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with these limits and is assisted 

by Risk Management in its day-to-day monitoring activities. A summary of the Bank‘s interest rate gap position on non-

trading portfolios is provided in this note. The Bank also assesses interest rate risk by assessing the interest rate impact (both 

earnings perspective and economic value perspective) as per Basel-II guidelines communicated by CBO by applying interest 

rate shock of 200 bps and takes measures to reduce the impact. The Bank also assesses impact on earnings of interest rate 

shock of 50,100 and 200 bps. 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

  

D3 Market risk (continued) 

 

D3.3 Exposure to interest rate risk – non trading portfolios (continued) 

 

The Bank‘s interest sensitivity position based on contractual re-pricing arrangements at 31 December 2014 was as follows: 

 

 

Effective 

annual 

interest 

rate 

Within 

three 

months 

Four 

months to 

12 months 

Over one 

year 

Non-

sensitive 

to interest 

rate 

 

Total 

 % RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

31 December 2014       

Assets       

Cash and balances with Central Banks 0.01  7   -       -     218,677  218,684  

Due from banks and other money market 

lendings 2.23 148,587 4,686    -    513  153,786  

Loans and advances 4.91 622,099 194,803 593,212  12,939   1,423,053  

Investment securities 0.01 183,901 22,299 6,098 28,214 240,512  

Property, equipment and fixtures  - - - - 12,804 12,804  

Investment properties - - - - 2,900 2,900  

Other assets -        268              -              -   23,388      23,656  

Total assets   954,862  221,788   599,310   299,435   2,075,395  

       

Liabilities and equity       

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings 0.01 178,463 65,488 - 53 244,004  

Customers‘ deposits  1.39 180,139 457,221 173,451 740,885  1,551,696  

Other liabilities - - - - 29,180 29,180  

Subordinated loans 6.50 - - 51,232 - 51,232  

Convertible bonds 4.50 - - 7,207                  - 7,207  

Shareholders‘ funds  -             -             -             - 192,076    192,076  

Total liabilities and equity  358,602 522,709 231,890 962,194 2,075,395 

Total interest rate sensitivity gap  
 596,260  (300,921)  367,420  (662,759)                - 

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap   596,260  295,339  662,759                -                 -  
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

  

D3 Market risk (continued) 

 

D3.3 Exposure to interest rate risk – non trading portfolios (continued) 

 

 

Effective 

annual 

interest 

rate 

Within 

three 

months 

Four 

months to 

12 months 

Over one 

year 

Non-

sensitive 

to interest 

rate 

 

Total 

 % USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

31 December 2014       

Assets       

Cash and balances with Central Banks 0.01 19 - - 567,991 568,010  

Due from banks and other money market 

lendings 2.23 385,941 12,171 - 1,332 399,444 

Loans and advances 4.91 1,615,845 505,981 1,540,809 33,608 3,696,243 

Investment securities 0.01 477,665 57,919 15,839 73,283 624,706  

Property, equipment and fixtures  - - - - 33,257   33,257  

Investment properties - - - - 7,532   7,532 

Other assets -           696              -                -   60,748      61,444  

Total assets - 2,480,166  576,071  1,556,648  777,751  5,390,636  

       

Liabilities and equity       

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings 0.73 463,540 170,099 - 138 633,777  

Customers‘ deposits  1.39 467,893 1,187,587 450,522 1,924,377 4,030,379  

Other liabilities - - - - 75,792   75,792  

Subordinated loans 6.50 - - 133,070 - 133,070  

Convertible bonds 4.50 - - 18,719 -   18,719  

Shareholders‘ funds  -              -                -             -   498,899   498,899  

Total liabilities and equity  931,433 1,357,686 602,311 2,499,206 5,390,636 

Total interest rate sensitivity gap  
1,548,733  (781,615) 954,337    (1,721,455)      - 

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap  1,548,733  767,118  1,721,455                  -     -  
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

  

D3 Market risk (continued) 

 

D3.3 Exposure to interest rate risk – non trading portfolios (continued) 

 

 

Effective 

annual 

interest 

rate 

Within 

three 

months 

Four months 

to 12 

months 

Over one 

year 

Non-

sensitive to 

interest 

rate 

 

Total 

 % RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 

31 December 2013       

Assets       

Cash and balances with Central Banks 0.01 - - 507 105,570 106,077 

Due from banks and other money market 

lendings 2.10 166,938 129,053 11,550 (11,143) 296,398 

Loans and advances 5.42 446,586 287,532 501,481 12,440 1,248,039 

Investment securities 0.47 161,740 6,182 11,817 26,622 206,361 

Property, equipment and fixtures - - - - 13,234 13,234 

Investment properties -  -  - - 2,900 2,900 

Other assets -             -             -              -    12,611       12,611 

Total assets  775,264 422,767 525,355 162,234 1,885,620 

       

Liabilities and equity       

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings 0.66 236,205 25,798 - (22,821) 239,182 

Customers‘ deposits  1.73 220,157 350,662 207,211 614,356 1,392,386 

Other liabilities - - - - 24,345 24,345 

Subordinated loans 6.50 - - 51,231 - 51,231 

Compulsorily convertible bonds 4.96   7,207 - 7,207 

Shareholders‘ funds             -         -           - 171,269 171,269 

Total liabilities and equity 
 - 456,362 376,460 265,649 787,149 1,885,620 

Total interest rate sensitivity gap  318,902 46,307 259,706 (624,915)                - 

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap  318,902 365,209 624,915             -               - 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

  

D3 Market risk (continued) 

 

D3.3 Exposure to interest rate risk – non trading portfolios (continued) 

 

 

Effective 

annual 

interest 

rate 

Within 

three 

months 

Four months 

to 12 

months 

Over one 

year 

Non-

sensitive to 

interest 

rate 

 

Total 

 % USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 

31 December 2013       

Assets       

Cash and balances with Central Banks 0.01 - - 1,318 274,207 275,525 

Due from banks and other money market 

lendings 2.10 

 

    433,605 

 

   335,203 

 

     30,000 

 

    (28,942)  

   

      769,866 

Loans and advances 5.42 

 

 1,159,963 

 

   746,835 

 

 1,302,547 

 

     32,315 

 

    3,241,660  

Investment securities 0.47 

 

    420,104 

 

      16,057 

 

      30,694 

 

     69,148 

 

      536,003  

Property, equipment and fixtures  - - - - 34,374 34,374 

Investment properties - - - - 7,532 7,532 

Other assets -                -                 -                 -   32,754      32,754  

Total assets  2,013,672  1,098,095  1,364,559   421,388  4,897,714  

       

Liabilities and equity       

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings 0.66 

 

    613,519 

 

     67,008 

 

- 

 

(59,275) 

              

621,252  

Customers‘ deposits  1.73 571,837 910,810 537,587 1,596,353 3,616,587 

Other liabilities - - - - 63,234 63,234 

Subordinated loans 6.50 - - 133,067 - 133,067 

Convertible bonds 4.96   18,720  18,720 

Shareholders‘ funds  - - - 444,854 444,854 

Total liabilities and equity 
 - 1,185,356 977,818 689,374  2,045,166  4,897,714 

Total interest rate sensitivity gap  828,316 120,277 675,185 (1,623,778)                 - 

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap  828,316 948,593 1,623,778              -                - 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

  

D3 Market risk (continued) 

 

D3.3 Exposure to interest rate risk – non trading portfolios (continued) 

 

The Bank‘s present business is being done with basic products. The risk is managed by taking views on interest rate 

movements for the year and realigning the portfolios and covenants of lending, so as to be proactive and minimize any 

adverse effects. The benchmark presently available in Oman is the 28-day CBO CD rate. The statistics on movement of the 

rate in CDs and weighted average cost of deposits and the interest on loans are provided below: 

  

2014 Jan  Feb  Mar  Apr  May  Jun  Jul  Aug  Sep  Oct  Nov  

CD rate 0.13% 0.13% 0.12% 0.13% 0.13% 0.12% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13%  

Deposit rate 1.14% 1.12% 1.10% 1.08% 1.05% 1.04% 1.05% 1.05% 1.03% 1.01% 1.01%  

Lending rate 5.40% 5.35% 5.33% 5.28% 5.25% 5.21% 5.18% 5.20% 5.16% 5.14% 5.12%  

 

2013 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

CD rate 0.11% 0.12% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 

Deposit rate 1.31% 1.32% 1.28% 1.27% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.24% 1.24% 1.19% 1.18% 1.17% 

Lending rate 5.66% 5.63% 5.58% 5.56% 5.54% 5.51% 5.46% 5.48% 5.46% 5.46% 5.43% 5.41% 

 

The management of interest rate risk is one of the critical components of market risk management in banks. Interest rate 

risk primarily arises on account of mismatch of the Bank‘s assets with its liabilities that fund the assets. There are basically 

two approaches to management of interest rate risk in banks, namely ―Earnings Approach‖ and ―Economic Value 

Approach‖. The interest rate risk is assessed based on the impact of interest rate shock on the Bank‘s earnings and capital. 

  

The focus of earnings approach is understanding the impact of interest rate changes (shock) of assets and liabilities on the 

Net Interest Income of the Bank. It measures the extent of capability of the Bank to absorb decline in net interest income 

caused by interest rate changes.  

 

Interest rate risk also influences the present value of the Bank‘s asset and liabilities. Economic value perspective considers 

the present value of the Bank‘s assets and liabilities and assesses the potential longer term impact of interest rates on the 

Bank. This perspective focuses on how the economic value of the Bank‘s assets, liabilities, change with movements in 

interest rates and it reflects the impact of fluctuation in the interest rates on the economic value of the institution. 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D3 Market risk (continued) 

 

D3.3 Exposure to interest rate risk – non trading portfolios (continued) 

 

Basel-II Accord has recommended for assessing the impact of interest rate risk by applying 200 bps interest rate sensitivity 

and accordingly the impact of 200 bps interest rate shock on the Bank‘s earnings and capital is provided below: 

 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

     

114,036 128,003 Net interest income 49,281 43,904 

114,036       128,003  Annualized net interest income  49,281  43,904 

585,980 620,672 Capital 238,959 225,605 

     

  Based on 50 bps interest rate shock   

4,440          6,162  Impact of 50 bps interest rate shock 
                                                     

2,372  1,709 

3.89%            4.81%  Impact as % to net interest income 4.81% 3.89% 

0.74%            0.99%  Impact as % to capital 0.99% 0.76% 

      

  Based on 100 bps interest rate shock   

8,879        12,324  Impact of 100 bps interest rate shock 
                                                     

4,745  3,418 

7.79%            9.63%  Impact as % to net interest income 9.63% 7.79% 

1.52%            1.99%  Impact as % to capital 1.99% 1.52% 

      

  Based on 200 bps interest rate shock   

17,758        24,648  Impact of 200 bps interest rate shock 
                                                     

9,489  6,837 

15.57%          19.26%  Impact as % to net interest income 19.26% 15.57% 

3.03%            3.97%  Impact as % to capital 3.97% 3.03% 

 

D3.4 Exposure to other market risks  

 

Investment value risk is the risk of reduction in the market value of the Bank‘s portfolio as a result of diminution in the market 

value of individual investments. The responsibility for management of investment value risk rests with the Investment 

division under the supervision and guidance of the Management Investment Committee and Board Executive Committee of 

the Bank. The Bank‘s investments are governed by an investment policy approved by the Board of Directors. The rating and 

price of the instruments are monitored on a regular basis and necessary actions are taken to reduce exposure if needed. The 

portfolio is revalued at market price to ensure that unrealised losses, if any, on account of reduction in the market value of the 

investments remains within the acceptable parameters.  
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D3 Market risk (continued) 

 

D3.4 Exposure to other market risks (continued) 

 

Security as per country Changes in fair value +/- 5% 

 2014 2013 

 RO’000 RO‘000 

   

Organisation for Economic Co-operation (OECD) Countries 462 613 

Oman 1,092 1,003 

Other Gulf Co-operation Council (GCC) countries 186 74 

 

Security as per country Changes in fair value +/- 5% 

 2014 2013 

 USD’000 USD‘000 

   

OECD Countries 1,200 1,592 

Oman 2,836 2,605 

Other GCC countries 483 192 

 

Currency risk 

 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The 

Board has set limits on the overall open position and for open position for each currency. The open position limits include 

overnight open position and intraday open position. Open positions are monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies 

used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. The Bank had the following net exposures denominated 

in foreign currencies: 

 

  2014 2013 

 Assets Liabilities 

Net 

(liabilities)/assets Assets Liabilities 

Net 

(liabilities)/assets 

       

       

US Dollar 1,352,854  1,434,705  (81,851) 1,524,532 1,598,026 (73,494) 

Euro  117,573  117,610  (37) 60 59,838 (59,778) 

UAE Dirhams 16,562  35,832  (19,270) 86 154,836 (154,750) 

Japanese Yen 11,247,823  11,248,262  (439) 3,897 3,902,524 (3,898,627) 

Pound Sterling 3,214  3,183   31  4 4,162 (4,158) 

Indian Rupee 17,776  48   17,728  8 48 (40) 
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D Financial risk management (continued) 

 

D3 Market risk (continued) 

 

D3.4 Exposure to other market risks (continued) 

 

Currency risk (continued) 

 

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial 

position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both overnight and 

intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.  

 

Changes in the non-parity foreign currency prices as at 31 December 2014 on net assets is considered  negligible. 

 

D4 Operational risk 

 

Operational risk is defined as the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 

and systems or from external events. Operational risk arises due to a variety of causes associated with the Bank‘s 

processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure and from external events and to include risks other than credit, market 

and liquidity risks. 

 

The Bank‘s objective is to manage operational risk to avoid/reduce financial losses to the Bank by establishment of 

necessary controls, systems and procedures. The Bank recognises that over an controlled environment will affect the 

Bank‘s business and earnings, besides adding to costs. Therefore, the Bank aims at effective management of operational 

risk through control optimisation and well established systems, methods and governance framework. 

 

The primary responsibility for development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior 

management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Bank standards in 

the following areas for management of operational risk: 

 

 Clear reporting lines; 

 Proper delegation of powers; 

 Appropriate segregation of duties and authorisation of transactions through a maker checker system and 

authorisation matrix; 

 Ownership reconciliation and monitoring of accounts; 

 Documentation of controls and processes; 

 Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 

 Periodic assessment of the operational risks faced and evaluating the adequacy of controls and procedures to 

address the risks identified; 

 Reporting of operational losses and incidents triggering operational losses and remedial action; 

 Development of contingency plans; 

 Training, skill up gradation and professional development; 

 Ethical and business standards; and 

 Risk mitigation through insurance, wherever desirable. 

 

Compliance with Bank standards for both conventional and Islamic banking divisions is supported by a programme of 

periodic reviews undertaken by Internal Audit. The results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the management of 

the business unit to which they relate, with summaries submitted to the Audit Committee and senior management of the 

Bank. The Bank has also implemented a comprehensive Operational Risk Management Framework by which Bank has put 

in place Operational Risk Management Policy, Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) Policy, Operational Risk Loss 

Event Reporting Framework, Maintenance of Operational Risk Loss Data Base and RCSA Framework. The Bank has 

developed an in-house RCSA model and has conducted Risk and Control Self-Assessment for all major business activities 

like Corporate Banking, Retail Banking, Treasury, Card operations, Deposits, HR and E-banking. The Bank has further 

identified Key Risk Indicators (KRI) of operational risk in major activities of the Bank and fixed threshold limits which are 

monitored on monthly basis to gauge the level of risk and manage the same.  
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D5 Capital management 

 

D5.1 Regulatory capital 

 

The Bank‘s lead regulator, CBO, sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as a whole. In implementing current 

capital requirements CBO requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets. The 

Bank calculates capital requirements for market risk and operational risk based upon the model prescribed by CBO as 

follows: 

 

 Claims against sovereign entities in the respective national currencies – Nil 

 Claims against sovereign entities in other currencies – Risk weights based upon ratings by Moody‘s 

 Retail and Corporate loans – In the absence of credit rating model 100% risk weighting is taken. 

 Off balance sheet items – As per credit conversion factors and risk weighting prescribed by CBO. 

 

The Bank‘s regulatory capital is analysed into three tiers: 

 

 Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital, share premium, perpetual bonds (which are classified as 

innovative Tier 1 securities), retained earnings, translation reserve and minority interests after deductions for 

goodwill and intangible assets, and other regulatory adjustments relating to items that are included in equity but 

are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes. 
 

 Tier 2 capital, which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities, collective impairment allowances and the 

element of the fair value reserve relating to unrealised gains on equity instruments classified as available-for-sale. 
 

 Tier 3 capital, which includes short term subordinated debts which if circumstances demand would be capable of 

becoming the Bank‘s permanent capital. 
 

Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base. The amount of innovative tier 1 securities cannot exceed 15 

percent of total tier 1 capital; qualifying tier 2 capital cannot exceed tier 1 capital; and qualifying term subordinated loan 

capital may not exceed 50 percent of tier 1 capital. There are also restrictions on the amount of collective impairment 

allowances that may be included as part of tier 2 capital. Other deductions from capital include the carrying amounts of 

investments in subsidiaries that are not included in the regulatory consolidation, investments in the capital of banks and 

certain other regulatory items. 

 

Banking operations are categorized as either trading book or banking book, and risk-weighted assets are determined 

according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets and off-balance sheet 

exposures. The Bank‘s policy is to maintain a strong capital base as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 

and to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders‘ return is also 

recognized and the Bank recognizes the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with 

greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.  
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D  Financial Risk Management (continued) 

 

D5  Capital management (continued) 

 

D5.1 Regulatory capital (continued) 
 

The international standard for measuring capital adequacy is the risk asset ratio, which relates capital to balance sheet 

assets and off balance sheet exposures weighted according to broad categories of risk. 
 

The risk asset ratio calculated in accordance with the capital adequacy guidelines of the Bank for International Settlement 

is as follows: 
 

31December 

 2013 

31December 

 2014  
31 December 

 2014 

31 December 

2013 

USD‘000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‘000 

  Tier I capital   

285,714 297,143 Ordinary share capital 114,400 110,000 

28,119 35,883 Legal reserve 13,815 10,827 

2,761 2,566 General reserve 988 1,063 

36,797 62,771 Subordinated loan reserve 24,167 14,167 

81,244 101,995 Retained earnings* 39,268 31,279 

(3,670) (13,634) Fair value losses  (5,249) (1,412) 

(374) (10) Deferred tax asset (4) (144) 

 ──────  ──────   ──────  ────── 

430,591 486,714 Total  187,385 165,780 

 ──────  ──────   ──────  ────── 

  Tier 2 capital   

42,639 48,163 Impairment allowance on portfolio basis 18,543 16,416 

1,106 125 Fair value gains 48 426 

93,073 67,099 Subordinated loan 25,833 35,833 

18,571 18,571 Compulsorily convertible bonds 7,150 7,150 

 ──────   ──────    ──────  ────── 

155,389 133,958 Total 51,574 59,825 

 ──────   ──────    ──────  ────── 

585,980 620,673 Total regulatory capital 238,959 225,605 

 ──────   ──────    ──────  ────── 

  Risk-weighted assets   

4,065,970 4,484,013 Credit and market risks 1,726,345 1,565,398 

233,002 270,686 Operational risk 104,214 89,706 

 ──────   ──────    ──────  ────── 

4,298,972 4,754,699 Total risk-weighted assets 1,830,559 1,655,104 

 ──────   ──────    ──────  ────── 

  Capital adequacy ratio   

     

13.63% 13.05% 

Total regulatory capital expressed as a percentage 

of total risk-weighted assets 13.05% 13.63% 

10.02% 10.24% 

 

Total tier I capital expressed as a percentage of 

total risk-weighted assets 10.24% 10.02% 

     

     

 

*Retained earnings for the year 2014 are after excluding cash dividend of RO 4,576,000 (2013: RO 4,400,000), as disclosed in B22.  

 

The capital adequacy ratio is calculated in accordance with the Basel II norms as adopted by CBO. Disclosures required 

under Basel III and circular BM-1114 dated 17 November 2013 issued by Central Bank of Oman is available at investor 

relations section of the Bank‘s website. 
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E Segmental information 

 

Segment information is presented in respect of the Bank‘s operating segments. For management purposes, the Bank is 

organised into five operating segments based on products and services as follows: 

 

 Wholesale banking includes loans and deposits including current accounts, term deposit etc. for corporate and Trade 

finance customers. 

 Retail banking includes deposits from retail customers, consumer loans, overdrafts, credit card and fund transfer 

facilities. 

 Investments, FIG & Treasury includes proprietary investments, treasury, international banks, international companies, 

institutional and government relationships. 

 Head office includes the pool of resources considered for transfer pricing and absorbs the cost of impairment loss on 

portfolio basis and income tax expense. 

 Islamic banking includes Islamic financing activities, current accounts, unrestricted investment accounts and other 

products and services to corporate and individual customers under Sharia principles. 

 

The CEO monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 

allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss. Income taxes are 

managed on a Bank basis and are not allocated to operating segments. 

 

Interest income is reported net as the CEO primarily relies on net interest income as a performance measure, not the gross 

income and expense. 

 

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm‘s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. 

 

No revenue from transactions with a single external customer or counterparty amounted to 10% or more of the Bank‘s total 

revenue in 2014 or 2013.  
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E1 Segmental information (continued) 
 

* FIG stands for Financial Institution Group 

  

 
 

31 December 

2014     

 

Retail  

Banking 

Wholesale 

Banking 

Investments 

FIG* & 

Treasury 

Head 

Office 

Islamic 

Banking Total 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

       

Net interest income 23,002  22,769    4,836   (3,015)          -    47,592  

Net income from Islamic banking 

financing and investing activities -   -   -   -     1,689       1,689  

Other operating income 5,566 7,376 9,759 (1,866) 203 21,038 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Operating income 28,568  30,145  14,595   (4,881) 1,892  70,319  

Operating expense           (18,318) (6,936) (4,194)          -     (1,883)  (31,331) 

 ────── ───── ───── ────── ────── ────── 

Operating profit /(loss) 10,250  23,209  10,401   (4,881) 9  38,988  

Impairment allowance on portfolio 

basis         -             -             -    (1,780)    (347)    (2,127) 

Impairment allowance on specific basis (2,614) (1,048)          -             -              -       (3,662) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Profit / (loss) for the year  7,636  22,161  10,401  (6,661)    (338)    33,199  

Income tax expense - - - (3,321)          -       (3,321) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Segment profit /(loss) for the year   7,636 22,161  10,401  (9,982)    (338)    29,878  

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

       

Segment assets       

Cash and balances with central bank         -             -             -              214,095    4,589  218,684  

Due from banks and other money 

market placements         -             -              141,723           - 12,063  153,786  

Loans and advances ( net)          475,318            843,482  66,372           - 37,881  1,423,053  

Investment securities         -             -              231,480           -   9,032  240,512  

Property, equipment and fixtures         -             -             -    11,171    1,633     12,804  

Investment properties         -             -             -      2,900           -         2,900  

Other assets         -             -             -    23,035       621     23,656  

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total           475,318            843,482            439,575            251,201  65,819  2,075,395  

 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

Segment liabilities       

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings         -             -              226,327           -  17,677  244,004  

Customers‘ deposits          271,232            281,704            962,013           -  36,747  1,551,696  

Other liabilities         -             -             -    27,919    1,261     29,180  

Subordinated loan  -    -    -    51,232           -     51,232  

Compulsory convertible bonds  -    -    -      7,207           -       7,207  

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total            271,232  281,704  1,188,340   86,358   55,685  1,883,319  

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Shareholders’ equity - - - 181,942  10,134  192,076 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total            271,232  281,704  1,188,340  268,300  65,819  2,075,395  

 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 
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* FIG stands for Financial Institution Group 
  

E1   Segment information (continued)       

 

  

31 December 

2013     

 

Retail 

Banking 

Wholesale 

Banking 

Investments 

FIG* & 

Treasury 

Head 

Office 

Islamic 

Banking Total 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

       

Net interest income 19,994 19,496 9,942 (5,906) - 43,526 

Net income from Islamic banking 

financing and investing activities - - - - 378 378 

Other operating income 3,552 6,815 4,892 - 47 15,306 

 ────── ───── ───── ────── ────── ────── 

Operating income 23,546 26,311 14,834 (5,906) 425 59,210 

Operating expense (19,442) (3,059) (3,991) - (983) (27,475) 

 ────── ───── ───── ────── ────── ────── 

Operating profit /(loss) 4,104 23,252 10,843 (5,906) (558) 31,735 

Impairment allowance on portfolio basis - - - (1,414) (92) (1,506) 

 Impairment allowance on specific basis (813) 721 - - - (92) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Profit / (loss) for the year 3,291 23,973 10,843 (7,320) (650) 30,137 

 Income tax expense - - - (3,266) - (3,266) 

 Segment profit /(loss) for the year ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

 3,291 23,973 10,843 (10, 586) (650) 26,871 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

       

Segment assets       

Cash and balances with central bank -  -  -  100,555    5,522  106,077  

Due from banks and other money 

market placements -  -  265,197   -  31,201  296,398  

Loans and advances ( net) 418,356   764,107   56,069   -   9,507   1,248,039  

Investment securities -  -  203,317   -   3,044  206,361  

Property, equipment and fixtures  - - - 11,591 1,643 13,234 

Investment properties - - - 2,900 - 2,900 

Other assets -  -  -  12,416    195  12,611  

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total  418,356   764,107   524,583   127,462   51,112   1,885,620  

 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

Segment liabilities       

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings -  -  223,128   -  16,054  239,182  

Customers‘ deposits 248,535   334,795   789,742   -  19,314   1,392,386  

Other liabilities -  -  -  21,085    3,260  24,345  

Subordinated loans -  -  -  51,231   - 51,231  

Compulsorily convertible bonds -  -  -   7,207   -   7,207  

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total 248,535   334,795  1,012,870   79,523   38,628   1,714,351  

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Shareholders‘ equity - - - 161,135 10,134 171,269 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total 248,535   334,795  1,012,870   240,658   48,762   1,885,620  

 ══════ ═════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 
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E1     Segment information (continued)       

  31 December 2014    

 

Retail 

Banking 

Wholesale 

Banking 

Investments 

FIG* & 

Treasury Head Office 

Islamic 

Banking Total 

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

       

Net interest income 59,747  59,142 12,562  (7,835) - 123,616  

Net income from Islamic banking 

financing and investing activities - - - -  4,387  4,387  

Other operating income 14,457  19,158  25,348  (4,846) 527  54,644  

 ────── ───── ───── ────── ────── ────── 

Operating income 74,204  78,300  37,910  (12,681)  4,914  182,647  

Operating expense (47,579) (18,016) (10,894) - (4,891)  (81,380) 

 ────── ───── ───── ───── ───── ───── 

Operating profit /(loss) 26,625  60,284  27,016  (12,681) 23  101,267  

Impairment allowance on portfolio basis - - - (4,623) (901) (5,524) 

Impairment allowance on specific basis (6,790) (2,722) - - - (9,512) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Profit / (loss) for the year 19,835  57,562  27,016  (17,304) (878) 86,231  

Income tax expense - - - (8,626) - (8,626) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Segment profit /(loss) for the year 19,835  57,562  27,016  (25,930) (878) 77,605  

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Segment assets       

Cash and balances with central bank - - - 556,091  11,919  568,010  

Due from banks and other money market 

placements - - 368,112  - 31,332  399,444  

Loans and advances ( net) 1,234,592  2,190,863  172,398  - 98,390  3,696,243 

Investment securities - - 601,246  - 23,460  624,706  

Property, equipment and fixtures - - - 29,015  4,242  33,257  

Investment properties - - - 7,532 - 7,532 

Other assets - - - 59,831  1,613  61,444  

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total  1,234,592  2,190,863  1,141,756  652,469  170,956  5,390,636  

 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

Segment liabilities       

Due to banks and other money market 

borrowings - - 587,863  - 45,914  633,777  

Customers‘ deposits 704,498  731,700  2,498,737  - 95,444  4,030,379  

Other liabilities - - - 72,517  3,275  75,792  

Subordinated loan  - - - 133,070  - 133,070  

Compulsorily convertible bonds - - - 18,720  - 18,720  

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total 704,498  731,700  3,086,600  224,307  144,633  4,891,738 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Shareholders’ equity - - - 472,576 26,322  498,898 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total 704,498  731,700  3,086,600  696,883  170,955  5,390,636 

 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

 

* FIG stands for Financial Institution Group 
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E1 Segment information (continued)  31 December 2013    

       

 

Retail 

banking 

Wholesale 

Banking 

Investments 

FIG* & 

Treasury 

Head 

 Office 

Islamic 

Banking 

 

Total 

 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 USD‘000 

       

Net interest income 51,932 50,639 25,823 (15,340) - 113,054 

Net income from Islamic banking financing and 

investing activities  - - - 982 982 

Other operating income 9,226 17,702 12,706 - 122 39,756 

 ────── ───── ───── ────── ────── ────── 

Operating income 61,158 68,341 38,529 (15,340) 1,104 153,792 

Operating expense (50,499) (7,945) (10,367) - (2,553) (71,364) 

 ────── ───── ───── ───── ───── ───── 

Operating profit /(loss) 10,659 60,396 28,162 (15,340) (1,449) 82,428 

 Impairment allowance on portfolio basis - - - (3,672) (239) (3,911) 

 Impairment allowance on specific basis (2,112) 1,873 - - - (239) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Profit / (loss) for the year 8,547 62,269 28,162 (19,012) (1,688) 78,278 

 Income tax expense - - - (8,483) - (8,483) 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Segment profit /(loss) for the year 8,547 62,269 28,162 (27,495) (1,688) 69,795 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

       

Segment assets       

Cash and balances with central bank - - 261,181 - 14,344 275,525 

Due from banks and other money market 

placements - - 688,823 - 81,043 769,866 

Loans and advances - net 1,086,639 1,984,694 145,632 - 24,695 3,241,660 

Available for sale investments - - 528,096 - 7,907 536,003 

Property, equipment and fixtures - - - 30,106 4,268 34,374 

Investment properties - - - 7,532 - 7,532 

Other assets              - - - 32,248 506 32,754 

 1,086,639 1,984,694 1,623,732 69,886 132,763 4,897,714 

Total ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

Segment Liabilities       

Due to banks and other money market borrowings - - 579,553 - 41,699 621,252 

Customers‘ deposits 645,545 869,598 2,051,277 - 50,167 3,616,587 

Other liabilities - - - 54,766 8,468 63,234 

Subordinated loan  - - - 133,067 - 133,067 

Compulsorily convertible bonds - - - 18,720 - 18,720 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Total 645,545 869,598 2,630,830 206,553 100,334 4,452,860 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

Shareholders‘ equity - - - 418,532 26,322 444,854 

 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 

 645,545 869,598 2,630,830 625,085 126,656 4,897,714 

Total  ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 

       

 

* FIG stands for Financial Institution Group 
 

E2    Comparative figures 

 

Certain corresponding figures for 2013 have been reclassified in order to conform with the presentation for the current 

year. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported net profit or shareholders‘ equity.  
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SOHAR ISLAMIC  
(ISLAMIC BANKING WINDOW OF BANK SOHAR SAOG) 
 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014  

    

Period from 

30 April to 

31 December 

2013 

Year 

ended 31   

December 

2014 

 

 

Year 

ended 31 

December 

2014 

Period from 

30 April to 

31 December 

2013 

USD‟000 USD’000  
 

Note RO’000 RO‟000 

348 1,408 

Income from jointly financed financing 

activities C 1 542 134 

(24) (164) 

Return on unrestricted investment account 

holders   (63) (9) 

324 1,244 Share of income (as Mudarib and Rabalmal)  479 125 

 52  1,530  Income from self financed financing activities  C 1 589 20 

 732  2,319  Income from self financed  investing activities C 2 893 282  

 1,108  5,093  

Income from jointly financed investments 

and receivables 

 
1,961 427  

    

  
   

(127) (605) Income  on due to Banks under wakala   (233) (49) 

981 4,488 

Net Revenue from financing and investing 

activities  1,728 378 

      

 114   421  Fee and commission – net 

 
162 44  

 9  5  Foreign exchange gain – net 

 
2 3  

 1,104  4,914 Total revenues 

 
1,892 425  

    

  
   

(1,078)  (2,543) Staff costs 

 
(979)  (415) 

(1,252)  (1,657) Other operating expenses C 3 (638)  (482) 

(223) (691) Depreciation B 7 (266)  (86) 

(2,553)  (4,891) Total expenses 

 
(1,883)  (983) 

(1,449 ) 23 Operating profit 

 
9 (558) 

(239) (901) Net impairment allowance  on portfolio basis B3  (347)  (92) 

      

(1,688) (878) Loss for the year/period 

 
(338)  (650) 
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SOHAR ISLAMIC  
(ISLAMIC BANKING WINDOW OF BANK SOHAR SAOG) 

 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014  

 

 

 
 

    2013 2014 

 

Note 2014 2013 

USD‟000 USD’000 
  

RO’000 RO‟000 

 
  ASSETS 

 
    

14,343  11,919  Cash and balances with central banks B 1 4,589   5,522  

81,042  31,332  Due from banks and financial institutions B 2 12,063  31,201  

655  10,769  Murabaha receivables  B 3 4,146  252  

23,990  85,571  Ijarah muntahia bittamleek  B 4 32,945   9,236  

-   1,800  Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia bittamleek B 5  693  -  

 7,906  23,460  Investment securities  B 6 9,032   3,044  

 4,268   4,242  Property, equipment and fixture  B 7 1,633   1,643  

 2,247   1,862  Other assets B 8  717  865  

134,451  170,955  TOTAL ASSETS 

 

65,818  51,763  

    
 

 

 -    

    LIABILITIES 

 

    

49,491  79,681  Wakala deposits B 9 30,677  19,054  

40,543  40,177  Customer deposit and other accounts B 10 15,468  15,609  

 8,469   3,274  Other liabilities B 11 1,261   3,260  

98,503  123,132  TOTAL LIABILITIES  

 

47,406  37,923  

    
 

 

    

 9,626  21,501  

EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT 

HOLDERS B 12 8,278   3,706  

    
 

 

    

    EQUITY  
 

    

25,974  25,974  Assigned capital B 13 (a) 10,000  10,000  

348  348  Legal reserve B 13 (b) 134  134  

1,688  2,566  General reserve B 13 (c) 988  650  

(1,688)  (2,566) Accumulated losses 
 

(988)  (650)  

26,322  26,322  TOTAL OWNERS’ EQUITY 
 

10,134  10,134  

134,451  170,955  

TOTAL LIABILITIES, EQUITY OF 

INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS 

AND OWNERS’ EQUITY 

 

65,818  51,763  

 

 

 

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 January 2014 and 

signed on their behalf by: 

 

_________________________ _________________________  

   

Chairman  Deputy Chairman 
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SOHAR ISLAMIC  

(ISLAMIC BANKING WINDOW OF BANK SOHAR SAOG) 

 
STATEMENT OF OWNERS’ EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014  

 

 

 
Note  

Allocated 

capital 

Legal 

reserve 

General 

reserve 

Accumulated 
Total 

losses 

 
  RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

 
            

             

Balance as at 1 January B13 10,000   134   650   (650) 10,134  

Created during the year  -  -   338  -   338  

Net loss for the year         (338)  (338) 

Balance as at 31 December 2014  10,000 134 988 (988) 10,134 

        

 

 

 
  

Allocated 

capital 

Legal 

reserve 

General 

reserve 

Accumulated 
Total 

losses 

 
  USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

 
            

             

Balance as at 1 January B13 25,974  348  1,688   (1,688)   26,322  

Created during the year                    -                   - 878  - 878  

Net loss for the year                    -                 -                -     (878)  (878) 

Balance as at 31 December 2014  25,974  348  2,566   (2,566) 26,322  

        

 

 

 Note 

Allocated 

capital 

Legal 

reserve 

General Accumulated  
Total 

reserve losses 

 
 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 

 
          

            

Capital allocated by head office 

through right issue of shares B13 

 

10,000  

 

-  

 

- 

 

 - 

 

10,000 

Issue related costs received - net   - 134 - - 134 

Created during the period    650 - 650 

Net loss for the period    -   -   -   (650)  (650) 

Balance as at 31 December 2013  10,000 134 650 (650) 10,134 

        

 

 

  

 

  

 

Note Allocated 

capital 

Legal 

reserve 

General Accumulated  
Total 

 

 Reserve losses 

 

 USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

  Capital allocated by head office 

through right issue of shares B13 25,974 -  -  - 25,974 

Issue related costs received - net  - 348 - - 348 

Created during the period  - - 1,688 - 1,688 

Net loss for the period   -  -   -  (1,688) (1,688) 

Balance as at 31 December 2013  25,974  348   1,688   (1,688) 26,322  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014  

Period from 

30 April to 

31 December 

2013 
Year ended 31 

December 2014 

  

Year ended 31 

December 2014 

Period from 

30 April to     31 

December  2013 

USD‟000 USD’000 
 

 

RO’000 RO‟000 
  

     

  

 

Cash flows from operating 

activities 

   (1,688)  (878) Net loss for the year 

 
 (338)  (650) 

  

Adjustments for: 

  

  

 223  691  Depreciation  

 
 266   86  

 239  901  

Net impairment loss on financing 

assets 

 
 347   92  

- (101) Revaluation gain on investments  

 
(39) -  

 (1,226)  613  

Operating loss before changes in 

operating assets and liabilities 236   (472) 

  

Changes in operating assets and 

liabilities 

   

(30,319)  30,319  

Due from banks and wakala 

placements 

 
11,673   (11,673) 

 (668) (10,252) Murabaha receivables 

 
(3,947)  (257) 

(24,216) (62,330) Ijarah muntahia bittamleek 

 
(23,996)  (9,323) 

-  (1,818) 

Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia 

bittamleek 

 
 (700) -  

17,803   36,029  Wakala deposits 

 
13,871  6,854  

40,543   (366) Customer deposit and other accounts 

 
 (141) 15,609  

(558) 1,262 Other assets 

 
 486 (215) 

 561  (5,192) Other liabilities 

 
(1,999)  216  

1,920  (11,735) Net cash from operating activities 

 
 (4,517)  739 

  

Cash flows from investing 

activities 

   (4,491)  (665) Acquisition of fixed assets 

 
 (256)  (1,729) 

-  (15,452) Acquisition of Investments 

 
(5,949) -  

(4,491) (16,117) 

Net cash flows from investing 

activities 

 
(6,205)  (1,729) 

-   -  

Cash flows from financing 

activities 

   9,626   11,877  Changes in URIA  

 
4,572  3,706  

26,322   -  

Allocated capital net of issue 

expenses 

 
-  10,134  

35,948  11,877 Net cash from financing activities 

 
 4,572   13840  

33,377  (15,975) 

Net (decrease) / increase in cash 

and cash equivalents 

 
 (6,150)  12,850  

-   33,377  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT 

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 12,850  -  

33,377 17,402  

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 

December 

 
 6,700   12,850  

-   -  REPRESENTING: 

   

14,343   11,919  

Cash and balances with Central 

Banks 

 
4,589   5,522  

50,722   31,332  

Due from banks and financial 

institutions 

 
12,063   19,528  

(31,688) (25,849) Wakala deposits 

 
(9,952)  (12,200) 

33,377  17,402  

  
 6,700   12,850  
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A1 INCORPORATION, LEGAL STATUS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES    
        

Bank Sohar SAOG (the head office) under an Islamic Banking License issued by the Central Bank of Oman (CBO) on 30 

April 2013, carries out Islamic banking operations and other financial trading activities in accordance with Islamic 

Shari‟a rules and regulations under the name of “Sohar Islamic” (the Window). The Bank‟s Shari‟a Supervisory Board is 

entrusted to ensure the Window's adherence to Shari‟a rules and principles in its transactions and activities. As required 

under clauses 3.5.1.2 and 3.5.1.3 of Title 1,‟Licensing Requirements‟ of Islamic Banking Regulatory Framework (IBRF) 

issued by CBO, the head office raised RO 10 million through right issue and allocated this amount to the Window as 

assigned capital.  

 

The Window offers a full range of Islamic banking services and products. The principal activities of the Window include 

accepting Shari'a compliant customer deposits, providing Shari'a compliant financing and undertaking investment 

activities and providing commercial banking services and other investment activities permitted under IBRF.  

 

A2 BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

A2.1 Statement of compliance 
 

The financial statements for the Window are prepared in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) 

issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions (“AAOIFI”), the Islamic Shari‟a 

rules and principles as determined by the Shari‟a Supervisory Board of the Window and Islamic Banking Regulatory 

Framework issued by CBO. In accordance with the requirement of AAOIFI, for matters not covered by FAS, the 

Window uses standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations released 

by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee and will be replaced later by FAS when an applicable 

FAS is issued. 

 

The Window has not operated as a separate legal entity. The separate financial statements of the Window has been 

prepared to comply with the requirement of Articles 1.5.1.2 to 1.5.1.4 of Title 2 „General Obligations and Governance‟ of 

IBRF issued by CBO.  

 

A2.2 Basis of measurement 
 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for derivative financial instruments 

and held for trading investments which has been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Rial 

Omani, which is the Window‟s functional currency and also in US Dollars, for the convenience of the readers. The US 

Dollar amounts, which are presented in these financial statements have been translated from the Rial Omani amounts at 

an exchange rate of US Dollar 1 = RO 0.385. All financial information presented in Rial Omani and US Dollars has been 

rounded off to the nearest thousands. 

 

A2.3 Use of Judgments and estimates 
 

In the process of applying the Window‟s accounting policies, management uses judgments and makes estimates in 

determining the amounts recognized in the financial statements. These estimates and assumptions effect the amount of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities, as these estimates and interpretations effect revenues, 

expenses and allowances, as well as changes in fair value. 
 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on regular basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in 

the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. The most significant uses of judgments and 

estimates are as follows: 
 

Impairment provisions against financing contracts with customers 
 

The Window reviews its financing contracts at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment provision should be 

recorded in the financial statements. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount 

and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of provision required. Such estimates are based on 

assumptions about factors involving varying degrees of judgment and uncertainty and actual results may differ resulting 

in future changes to the provisions. 
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A2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 

A2.3 Use of Judgments and estimates (continued) 
 

In addition to specific provisions against individually significant financing contracts, the Window also makes collective 

impairment provision against exposures which, although not specifically identified as requiring a specific provision, have 

a greater risk of default than when originally granted. This takes into consideration, factors such as any deterioration in 

country risk, industry, and technological obsolescence, as well as identified structural weaknesses or deterioration in cash 

flows. 
 

Classification of investments 
 

Management decides upon acquisition of an investment whether it should be classified as fair value through statement of 

income, fair value through equity or at amortised cost. 
 

Liquidity 
 

The Window manages its liquidity through consideration of the maturity profile of its assets and liabilities which is set 

out in the liquidity risk disclosures in note D2.2. This requires judgment when determining the maturity of assets and 

liabilities with no specific maturities. 
 

A2.4 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2014 and relevant for the Window’s operations 
 

For the year  ended 31 December 2014, the Window has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for periods beginning on 1 January 2014.  

 

Amendment to IAS 32, „Financial instruments:Presentation‟ on offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. This 

amendment clarifies that the right of set-off must not be contingent on a future event. It must also be legally enforceable 

for all counterparties in the normal course of business, as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The 

amendment also considers settlement mechanisms. The amendment did not have a significant effect on the Window‟s 

financial statements. 
 

 

A2.5 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not 

been early adopted by the Window: 
 

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory 

for the Window‟s accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2015 or later periods, but the Window has not early 

adopted them and the impact of these standards and interpretations is not reasonably estimable as at 31 December  2014:  
 

 Amendments to IFRS 3, „Business Combinations‟ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IFRS 8, „Operating segments‟ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IFRS 13, „Fair value measurement‟ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 16, „Property, plant and equipment‟ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 38, „Intangible assets‟ 

 Amendments to IFRS 9, „Financial instruments‟ (Annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 37, „Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets‟ (Annual period beginning on or after 

1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 39, Financial instruments – Recognition and measurement‟ (Annual period beginning on or after 

1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 40, „Investment property‟. (Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014) 

 Amendments to IAS 27, „Separate financial statements‟ on the equity method (Annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2016) 

 Amendments to IFRS 5, „Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations‟ regarding methods of disposal. 

(Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016) 

 Amendments to IFRS 7, „Financial instruments: Disclosures‟, (with consequential amendments to IFRS 1) regarding 

servicing contracts. (Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016) 

 IFRS 15 „Revenue from contracts with customers‟(Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017) 

 IFRS 9 „Financial instruments‟(Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) 
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A3 Significant accounting policies 
 

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below: 

  

A3.1 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and balances with central bank and placements with banks and 

financial institutions that mature within three months, less borrowings with banks and financial institutions accounts that 

mature within three months and restricted balances. 
 

A3.2 Foreign currency translation 
 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the spot exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into the 

functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the 

difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for the effective profit 

and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at the end 

of the period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

 

A3.3 Investments 
 

Classification 

 

(a) Debt-type instruments are investments that have terms that provide fixed or determinable payments of profits 

and capital.  

 

(b) Equity-type instruments are investments that do not exhibit features of debt-type instruments and include 

instruments that evidence a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all its liabilities.  

 

Investments in debt-type instruments are classified into the following categories:  

 

1)  At amortised cost  

2)  At fair value through statement of income 

 

A debt-type investment is classified and measured at amortised cost only if the instrument is managed on a contractual 

yield basis or the instrument is not held for trading and has not been designated at fair value through statement of income. 

 

Debt-type investments classified and measured at fair value through income statement include investments held for 

trading or designated at fair value through statement of income. 

 

At inception, a debt-type investment managed on a contractual yield basis can only be designated at fair value through 

income statement if it eliminates an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise on measuring the assets or liabilities 

or recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases. 

 

Investments in equity type instruments are classified into the following categories:  

 

1)  At fair value through income statement  

2)  At fair value through equity 

 

Equity-type investments classified and measured at fair value through income statement include investments held for 

trading or designated at fair value through statement of income. 

 

An investment is classified as held for trading if acquired or originated principally for the purpose of generating a profit 

from short-term fluctuations in price or dealer‟s margin. Any investments that form part of a portfolio where there is an 

actual pattern of short-term profit taking are also classified as „held for trading‟. 
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.3 Investments (continued) 

 

Equity-type investments designated at fair value through income statement include investments which are managed and 

evaluated internally for performance on a fair value basis. 

 

On initial recognition, the Window makes an irrevocable election to designate certain equity instruments that are not to 

be designated at fair value through income statement and are to be classified as investments at fair value through equity. 

 

Recognition and de-recognition 

 

Investment securities are recognised at the trade date i.e. the date that the Window contracts to purchase or sell the asset, 

at which date the Window becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Investment securities are 

derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Window has 

transferred substantially all risk and rewards of ownership. 

 

Measurement 
 

Initial recognition 
 

Investment securities are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, except for transaction costs incurred to 

acquire investments at fair value through income statement which are charged to the statement of income. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

 

Investments at fair value through income statement are re measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period and 

the resultant re measurement gains or losses is recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise. 

 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments classified at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective profit method less any impairment allowance. All gains or losses arising from the amortisation process and 

those arising on de-recognition or impairment of the investments, are recognised in the statement of income. 

 

Investments at fair value through equity are subsequently measured at their fair values at the end of each reporting period 

and the resultant gain or loss, arising from a change in the fair value of investments are recognised in the statement of 

changes in owners‟ equity and presented in a separate fair value reserve within equity. When the investments classified as 

fair value through equity are sold, impaired, collected or otherwise disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously 

recognised in the statement of changes in equity is transferred to the statement of income. 

 

Investments which do not have a quoted market price or other appropriate methods to fair value them on a continuous 

basis are stated at cost less impairment allowance, (if any). 

 

Measurement principles 

 

Amortised cost measurement 

 

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at 

initial recognition, minus capital repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective profit method 

of any difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. 

The calculation of the effective profit rate includes all fees and points paid or received that are an integral part of the 

effective profit rate. 
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.3 Investments (continued) 

 

Measurement principles (continued) 

 

Fair value measurement 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. 

 

Quoted investments are marked to market using the market price for that instrument at the close of business as of the 

reporting date. For investments where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is 

determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument, which is substantially the same or is based on 

the assessment of future cash flows discounted at current profit rates for contracts with similar term and risk 

characteristics. 
 

A3.4 Financing assets 
 

Financing assets comprise Shari‟a compliant financing provided by the Window with fixed or determinable payments. 

These include financing provided through Murabaha, Mudaraba, Musharaka, Musawama, Ijarah, Istisna and other modes 

of Islamic financing. Financing assets are stated at their amortised cost less impairment allowances (if any).  
 

Murabaha  
 

Murabaha receivables are sales on deferred terms. The Window‟s arranges a Murabaha transaction by buying a 

commodity (which represents the object of the Murabaha) and selling it to the Murabeh (a beneficiary) at a margin of 

profit over cost. The sales price (cost plus the profit margin) is repaid in instalments by the Murabeh over the agreed 

period. Murabaha receivables are stated net of deferred profits and impairment allowance (if any). Any promise made by 

potential Murabeh is considered obligatory. 

 

Mudaraba  
 

Mudaraba is stated at the fair value of consideration given less any impairment. 
 

Mudaraba is a form of partnership between work and capital in which the Window contributes capital. Mudaraba capital 

provided by the Window at inception in kind (if other than cash) is measured at the fair value of the assets. If the 

valuation of assets results in difference between fair value and book value, such difference is recognised as profit or loss 

to the Window. 
 

In case mudaraba capital is lost or damaged prior to the inception of work without misconduct or negligence on the part 

of mudarib, then such losses are deducted from mudaraba capital and are treated as loss to the Window. In case of 

termination or liquidation, unpaid portion by mudarib is recognised as receivable due from mudarib. 

 

Musharaka 
 

Musharaka contracts represents a partnership between the Window and a customer whereby each party contributes to the 

capital in equal or varying proportions to establish a new project or share in an existing one, and whereby each of the 

parties becomes an owner of the capital on a permanent or declining basis and shall share profits or losses. These are 

stated at the fair value of consideration given less any amounts written off and provision for impairment, if any. In 

Diminishing Musharaka based transactions, Window enters into a Musharaka based on Shirkat-ul-milk for financing an 

agreed share of fixed asset (e.g. house, land, plant or machinery) with its customers and enters into period profit payment 

agreement for the utilisation of Window‟s Musharaka share by the customer. 
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.4 Financing assets (continued) 

 

Ijarah muntahia bittamleek  
 

These are initially recorded at cost including initial direct costs. Ijarah muntahia bittamleek is a lease whereby the legal 

title of the leased asset passes to the lessee at the end of the ijarah (lease term), provided that all ijarah installments are 

settled. 
 

Depreciation is charged on Ijarah muntahia bittamleek assets at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset over its 

lease term.  
 

Ijarah income receivables represent outstanding rentals at the end of the year less any provision for doubtful amount. The 

ijarah income receivable is classified under other asset.  

 

Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia bittamleek 
 

Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia bittamleek is construction finance product in which property is developed under 

istisna` contract between customer and the Bank. Banks develops the property and then after completion of construction 

the property is leased to customer under Ijarah muntahia bittamleek contract. During construction customer pays the 

advance rentals. 

 

Salam 

 

In a Salam contract a buyer pays in advance for a specified quantity and quality of a commodity, deliverable on a specific 

date, at an agreed spot price. Salam is particularly applicable to seasonal agricultural purchases and can be used as a 

means of financing production. The price is paid at the time of the contract but the delivery would take place at a future 

date which enables an entrepreneur to sell his output to the Window at a price determined in advance. However, at the 

time of sale all specifications, quality and quantity of the commodity must be determined to avoid any ambiguity which 

could become a cause of dispute. Furthermore, date and time of delivery must also be agreed upon but can be changed 

with mutual consent of the parties. Salam contracts are recognised on the date at which they are originated and are carried 

at their cost less impairment allowances, if any.  

 

A3.5 Property, equipment and fixtures 

 

Items of property, equipment and fixtures are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation is 

provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of property, equipment and fixtures, except freehold land. 

The estimated useful lives for the current period are as follows: 

 Years 

Motor vehicles 5 

Furniture and fixtures 6-7 

Office equipment 6-7 

Computer software 10 

 

The assets‟ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting 

date.  

 

An asset‟s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset‟s carrying amount is 

greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised 

within „other operating income‟ in the income statement. 
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.5 Property, equipment and fixtures (continued) 

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset‟s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Window and the cost of the item can 

be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are 

charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 

A3.6 Taxation 
 

The tax return of the Bank is filed at head office level and the Window is not required to file a separate return on the 

activities of the Islamic Banking operations. 

 

A3.7 Employee benefits 
 

End of service benefits  

End of service indemnity for Omani employees are contributed in accordance with the terms of the Social Securities Law 

of 1991. 
 

Provision for end of service indemnity for non-Omani employees has been made in accordance with the terms of the 

Oman Labour Law 2003 and its amendments and is based on current remuneration rates and cumulative years of service 

at the statement of financial position date. Employees‟ entitlements to annual leave and leave passage are recognised 

when they accrue to the employees up to the reporting date. These accruals are included in current liabilities, while that 

relating to end of service benefits is disclosed as a non-current liability. 

 

Contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan for Omani employees in accordance with the Omani Social 

Insurance Law of 1991 are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. 

 

Short term benefits 

Short term benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. 
 

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Window has a present legal or constructive obligation to 

pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 

A3.8 Impairment losses on financing and receivables 
 

The Window follows IFRS and CBO guidelines in assessing the impairment against non-performing loans. The Window 

reviews its assets portfolios to assess impairment on a monthly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should 

be recorded in the income statement, the Window makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating 

an impairment followed by measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the 

decrease can be identified within that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been 

an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers and or national or local economic conditions that correlate with 

defaults on assets. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk 

characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash 

flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are 

reviewed periodically to reduce any difference between loss estimates and actual loss experience. For individually 

significant financing and receivables which are impaired, the necessary impairment loss is considered based on the future 

cash flow estimates. Individually significant financing and receivables which are not impaired and all individually 

insignificant financing and receivables are then assessed collectively considering historical experience and observable 

data on a portfolio basis, in group of assets with similar risk characteristics to determine whether collective impairment 

loss is to be made. In determining collective impairment loss, the Window takes into account several factors including 

credit quality, concentration risk, levels of past due balances, sector performance, available collateral and macro 

economic conditions.  
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.9  Customer current accounts 
 

Balances in current accounts are recognised when received by the Window. The transactions are measured as the amount 

received by the Window at the time of contracting. At the end of the reporting period, these accounts are measured at 

amortised cost. 
 

A3.10  Equity of unrestricted investment account holders 
 

The Window charges a management fee (Mudarib fee) to the unrestricted investment account holders. Of the total 

income from investments of funds, the income attributable to the unrestricted investment account holders is allocated to 

them after setting aside provisions, reserves (profit equalisation reserve and investment risk reserve), if any, and 

deducting the Window‟s share of income as a Mudarib. The allocation of income is determined by the management of 

the Window within the allowed profit sharing limits as per the terms and conditions of the unrestricted investment 

accounts. 
 

A3.11 Due to and due from banks 
       

Due to and due from banks and financial institutions comprise of wakala payables and receivables. Wakala payables and 

receivables are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of consideration exchanged. Subsequently, they are 

carried at amortised cost less amounts repaid. 
 

A3.12 Revenue recognition 
 

Murabaha 

 

Profit on Murabaha is recognised on an accrual basis. Profit on Murabaha transactions for the period from the date of 

disbursement to the date of culmination of Murabaha.  

  

Mudaraba 

 

Income on Mudaraba financing is recognised when the right to receive payment is established or on distribution by the 

Mudarib. Losses on the other hand are charged to the income statement on declaration by the Mudarib.  

 

Musharaka 

 

Income on musharaka is recognised when the right to receive payment is established or on distribution. In case of losses 

in musharaka, the Window's share of loss is recognised to the extent that such losses are being deducted from its share of 

the musharaka capital. 

 

Profit on sukuks 

 

Profit on Sukuks is recognized on an accrual basis. Where Sukuks are purchased at a premium or discount and are 

classified at amortised cost, those premiums / discounts are amortised over the remaining maturity, using the effective 

profit rate method. 
 

Ijarah 

 

Ijarah rental income is recognised over the term of the lease on accrual basis and is stated net of depreciation and 

impairment. Income related to non performing ijarah muntahia bittamleek accounts and ijarah installments that are above 

90 days is excluded from the statement of income. 

 

Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia bittamleek 

 

Income for Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia bittamleek is booked on receipt of the rentals. 
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A3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.12 Revenue recognition (continued) 

 

Fees and commission income 

 

Fees and commission income that are integral to the effective profit rate of a financial asset carried at amortised cost are 

included in the measurement of the effective profit rate of the financial asset. Other fees and commission income, 

including account servicing fees, sales commission, management, arrangement and syndication fees, are recognised as 

the related services are performed. 

 

Window's share of income from equity of investment accountholders (as Rabalmal and Mudarib) 

 

Income is allocated proportionately between equity of investment accountholders and shareholders on the basis of their 

respective investment in the pool before allocation of the Mudarib fees. The Window‟s share as a Mudarib for managing 

the equity of investment accountholders is accrued based on the terms and conditions of the related Mudaraba 

agreements.         

 

Salam 

 

Income from salam is determined by using the percentage of completion method. 

 

Dividend income 

 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the dividend is established. 

 

Profit on amounts due from banks and financial institutions 

 

Profit on amounts due from banks and financial institutions is recognised on a time apportioned basis over the period of 

the contract based on the principal amounts outstanding and the profit agreed with clients.  

 

A3.13 Expense recognition 
 

Return on equity of investment accountholders is calculated based on the income generated from joint investment 

accounts after deducting the expenses related to investment pool i.e. "mudarib expenses". Mudarib expenses include all 

expenses incurred by the Window, but excluding staff costs and other administrative expenses. The Window's "mudarib 

profit" is deducted from the investors' share of income before distributing such income.    

    

A3.14 Earnings or expenditures prohibited by Sharia 

 

The Window records these amounts in a separate account in the other payables and is not included in the Window‟s 

revenues; these amounts are distributed to charities according to the Sharia Supervisory Board directions. 

 

A3.15 Financial guarantees 

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Window gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, guarantees and 

acceptances. 

 

Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements at fair value, being the premium received at the 

date the guarantee was given, and the initial fair value is amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, the Window‟s liability under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the amortised amount and 

the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising at the reporting date. These 

estimates are determined based on experience of similar transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by the 

judgment of management. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

A3.16 Contingent liabilities 

 

Contingent liabilities include guarantees, letter of credit, the Window‟s obligations with respect to unilateral promise to 

buy/sell currencies and others. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the statement of financial position but are 

disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, unless they are remote. 

 

A3.17 Shari'a supervisory board        

 

The Window's business activities are subject to the supervision of a Shari'a supervisory board consisting of members 

appointed by the general assembly of shareholders.  

 

A3.18 Offsetting        

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and 

only when, the Bank has a legal right to set off the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the 

asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable rights must not be contingent on future events and 

must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the bank 

and the counter party. 

 

A3.19 Zakah        

 

In accordance with the article of association Zakah is payable by individual shareholders of the Bank and Zakah on 

unrestricted investment and other accounts is the responsibility of investment accountholders. 

 

A3.20 Provisions 
 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 

estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 

Provisions are equivalent to the amortised value of the future liabilities which is determined by discounting the expected 

future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk 

specific to the liability. 

 

A3.21 Joint and self-financed  
        

Assets that are jointly financed by the Window and the equity of investment accountholders are disclosed as "jointly 

financed" in the financial statements and assets that are financed solely by the Window are classified under "self 

financed". 

 

B 1 Cash and balances with central banks 

 

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000 
 

RO’000  RO‟000 

 
  Balances with CBO:     

11,166  2,789 - current account 1,074    4,299 

1,642  7,800 - cash reserve  3,003   632 

1,535  1,330 Cash 512   591  

14,343   11,919  
 

 4,589    5,522  

 

 The cash reserve with the Central Bank of Oman cannot be withdrawn without its approval. 
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B 2 Due from banks and financial institutions  

 

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000 
 

RO’000  RO‟000 

   Foreign currency abroad:    

80,320   30,566 Wakalah placements with banks  11,768    30,923  

 722  766 Demand accounts 295   278  

81,042   31,332  12,063    31,201  

81,042  31,332  Self financed 12,063  31,201 

 

 

B 3 Murabaha receivables  

  

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000 
 

RO’000  RO‟000 

       

738  11,437 Murabaha receivables  4,403   284 

(70)  (517) Deferred profit  (199)  (27) 

(13)  (151) Provision for impairment  (58)  (5) 

655  10,769  Net Murabaha receivables  4,146   252 

655  10,769  Self financed 4,146  252 

 

B 4 Ijarah muntahia bittamleek   

   

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

   Building    

   Cost     

-   22,945  Opening balance  8,834   - 

 22,945   66,809  Assets acquired during the year  25,721    8,834  

 22,945   89,753   34,555    8,834  

    Accumulated Depreciation    

-   335  Opening Balance 129   -  

335    4,082  Depreciation for the year  1,571   129 

335    4,417    1,700   129 

 22,610   85,337  Net book value 32,855    8,705  

(226)   (971)  Provision for impairment   (374)  (87)  

 1,606    1,205  Advance against future ijara  464   618  

 23,990   85,571  Total net book value 32,945    9,236  

 

   Ijarah muntahia bittamleek    

10,977  45,441  Self financed 17,495  4,226  

 13,013    40,130  Jointly financed 15,450   5,010  

 23,990   85,571   32,945    9,236  
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B 5       Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia bittamleek 

 

2013 2014  2014 2013 

USD‟000 USD’000  RO’000 RO‟000 

- 1,818 Assets under construction 700  - 

- (18) Provision for impairment   (7) - 

- 1,800 Self financed 693 - 

 

B 6 Investment securities 

 

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

   Debt securities- Sukuk    

7,906    7,883  

Unquoted fixed rate debt-type investments 

classified at amortised cost (secured)  3,035   3,044 

-   13,616  

Unquoted fixed rate debt-type investments 

classified at fair value (secured)  5,242   - 

-   1,961  Equity Securities 755   - 

 7,906  23,460  Self financed  9,032    3,044  

 

The sukuk certificates are for a period of 5 years and carry fixed profit rate of 5% per annum.  

 

B 7 Property, plant and equipment 

 

 
Computer 

software 

Furniture 

and fixtures 

Office 

equipment 

Motor 

vehicle 

Capital work 

in-progress 
Total 

 
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

Cost:  
      

At 1 January 2014 1,006 297 361 87 - 1,751 

Additions 22 165 38 - 4 229 

Disposals/transfers 1 11 19 - - 31 

As at 31 December 2014 1,029 473 418 87 4 2,011 

Accumulated depreciation:     
  

At 1 January 2014 (27) (33) (33) (15) - (108) 

Disposals/transfers - (1) (3) - - (4) 

Charge for the year (108) (80) (61) (17)  - (266) 

As at 31 December 2014 (135) (114) (97) (32) - (378) 

Net book value at       

31 December 2014 894 359 321 55 4 1,633 
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B 7 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 

 
Computer 

software 

Furniture and 

fixtures 

Office 

equipment 

Motor 

vehicle 

Capital 

work in-

progress 

Total 

 
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Cost:  
      

At 1 January 2014 2,613 771 938 226 - 4,548 

Additions 57 429 99 - 10 595 

Disposals/transfers 3 29 49 - - 81 

At 31 December 2014 2,673 1,229 1,086 226 10 5,224 

Accumulated depreciation: 
      

 
      At 1 January 2014 (70) (86) (85) (39) - (280) 

Disposals/transfers - (3) (8) - - (11) 

Charge for the year (281) (208) (158) (44) - (691) 

As at 31 December 2014 (351) (297) (251) (83) - (982) 

Net book value at       

31 December 2014 2,322 932 835 143 10 4,242 

 

 

Computer 

software 

Furniture and 

fixtures 

Office 

equipment 

Motor 

vehicle 

Capital work 

in-progress Total 

 
RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 

Cost:  
      

Transferred from head office -   56   70   24   452  602  

Additions  1,006   241   291   63  1,149  2,750  

Disposals/transfers -  -  -  -  (1,601) (1,601)  

As at 31 December 2013 1,006   297   361  87  -  1,751  

Accumulated depreciation: 
     

 
      Transferred from head office -  (7) (9)  (6)  -  (22) 

Charge for the period (27) (26) (24)  (9)  -  (86) 

As at 31 December 2013  (27)  (33)  (33)  (15) -  (108) 

Net book value at  

31 December 2013  979  264  328  72  -  1,643  
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B 7 Fixed assets (continued) 

 

 

Production 

software 

Furniture & 

fixtures 

Office 

equipment 

Motor 

vehicle 

Capital work 

in progress 
Total 

 
USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 

Cost:  
      

Transferred from head office -   145   182   62  1,174  1,563  

Additions  2,613   626   756   164  2,984  7,143  

Disposals/ transfers -  -  -  -  (4,158)  (4,158)  

As at 31 December 2013 2,613   771   938   226  -  4,548  

       

Accumulated depreciation:      

       

Transferred from head office - (18) (23)  (16) -  (57) 

Charge for the period (70) (68) (62)  (23) -  (223) 

As at 31 December 2013  (70)  (86)  (85)  (39) -  (280) 

Net book value at 

31 December 2013  2,543  685  853 187  -  4,268  

 

B 8  Other Assets 

 

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

       

 49    247  Profit/rental receivable 95   19  

1,688    878  Recoverable from head office 338   650  

510   737 Other 284   196 

 2,247   1,862   717   865  

 

 

B 9 Wakala deposits 

 

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

   Local currency:    

 30,005   20,849 -banks 8,027  11,552 

 -     33,767 -corporates 13,000  - 

   Foreign Currency:    

 19,486   25,065 -banks 9,650  7,502 

 49,491   79,681  30,677  19,054 

 

Wakalah payable includes various facilities with a fixed profit rate ranging from 0.3% – 1.4 %. The maturity of the Wakalah 

payables ranges from 1 week to 12 months. 

 

B 10 Customer accounts 

  

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

   Current accounts by nature:    

31,208   23,426  - current  9,019  12,015  

9,335   16,751  - margin 6,449   3,594 

40,543   40,177   15,468   15,609  
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B 11 Other liabilities 

 

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

       

7,861  -  Payable against sukuk purchased -  3,026 

-    99  Profit/fee payable 38  - 

 39    353  Staff entitlements 136  15 

 356  1,916  Payable to takaful  company  738  137 

 213   800  Other accruals and provisions  308  82 

-   106 End of service benefits 41  - 

 8,469    3,274    1,261    3,260  

 

B 12 Equity of investment account holders 

 

2013  2014  2014  2013 

       

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

9,153  20,296 Saving accounts  7,814    3,524  

473  1,205 Term accounts 464   182  

9,626  21,501   8,278    3,706  

 

Unrestricted investment account holder accounts are monies invested by customers under Mudaraba to form a pool of 

funds. Investment accountholder‟s funds are commingled with the Banks‟s funds for investment, no priority is granted to 

any party for the purpose of investments and distribution of profits.  

 

Term deposits are deposits which can be withdrawn with no loss of capital subject to certain conditions. 

 

The share, as Mudarib, in the profits of equity of investment accountholders is up to a maximum of 70% (2013: up to 

70%) as per the terms of investment account holder agreements. 

 

During the year, the Window has not charged any administrative expense to the pool.  

 

Product Participation factor range  Average rate earned 

Saving-OMR 14-20 0.99% 

Saving-AED 07-10 0.50% 

Saving-USD 07-10 0.49% 

Term 6 Month 14-18 0.80% 

Term 12 Months 21-24 1.29% 

Term 3 Months    10-15 0.87% 

 

B 13     OWNERS’ EQUITY  

 

(a) Assigned Capital 

 

As required under clauses 3.5.1.2 and 3.5.1.3 of Title 1,‟Licensing Requirements‟ of IBRF, the head office assigned 

capital of RO 10 million to the Window. The head office raised this through a rights issue of shares. 

 

(b)  Legal reserve  
 

As per Article 78 of Commercial Companies Law of Oman of 1974 „an additional amount within 2% of the nominal 

value of share may be collected for each share as issue fees. If the shares are issued at a value higher than the nominal 

value, the excess amount, after deducting issue expenses, shall be added either to the legal reserve or a special reserve to 

be established as provided under Article 106 of the Law‟. Accordingly, the Window has transferred the net issue 

proceeds to the legal reserve.  

 

  



SOHAR ISLAMIC  

(ISLAMIC BANKING WINDOW OF BANK SOHAR SAOG) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (continued) 

 

The attached notes A1 to D9 form an integral part of these financial statements.  Page 22 of 43 

B 13     OWNERS’ EQUITY (continued) 

  

(c) General reserve  
 

This represents retained earnings allocated  by head office.  

 

B14 Contingent liabilities and commitments 
 
Standby letters of credit and guarantees commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers‟ contingent upon the 

failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract. 

 

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

       

 25,670   49,138  Guarantees 18,918   9,883 

 -   96  Letter of credit  37   - 

25,670  49,234  18,955  9,883 

 

B15 Related parties 

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Window conducts transactions with certain of its Directors, shareholders, senior 

management, head office, Shari‟a Supervisory Board (SSB), Shari‟a reviewer and companies in which they have a 

significant interest.These transactions are conducted on an arm‟s length basis and are approved by the Window‟s 

management and Board of Directors. 

 

The aggregate amount of balances and the income and expenses generated with such related parties are as follows: 

 

2013  2014 
 

2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000 

 
RO’000  RO‟000 

 206 
 

6,008  

Financing and advances (balance at end of 

year/period) 2,313 

 

 79 

255 
 

6,234  

Financing and advances disbursed during the 

year/period  2,400 

 

98 

49 
 

(229) 

Financing and advances repaid during the 

year/period  (88)  

 

19 

       

16,883  449  Deposits (balance at end of year/period) 173  6,500 

16,883  2,073  Deposits received during the year/period 798  6,500 

       

 5 
 

21  

Profit on financing and advances (during the 

year/period) 8 

 

 2 

-    3   Profit expense (during the year/period) 1  -  

       

    Senior management compensation     

 374  447 Salaries and other short term benefits 172   144 

   Directors’ sitting fees and remuneration    

 140 
 

130 

Shari‟a Supervisory Board‟s sitting fees and 

remuneration 50 

 

54  

 

  Transaction with head office   

 78  39 Profit paid on wakala borrowings 15  30 

-  166 Fee on committed line 64  - 
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B 16 Fair value of financial instruments 
 

The Window considers that the fair value of financial instruments is not significantly different to their carrying value at 

each of those dates. As at 31 December 2014, all the financial assets of the Window were classified as debt-type 

instrument except for equity securities identified in note B6 of the financial statements..  
 

Estimation of fair values    
    

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of assets and liabilities. 

    

Financial assets carried at amortised cost    
 

Financial assets at amortised cost include „cash and balances with central banks‟, ‟due from banks and financial 

institutions‟, „Murabaha receivables‟, „Ijarah muntahia bittamleek‟, „Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia bittamleek‟ and 

„other assets‟. Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and profit cash flows. Repayments 

are assumed to occur at contractual repayment dates, where applicable. For assets that do not have fixed repayment dates 

or that are subject to prepayment risk, repayments are estimated based on experience in previous periods when profit 

rates were at levels similar to current levels, adjusted for any differences in profit rate outlook.   

    

Expected future cash flows are estimated considering credit risk and any indication of impairment.   

  

Expected future cash flows for homogeneous categories of assets are estimated on a portfolio basis and discounted at 

current rates offered for similar assets to new borrowers with similar credit profiles. The estimated fair values of assets 

reflect changes in credit status since the assets were made and changes in profit rates in the case of fixed rate.  
 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including bank and customer deposits) 

     

Financial liabilities at amortised cost include „due to banks and financial institutions‟, „customers‟ current accounts‟, 

„other liabilities‟. For demand deposits and deposits with no defined maturities, fair value is taken to be the amount 

payable on demand at the reporting date. The estimated fair value of fixed-maturity deposits is based on discounted cash 

flows using rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities. The value of long-term relationships with 

depositors at Window level is not taken into account in estimating fair values. 

    

Other on-balance sheet financial instruments       
 

The fair values of all on-balance sheet financial instruments approximate their book values. 

    

Off-balance sheet financial instruments       
 

No fair value adjustment is made with respect to credit-related off-balance sheet financial instruments, which include 

commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarantees, as the related future income streams materially 

reflect contractual fees and commissions actually charged at the reporting date for agreements of similar credit standing 

and maturity.    
 

Financial assets carried at fair value       
 

Financial assets at fair value include  securities and foreign exchange contract (and includes swaps). Foreign exchange 

contracts are valued based on market prices. The market value adjustments in respect of foreign exchange contracts are 

included in the book values of „other assets‟ and „other liabilities‟.    
 

The Window measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used 

in making the measurements:   

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 

    

As at 31 December 2014, the window has  investments and foreign exchange contracts which are carried at fair value.  
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B17 Derivatives  

 

In the ordinary course of business the Window enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial 

instruments. A derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties where payments are dependent 

upon movements in price in one or more underlying financial instrument, reference rate or index. These derivatives are 

stated at fair value. The fair value of a derivative is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from  marking to market 

the derivative using prevailing market rates or internal pricing models. Unrealised gains or losses are included in the 

statement of comprehensive income.  The derivative financial instruments used by the Window are described below: 

 

B17.1 Derivative product types 

 

Currency forward (Wa‟ad), is a unilateral agreement between parties to buy one currency against selling another currency 

at an agreed price for settlement at forward/future value date. The exchange rate used for the transaction is called the 

forward exchange rate. 

 

It is done to hedge from exchange rate volatility risk and to manage liquidity efficiently  by allowing window to 

place/invest excess liquidity with offshore banks or to take funds from offshore banks in case of liquidity shortage.   

 

B 17.2 Derivatives held or issued for hedging purposes 

 

As part of its asset and liability management the Window uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to reduce its 

exposure to currency and profit rate risks. This is achieved by hedging specific financial instruments and forecasted 

transactions as well as strategic hedging against overall statement of financial position exposures.   

 
 Notional Notional amounts by term to maturity 

  amount  Within 3  months 3 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

     

Forward foreign exchange purchase contracts 23,731 20,212 3,519                 -    

Forward foreign exchange sales contracts 23,730 20,212 3,518                 -    

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

     

Forward foreign exchange purchase contracts 61,639 52,499 9,140                  -    

Forward foreign exchange sales contracts 61,636 52,499 9,138                 -    

As at 31 Dec 2013 

     Notional Notional amounts by term to maturity 

  amount  Within 3  months 3 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

     

Forward foreign exchange purchase 

contracts 27,201 

20,020 

7,181 

 Forward foreign exchange sales contracts 27,200 20,020 7,180  

 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

     

Forward foreign exchange purchase 

contracts 70,652 52,000 18,652 

  ═════ ═════ ═════  ═════  

Forward foreign exchange sales contracts 70,649 52,000 18,649  

 ═════ ═════ ═════  ═════  

 

Counter party to Forward contracts is head office   
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C 1 Income from financing activities  

 

Period from 

30 April to 

31 December 

2013  

Year ended 

31 December 

2014  

Year ended 

31 December 

2014  

Period from 

30 April to 

31 December 

2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

10   301  Murabaha  116  4 

390    2,603  Ijarah muntahia bittamleek 1,002  150 

-   34  Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia bittamleek 13  - 

400    2,938   1,131  154 

 

348  1,408  Income from jointly financed assets 542  134 

52    1,530  Income from self-financed assets  589  20 

400    2,938   1,131  154 

 

C 2 Income from investing activities 

 

Period from 

30 April to 

31 December 

2013  

Year ended 

31 December 

2014  

Year ended 

31 December 

2014  

Period from 

30 April to 

31 December 

2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

685  
 

 1,343  

Income from inter-bank placements with Islamic 

banks 
 517  

 
264 

47   875  Income from investment in debt-type instruments   337   18 

-  
 

101  

Fair value gain net on investment securities 

carried at fair value through income statement  39   - 

732    2,319    893   282 

 

C 3  Other operating expenses 

 

Period from 

30 April to 

31 December 

2013  

Year ended 

31 December 

2014  

Year ended 

31 December 

2014  

Period from 

30 April to 

31 December 

2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

857    1,140  Operating and administration costs  439   330 

255   387  Establishment costs  149   98 

140   130  SSB remuneration and sitting fees  50   54 

1,252  1,657   638   482 

 

D Financial risk management      
       

D1 Credit risk      
       

D1.1  Credit risk in financing products 

 

Credit risk orginates from the financing of receivables and leases (including but not limited to, Murabaha, Diminishing 

Musharaka, Istisna and Ijarah) and financing of working capital (including but not limited to Salam). Windows acts as 

financier, supplier, Rabb-ul-Mal and contributor of capital in Musharaka agreement. Window exposes itself with the risk 

of counterparty‟s failure to meet their obligations in terms of receiving deferred payment and making or taking delivery 

of an asset. 
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

 

D1 Credit risk (continued) 

 

D1.2 Management of credit risk      
       

The Window manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the extent of risk it is willing to accept in terms of 

amounts, counterparties, product types, geographical area and industry sector. It has established a credit quality review 

process to provide early identification of possible changes in the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular 

collateral revisions. Counterparty limits are established by the use of a credit risk classification system, which assigns 

each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings are subject to regular revision by the Credit Review and Analysis 

Department (“CR&AD”). Any changes to the Credit Risk Policy will be approved by the Board. 

 

Exposure limits are based on the aggregate exposure to counterparty and any connected entities. Corporate 

contracts/facilities are reviewed on an annual basis by CR&AD. 

 

To cover unforeseen risk, which dries up the cash flows, additional tangible securities are taken as collateral such as real 

estate or equity shares. The Window implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral credit 

risk mitigation. The principal types of collaterals for financings and advances are: 

       

 charges of assets under murabaha agreements 

 ownership/title of assets under Ijarah & Istisna financing 

 ownership/title under Istisna arrangement 

       

All financings and advances of the Window are regularly monitored to ensure compliance with the stipulated repayment 

terms. Those financings and advances are classified into one of the 5 risk classification categories: Standard, Special 

Mention, Substandard, Doubtful and Loss – as stipulated by Central Bank of Oman regulations and guidelines. The 

responsibility for identifying problem accounts and classifying them rests with the business line functions.  

    

The credit exposure of the Window as on the reporting date is as follows: 

 

31 December 2014 
Murabaha 

receivables 

Ijarah 

muntahia 

bittamleek 

Istisna followed by 

Ijarah muntahia 

bittamleek 

Wakala 

placements 

& balance 

with banks 

Debt type 

securities Total 

 
  

 
   

       

    
   

In (RO„000)       

Neither past due not 

impaired 3,972   32,155 693  

  

12,063  

 

8,277  

 

57,160 

past due but not 

impaired 
 

   174 

 

     790 

 

    - 

 

          - 

 

        - 

 

      964 

Total  4,146   32,945  693   12,063  8,277   58,124 

 In (USD‟000)       

       

Neither past due not 

impaired 
 

10,317 

 

83,519 

 

 1,800  

 

 31,332  

 

 21,499  

 

148,467 

past due but not 

impaired 
 

    452 

 

   2,052 

 

        - 

 

          - 

 

           - 

 

     2,504 

Total   10,769   85,571   1,800   31,332   21,499   150,971  
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

 

D1 Credit risk (continued) 
 

D1.2 Management of credit risk 
 

31 December 2013 

Murabaha 

receivables 

Ijarah 

muntahia 

bittamleek 

Istisna followed by 

Ijarah muntahia 

bittamleek 

Wakala 

placements & 

balance with 

banks 

Debt type 

securities Total 

 
      

 In (RO„000)       

Neither past due not 

impaired 252 9,236            - 31,201 3,044 43,733 

 In (USD‟000)       

Neither past due not 

impaired 655 23,990           - 81,042 7,906 113,593 
 

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements for all on-balance sheet assets are 

based on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position. 
 

The maximum credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items calculated as per Basel II guidelines are provided 

in note D6. The amounts represented in the note D5 represent a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure as of 31 

December 2014, without taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. 
 

D1.3 Credit rating analysis 
 

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills by rating agency designation 

at 31 December 2014, based on Moody‟s ratings or equivalent. 
 

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

       

30,992    722  A1 to A3 11,932  278 

 499   70,319  Baa1 to Baa3 192  27,073 

21,499   10,068  Ba+ to B- 8,277  3,876 

62,003  69,862 Unrated 37,723  13,045 

114,993  150,971  58,124  44,272 
 

The Window performs an independent assessment based on quantitative and qualitative factors in cases where a counter 

party is unrated.   
 

D1.4 Allowances for impairment     
       

The Window establishes an allowance for impairment losses account that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its 

loan portfolio. The components of this allowance are specific loss components that relate to individually significant 

exposures and a collective loan loss allowance established for group of homogenous assets in respect of losses that have 

been incurred but have not been identified on financings subject to individual assessment for impairment. As of 31 

December 2014, there are no parties identified as non-performing and accordingly no specific provision has been made in 

these financial statements. 

     

D1.5 Write off policy      
       

The Window writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when the Window 

determines that the loan/security is uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the 

occurrence of significant changes in the borrower/issuer‟s financial position such that the borrower/issuer can no longer 

repay the obligation, or that proceeds from the collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. For 

smaller balance standardised financings, charge off decisions generally are based on a product specific past due status. 
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D Financial risk management (continued)     
 

D1 Credit risk (continued) 
 

D 1.6 Collateral securities 
 

The assets, or title to the asset, will be maintained in the Window‟s custody or with a custodian approved by the Window. 

Necessary measures are taken to ensure that the assets are maintained in useable condition. 
 

The release of collateral without full repayment of all related financial obligations requires authorization of the same 

level that originally approved and sanctioned the facility. Substitution of collateral is permitted if the new collateral 

would further minimise the Window‟s risk exposure keeping in mind the regulatory requirements. 
 

When collateral is released to the customer, the Credit Administration Department obtains and maintains in its records 

acknowledgement of receipt from the customer or its authorised representative. 
 

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against financings and advances is shown 

below: 

 

2013  2014  2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000  RO’000  RO‟000 

       

15,556  25,925 Property 9981  5,989 

43,922  27,792 Commercial Mortgage 10700  16,910 

-  5,844 Equity 2250  - 

1,151  610 Vehicle 235  443 

60,629  60,171  23,166  23,342 

 

Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a party to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other 

assets as contractually agreed on the day of settlement. 

 

In foreign exchange trades, though there is fulfilment of both the legs of the transaction on the settlement date as is 

common practice between trading partners (free settlement), there will be risk on account of different time zones. In these 

cases, the settlement risk is mitigated through the execution of bilateral payment netting agreements. 

 

D1.7 Concentrations 

 

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities or 

activities in the same geographic region or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet 

contractual obligations to be affected similarly by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations of 

credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Window‟s performance to developments affecting a particular industry 

or geographic location. 

 

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Window‟s policies and procedures include specific guidelines to 

focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed 

accordingly. 

 

 Regulatory Caps – exposure limits to a person (including juristic person) and his connected parties has been set 

at 15% of the Window‟s Net worth. 

 Net worth is the aggregate amount of assets less liabilities, which shall include assets and liabilities both within 

and outside the Sultanate. 

 Exposure to senior member in the management of the Window and any related parties shall not exceed 10% of 

the amount of the net worth of the Window and aggregate of all such exposures shall not exceed 35% of the 

amount of the net worth. 

Limits are not applicable to exposures fully secured by cash or cash equivalent (not subject to withdrawal from the 

Window) or are secured by guarantee of the financial institutions within or outside Sultanate of Oman or the Government 

of the Sultanate of Oman.  
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D Financial risk management (continued)     
       

D1 Credit risk (continued) 

 

D1.7 Concentrations (continued) 

 

 2014 

 

Murabaha Ijara 

Istisna followed 

by Ijarah 

muntahia 

bittamleek 

Due from banks 

and other 

money market 

lendings 

Investment 

securities 

 
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

Concentration by sector 
     

Corporate 1675 16,232 693 - 8,277 

Personal 2471 16,714 - - - 

Banks -  -  -  12,063 -  

 
4,146 32,946 693 12,063 8,277 

 
     

Concentration by 

location 

 

    

Middle east 4,146  32,946  693  129 8,277 

Europe - - - 59 - 

North America - - - 107 - 

Asia - - - 11,768 -  

Total 4,146  32,946  693   12,063  8,277 

      
 

 2014 

 

Murabaha Ijara 

Istisna followed 

by Ijarah 

muntahia 

bittamleek 

Due from 

banks and 

other money 

market 

lendings 

Investment 

securities 

 
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000  USD’000  

Concentration by sector 
     

Corporate 4,351  42,161  1,800   -  21,499 

Personal 6,418  43,410   -   -   -  

Banks  -   -   -   31,332   -  

 
10,769  85,571  1,800   31,332  21,499 

Concentration by 

location      

Middle east 10,769  85,571  1,800   335  21,499 

Europe  -   -   -   153   -  

North America  -   -   -   278   -  

Asia  -   -   -   30,566   -  

 
10,769  85,571  1,800  31,332 21,499 
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D Financial risk management (continued)     
       

D1 Credit risk (continued) 

 

D1.7 Concentrations (continued) 

 

 

2013   

 

 

 

 

 

Murabaha 

 

 

 

 

Ijara 

Due from banks 

and other money 

market lendings 

 

 

 

Investment 

securities 

 
RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 

 
  

Concentration by sector     

Corporate 58 5,681  - 3,044 

Personal 194 3,555  - -  

Banks - - 31,201   

 
252 9,236 31,201 3,044 

 
      

Concentration by location 

 
 

    

Middle east 252 9,236 122 3,044 

Europe - - 57 -  

North America - - 99 -  

Asia - - 30,923  -  

Total 252 9,236 31,201 3,044 

 

 2013 

 

 

 

 

 

Murabaha 

 

 

 

 

Ijara 

Due from banks 

and other money 

market lendings 

 

 

 

Investment 

securities 

     

 
USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000  USD‟000  

Concentration by sector   

Corporate 151 14,756 - 7,906 

Personal 504 9,234 - - 

Banks - - 81,042 - 

 655 23,990 81,042 7,906 

Concentration by location     

Middle east 655 23,990 317 7,906 

Europe  - - 148 - 

North America - - 257 - 

Asia - - 80,320 - 

 655 23,990 81,042 7,906 
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

 

D2 Liquidity risk      
       

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Window will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its financial 

liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

       

D2.1 Management of liquidity risk  

 

The Window‟s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 

to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or 

risking damage to the Bank‟s reputation. 

 

Window‟s central treasury receives information from other business units regarding the liquidity profile of their financial 

assets and liabilities and details of other projected cash flows arising from projected future business. Central treasury then 

maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets, largely made up of short-term liquid investment securities, loans and 

advances to banks and other inter-bank facilities, to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained within the Bank as a 

whole. The liquidity requirements of business units are met through short-term loans from central treasury to cover any 

short-term fluctuations and longer term funding to address any structural liquidity requirements. The Bank has also laid 

down a comprehensive liquidity contingency plan for effective management of liquidity. In this process due care is taken 

to ensure that the Window complies with all the CBO regulations.  

 

All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approved by Asset Liabilities Committee (ALCO). 

Computation of liquidity gap on maturity of assets and liabilities is provided. The computation has been prepared in 

accordance with guidelines provided by the regulator. 

       

D2.2 Exposure to liquidity risk      
       

The lending ratio, which is the ratio of the total financings and advances to customer deposits and capital, is monitored 

on a daily basis in line with the regulatory guidelines. Internally the lending ratio is set at a more conservative basis than 

required by regulation. The Window also manages its liquidity risk on regular basis and by monitoring the liquid ratio 

which is a ratio of net liquid assets to total assets on a monthly basis. For this purpose net liquid assets are considered as 

including cash and cash equivalents and investment grade debt securities for which there is an active and liquid market. 

       

Details of the reported lending and liquid ratio as at 31 December 2014 were as follows: 

 

   2014 

  Lending ratio  Liquid ratio  

Average for the year 106.57% 35.21% 

Maximum for the year  342.45% 53.60% 

Minimum for the year 47.47% 23.44% 

 

 

   2013 

  Lending ratio  Liquid ratio  

Average for the year 65.20% 103% 

Maximum for the year  79.96% 249% 

Minimum for the year 42.76% 9% 

 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Window‟s liabilities as on the reporting date based on contractual 

repayment arrangements. The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the 

remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date and do not take account of the 

effective maturities as indicated by the Window‟s deposit retention history and the availability of liquid funds. 
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

       

D2 Liquidity risk (continued)     
       

D2.2 Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 

 

 

Carrying 

amount 
Within 

three 

months 

Four 

months to 

12 months 

One to 

three 

years 

More 

than 

three 

years 

 

  

Total 

2014 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

Wakala deposits 
30,677 

                

9,957  

           

20,988  

               

-    

 

      

30,946  

Customer deposit and other 

accounts 15,468 

              

10,057  

              

3,157  

           

902  

        

1,352  

      

15,468  

Other liabilities 
1,261 

                

1,261  

                     

-    

               

-    

               

-    

        

1,261  

Other liabilities 47,406 21,275 24,145 902 1,352 47,675 

       Equity of Investment account 

holders 8,278 

                

1,115  

              

1,198  

        

1,954  

        

4,011  

        

8,278  

 
55,684 22,390 25,343 2,856 5,363 55,953 

 

 

Carrying 

amount Within three 

months 

Four 

months to 

12 months 

One to 

three 

years 

More 

than 

three 

years 

 

  

Total 

2014 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Wakala deposits 79,681 25,863 54,515 0 0 80,378 

Customer deposit and other 

accounts 40,177 26,122 8,200 2,343 3,512 40,177 

Other liabilities 3,274 3,275 - - - 3,275 

Other liabilities 123,132 55,260 62,715 2,343 3,512 123,830 

       Equity of Investment 

account holders 21,501 2,896 3,112 5,075 10,418 21,501 

 
144,633 58,156 65,827 7,418 13,930 145,331 
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

       

D2 Liquidity risk (continued)     
       

D2.2 Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 

 

 

 

 

Carrying  

amount 

 

Within three 

months 

Four 

months to 

12 months 

One to 

three 

years 

More 

than 

three 

years   

 

Total 

2013 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 RO‟000 

Wakala deposits 19,054 

             

16,058  

             

3,011  

               

-    

               

-    

      

19,069  

Customer deposit and other 

accounts 15,609 

                

6,244  

              

5,463  

               

-    

        

3,902  

      

15,609  

Other liabilities 3,260 

                

3,260  

                     

-    

               

-    

               

-    

        

3,260  

Other liabilities 37,923 25,562 8,474 - 3,902 37,938 

       Equity of investment account 

holders 3,706 

                   

355  

                 

653  

           

881  

        

1,817  

        

3,706  

 

41,629 25,917 9,127 881 5,719 41,644 

       

 

 

Carrying  

amount 
Within three 

months 

Four 

months to 

12 months 

One to 

three 

years 

More 

than 

three 

years  

  

Total 

2014 USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 USD‟000 

Wakala deposits 49,491 41,709 7,821 - - 49,530 

Customer deposit and other 

accounts 40,543 16,218 14,190 - 10,135 40,543 

Other liabilities 8,469 8,468 0 - - 8,468 

Other liabilities 98,503 66,395 22,011 - 10,135 98,541 

         9,626 922 1,696 2,288 4,719 9,626 

 

108,129 67,317 23,707 2,288 14,854 108,167 
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

       

D2 Liquidity risk (continued)     

 

D2.2 Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 

     

The Window prepares a liquidity gap report to monitor the Window‟s short term liquidity position on the Rial 

denominated assets and liabilities in a time horizon spanning one month. The gap is adjusted for availability of 

instruments for repo or refinance and also for unavailed committed lines of credit, if any. This statement of short term 

liquidity is to be reported to the ALCO every month. 

       

D3 Market risk      
       

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from the changes in the profit rates, foreign currency exchange rates, equity 

prices and commodity prices. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 

within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return to risk. 

 

D3.1  Market risk in financing products 

 

Financing contracts mainly comprise „Murabaha receivables‟ and „Ijara Muntahia Bittamleek‟. Following are the 

financing related market risk: 

 

Murabaha receivables 

 

In the case of an asset in possession for a Murabaha transaction and an asset acquired specifically for resale to a customer 

in a non-binding Murabaha to the purchase orderer (MPO) transaction, the asset would be treated as inventory of the 

Window and is subject to price risk. 

 

Ijara Muntahia Bittamleek (IMB) 

 

In the case of Non-binding Promise to lease an asset acquired and held for the purpose of either operating Ijarah or IMB. 

The asset would be treated as asset owned by the Window and is subject to price risk from its acquisition date until its 

disposal.  

 

D3.2 Measurement of market risk     
       

The Window is mainly engaged in Spots and Currency swaps. Since the positions are taken mainly for customer 

transactions, the complexity is further reduced. In view of above, the Window measures and controls the risk by using a 

limit framework. As and when the Window enters into more complex derivatives, it will have more sophisticated models 

and techniques to measure market risk, supported by a suitable mechanism. 

       

D3.3 Management of market risks     
       

The Window separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non -trading portfolios. Trading portfolios include 

all positions arising from market making and proprietary position taking, together with financial assets and liabilities that 

are managed on a fair value basis. 

       

All foreign exchange risk within the Window is transferred by Central Treasury to the trading book. Accordingly, the 

foreign exchange position is treated as a part of the Window‟s trading portfolio for risk management purposes. Foreign 

currency risk is monitored and managed by the Window by establishment of Middle Office to monitor the market risk, 

and the risk is managed by putting in place Market Risk Management Policy, and implementing limit framework, 

reporting tools like Currency Position Report, Risk Analysis of Currency Position, Breach Analysis Report, and Dealer 

Limit Breach report. 

       

Overall authority for market risk is vested in ALCO. The risk management function is responsible for development of 

detailed risk management policies (subject to approval by ALCO and Risk Management Committee of the Board). The 

Market Risk Policy is periodically reviewed to keep it up to date with the market developments. 
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D Financial risk management (continued)   

       

D3 Market risk (continued)     
 

D3.4 Exposure to profit rate risk      
       

Profit rate risk is the potential impact of the mismatch between the rate of return on assets and the expected rate of 

funding due to the sources of finance. Senior management identifies the sources of profit rate risk exposures based upon 

the current as well as forecasted balance sheet structure of Window. The profit rate risk in the Window may arise due to 

the following transactions: 

 Murabaha transactions; 

 Wakala transactions; 

 Isitisna followed by Ijara Muntahia Bittamleek  

 Ijara Muntahia Bittamleek; 

 Istisna; 

 Sukuk; and 

 Musharaka investments. 
 

Window‟s management believes that the Window is not exposed to material profit rate risk as the re-pricing of assets, 

liabilities and equity of investment accountholders occur at similar intervals. The profit distribution to equity of 

investment accountholders is based on profit sharing agreements. Therefore, Window is not subject to any significant 

profit rate risk. 
 

Sources of Profit Rate Risk 

The different profit rate risks faced by the Window can be classified broadly into the following categories. 

 

 Re-pricing risk which arises from timing differences in the maturity (for fixed rate) and re-pricing (for floating 

rate) of assets, liabilities and off balance sheet positions. As profit rates vary, these re-pricing mismatches expose 

Window‟s income and underlying economic value to unanticipated fluctuations; 

 Yield curve risk which arises when unanticipated shifts of the yield curve have adverse effects on Window‟s 

income and/or underlying economic value; 

 Basis risk which arises from imperfect correlation in the adjustment in the rate earned on products priced and the 

rate paid on different instruments with otherwise similar re-pricing characteristics. When profit rates change, 

these differences can give rise to unexpected changes in the cash flows and earnings spread between assets, 

liabilities, and off balance sheet instruments of similar maturities or re-pricing frequencies; and  

 Displaced Commercial Risk refers to the market pressure to pay returns that exceeds the rate that has been earned 

on the assets financed by the liabilities, when the return on assets is under performing as compared to 

competitor‟s rates. 
 

Profit rate risk strategy 

Profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates will affect future profitability or the fair values of 

financial instruments. The window is exposed to profit rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the amounts of assets 

and liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments that mature or re-price in a given period. The window manages this risk 

through risk management strategies. 
 

The effective profit rate (effective yield) of a monetary financial instrument is the rate that, when used in a present value 

calculation, results in the carrying amount of the instrument. The rate is a historical rate for a fixed rate instrument 

carried at amortised cost and a current rate for a floating rate instrument or an instrument carried at fair value. 
 

Profit rate risk measurement tools 

Window uses the following tools for profit rate risk measurement in its book: 

 Re-pricing gap analysis which measures the arithmetic difference between the profit-sensitive assets and 

liabilities of Window book in absolute terms; and 

 Basis Point Value (“BPV”) analysis which is the sensitivity measure for all profit rate priced products and 

positions. The BPV is the change in net present value of a position arising from a 1 basis point shift in the yield 

curve. This quantifies the sensitivity of the position or portfolio to changes in profit rates. 
 

Profit rate risk monitoring and reporting 
Window has implemented information systems for monitoring, controlling and reporting profit rate risk. Reports are 

provided on a timely basis to Executive Committee and the Board of Directors of the head office.  
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

       

D3 Market risk (continued)  

 

D3.4 Exposure to profit rate risk (continued)      

 

Profit rate risk monitoring and reporting (continued) 

 

The Risk and Compliance Unit monitors these limits regularly. General Manager Compliance and Risk Management 

(GM-C&RM) reviews the results of gap limits and exceptions, if any, and recommends corrective action to be taken 

which is approved by ALCO or Executive Committee, according to authority parameters approved by the Board. 

       

D3.5 Exposure to profit rate risk – non trading portfolios   
       

The Window‟s profit sensitivity position based on contractual re-pricing arrangements at 31 December 2014 was as 

follows:  

 

 

Effective 

annual 

Within three 

months 

Four months 

to 12 months 

Over one 

year 

Non 

sensitive to 

profit rate  
profit 

 
rate 

 
% RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

At 31 December 2014 

     Assets 

     Cash and balances with central banks   -  -  -  4,589 

Due from banks and financial 

institutions  1.95  
11,768 -  - 295 

Murabaha receivables  5.78  122 572 3,452  -  

Ijarah muntahia bittamleek  4.14  348 4,060 28,537  -  

Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia 

bittamleek  5.00  
-  -  693  -  

Investment securties  4.06  3,901 1,950 3,181  -  

Fixed assets   -  -   -  1,633 

Other assets   -  -   -  717 

Total assets 

 

        16,139          6,582          35,863          7,234  

Liabilities and equity 

     Wakala deposits  0.74   9,952 20,725   -   -  

Customer current accounts 

 

-  -   -  15,468  

Other liabilities   -  -   -  1,261  

Total liabilities  

 
 9,952  20,725   -  16,729  

      Equity of Investment Account 

Holders  0.29  
8,278 -   -   -  

Total liabilities and equity of 

Unrestricted Investment Account 

(URIA) 

 

18,230 20,725 0 16,729 

Total profit rate sensitivity gap 

 

-2,091 -14,143 35,863 -9,495 

Cumulative profit rate sensitivity 

gap 

 

-2,091 -16,234 19,629 10,134 
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D Financial risk management (continued)  

 

D3 Market risk (continued)  

      

D3.5  Exposure to profit rate risk – non trading portfolios (continued)   
 

 

 Effective 

annual  

 Within 

three months  

 Four months 

to 12 months  

 Over one 

year  

 Non-

sensitive to 

profit rate   
 profit  

 
 rate  

 
 %   USD’000   USD’000   USD’000   USD’000  

At 31 December 2014 

     Assets 

     Cash and balances with central banks                  -                   -                   -            11,919  

Due from banks and financial 

institutions  1.95  
      30,566                 -                   -                 766  

Murabaha receivables  5.78              317          1,486          8,966                   -    

Ijarah muntahia bittamleek  4.14              904        10,545        74,122                   -    

Istisna followed by Ijarah muntahia 

bittamleek  5.00  
               -                   -            1,800                   -    

Investment securties  4.06        10,132          5,065          8,262                   -    

Fixed assets                 -                   -                   -              4,242  

Other assets                 -                   -                   -              1,862  

Total assets 

 

      41,919        17,096        93,150          18,789  

Liabilities and equity 

     Wakala deposits  0.74        25,849        53,831                 -                     -    

Customer current accounts 

 

               -                   -                   -            40,177  

Other liabilities 

 

               -                   -                   -              3,275  

Total liabilities  

 

25,849 53,831                -    43,452 

Equity of Investment Account 

Holders 

     Total liabilities and equity of 

Unrestricted Investment Account 

(URIA)  0.29  
8,278                -                   -                     -    

Total profit rate sensitivity gap 

 

34,127 53,831                -    43,452 

Cumulative profit rate sensitivity 

gap 

 

7,792 -36,735 93,150 -24,663 
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D Financial risk management (continued)  

 

D3 Market risk (continued)  

      

D3.5  Exposure to profit rate risk – non trading portfolios (continued)   
 

 

Effective 

annual Within 

three 

months 

Four 

months to 

12 months 

Over one 

year 

Non-sensitive 

to profit rate 

Profit 

rate 

 
% RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 

31 December 2013 
     

Assets 
     

Cash and balances with central banks 
 

- - - 5,522 

Due from banks and financial institutions  2.61  19,528 11,395 - 278 

Murabaha receivables  5.96  24 76 152 - 

Ijarah muntahia bittamleek 4.81 765 534 7,937 - 

Investment securties 5 - - 3,044 - 

Fixed assets  - - - 1,643 

Other assets  188 - - 677 

Total assets 
 

20,505 12,005 11,133 8,120 

Liabilities and equity 
     

Due to banks and financial institutions 0.45  12,200 6,854 - - 

Customer current accounts 
 

- - - 15,609 

Other liabilities 
 

1 - - 3,259 

Total liabilities  
 

12,201 6,854 - 18,868 

      

Equity of Investment Account Holders 1.18 3,706 - - - 

Total liabilities and equity of Unrestricted 

Investment Account (URIA)  
15,907 6,854 - 18,868 

Total profit rate sensitivity gap 
 

4,598 5,151 11,133 (10,748) 

Cumulative profit rate sensitivity gap 
 

4,598 9,749 20,882 10,134 
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

 

D3 Market risk (continued)     
       

D3.5 Exposure to profit rate risk – non trading portfolios (continued) 

   

 

 

Effective 

annual 
Within 

three 

months 

Four 

months 

to 12 

months 

Over 

one year 

Non-sensitive 

to profit rate profit 

rate 

 
% USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

31 December 2013 
     

Assets 
     

Cash and balances with central banks - 
                  

-     

                  

-     

                  

-     
          14,343  

Due from banks and financial institutions 2.61 
         

50,722  

         

29,597  

                  

-     
                723  

Murabaha receivables 
5.96 

                 

62  

               

197  

              

396  
                  -     

Ijarah muntahia bittamleek 4.81 
           

1,987  

           

1,387  

        

20,616  
                  -     

Investment securties 5 
                  

-     

                  

-     

           

7,906  
                  -     

Fixed assets - 
                  

-     

                  

-     

                  

-     
            4,268  

Other assets - 
               

488  

                  

-     

                  

-     
            1,759  

Total assets 
 

         

53,259  

         

31,181  

        

28,918  
          21,093  

Liabilities and equity 
     

Due to banks and financial institutions 
0.45 

         

31,688  

         

17,803  

                  

-     
                  -     

Customer current accounts - 
                  

-     

                  

-     

                  

-     
          40,543  

Other liabilities - 
                   

3  

                  

-     

                  

-     
            8,466  

Total liabilities  
 

         

31,691  

         

17,803  

                  

-    
          49,009  

Equity of Investment Account Holders 
 

           

9,626  
      

Total liabilities and equity of Unrestricted 

Investment Account (URIA) 
1.18 

         

41,317  

         

17,803  

                  

-    
          49,009  

Total profit rate sensitivity gap 
 

         

11,942  

         

13,378  

        

28,918  
        (27,916) 

Cumulative profit rate sensitivity gap 
 

         

11,942  

         

25,320  

        

54,238  
          26,322  
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

 

D3 Market risk (continued)     
       

D 3.6  Currency risk 

 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 

rates.The Board has set limits on the overall open position and for open position for each currency. The open position 

limits include overnight open position and intraday open position. Open positions are monitored on a daily basis and 

hedging strategies used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. The Window had the following net 

exposures denominated in foreign currencies: 

 

 

  
2014   

 
Assets Liabilities & URIA Net assets 

   
    
Riyal Omani 46,035 45,184 851 

United States Dollar  50,894 27,268 23,626 

Saudi Rial 556 - 556 

Euro 59 4 55 

UAE Dirhams 516 (1) 517 

Qatari Rial 100 - 100 

Kuwaiti Dinar 2 - 2 

Pound Sterling 53 - 53 

Bahraini Dinar 5 - 5 

 

 

 
2013 

 
Assets Liabilities& URIA Net assets 

 
   

    
Riyal Omani 112,512 30,523 51,466 

Saudi Rial 28 - 28 

Euro 67 - 67 

UAE Dirhams 352 163 26 

Qatari Rial 28 - 28 

Kuwaiti Dinar 52 - 52 

Pound Sterling 83 - 83 

Others 13 - 13 

 

The Window takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its 

financial position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both 

overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily. 

 

Changes in the non parity foreign currency prices as at 31 December 2014 and 2013 on net assets is considered 

negligible. 
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

 

D4 Operational risk 

 

Operational risk is defined as the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 

people and systems or from external events. Operational risk arises due to variety of causes associated with the 

Window‟s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure and from external events and to include risks other than 

credit, market and liquidity risks. 

 

Window has adopted same policies and procedures to mitigate operational risk as those of the head office. Advantages of 

head office processes and infrastructure are obtained in compliance with IBRF. Policies on following processes are also 

similar to that of the head office: 
 

 Track loss events and potential exposures; 

 Reporting of losses, indicators and scenarios on a regular basis; and 

 Review the reports jointly by risk and line managers; 

 

In addition to the above, Window has a dedicated Sharia‟ compliance officer responsible to ensure compliance with 

IBRF, Sharia‟ guidelines and other applicable laws and regulations. 

 

D5 Displaced commercial risk 
 

Displaced commercial risk (“DCR”) refers to the magnitude of risks that are transferred to shareholders in order to 

cushion the Investment Account Holder (“IAH”) from bearing some or all of the risks to which they are contractually 

exposed in Mudaraba contracts.  

 

Under a Mudaraba (profit sharing and loss-bearing) contract, unrestricted IAH are exposed to aggregate impact of risks 

arising from the assets in which their funds are invested, but this is managed by Sohar Islamic Window through DCR.  
 

This risk-sharing is achieved by constituting and using various reserves such as PER, and by adjusting the Sohar Islamic 

Window'sprofit share in order to smooth the returns payable to the IAH from exposure to the volatility of aggregate 

returns arising from banking risks, and thereby to enable payment of returns that are competitive in the marketplace.  
 

Sohar Islamic Window manages its displaced commercial risk as outlined in its Profit Distribution Policy. The Window 

foregoes its fee in case displaced commercial risk arises. The Window manages profit rates with other Islamic Windows 

and full-fledged Islamic/ Conventional Banks operating in Oman. 

 

D6 Capital management  
   

D6.1 Regulatory capital  
   

The Window‟s lead regulator, Central Bank of Oman, sets and monitors capital requirements for the Window as a whole. 

In implementing current capital requirements Central Bank of Oman requires the Window to maintain a prescribed ratio 

of total capital to total risk-weighted assets. The Window calculates capital requirements for market risk and operational 

risk based upon the model prescribed by Central Bank of Oman as follows: 
   

 Sovereign entities – Nil  

 Window‟s – Risk weighting based upon ratings by external credit assessment institutions as approved by CBO 

 Retail and Corporate financings - As per credit conversion factors and risk weightage prescribed by Central Bank 

of Oman. 

 Off balance sheet items – As per credit conversion factors and risk weightage prescribed by Central Bank of 

Oman. 
 

The Window‟s regulatory capital is analysed into three tiers:  
   

 Tier 1 capital, which includes allocated capital, share premium, reserves, perpetual bonds (which are classified as 

innovative Tier 1 securities), retained earnings, translation reserve and intangible assets, and other regulatory 

adjustments relating to items that are included in equity but are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes. 
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D6 Capital management (continued)  
   

D6.1 Regulatory capital (continued)  
 

 Tier 2 capital, which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities, collective impairment allowances the element of 

the fair value reserve relating to unrealised gains on equity instruments classified as fair value through equity, 

Profit Equalization Reserve (PER) and Investment Risk Reserve (IRR). 

 

Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base. The amount of innovative tier 1 securities cannot exceed 15 

percent of total tier 1 capital; qualifying tier 2 capital cannot exceed tier 1 capital; and qualifying term subordinated loan 

capital may not exceed 50 percent of tier 1 capital. There are also restrictions on the amount of collective impairment 

allowances, PER and IRR that may be included as part of tier 2 capital. Other deductions from capital include the 

carrying amounts of investments in subsidiaries that are not included in the regulatory consolidation, investments in the 

capital of Windows and certain other regulatory items. 

 

Window‟s operations are categorized as either trading book or banking book, and risk-weighted assets are determined 

according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets and off-balance sheet 

exposures. There is no availability of data for previous three years as required under basic indicator approach for 

computation of capital charge for operational risk. The Window‟s policy is to maintain a strong capital base . 

   

The international standard for measuring capital adequacy is the risk asset ratio, which relates capital to balance sheet 

assets and off balance sheet exposures weighted according to broad categories of risk. 

   

The risk asset ratio calculated in accordance with the capital adequacy guidelines of the Window for International 

Settlement is as follows: 

 

2013  2014 
 

2014  2013 

USD‟000  USD’000 
 

RO’000  RO‟000 

 
 

 
Tier 1 capital 

 
 

 
25,974  25,974 Ordinary share capital 10,000  10,000 

348  348 Legal reserve 134  134 

1,688  2,566 General reserve 988  650 

(1,688)  (2,566) Retained earnings (988)  (650) 

26,322  26,322 Total  10,134  10,134 

 
 

 
Tier 2 capital 

 
 

 
239  1,140 Impairment allowance on portfolio basis 439  92 

239  1,140 Total 439  92 

26,561  27,462 Total regulatory capital 10,573  10,226 

 
 

   
 

 

 
 

 
Risk-weighted assets 

 
 

 
93,154  176,092 Window credit and market risk 67,796  35,864 

-  - Operational risk -  - 

93,154  176,092 Total risk-weighted assets 67,796  35,864 

 
 

   
 

 

 
 

 
Capital adequacy ratio 

 
 

 

28.51% 
 

15.60% 
Total regulatory capital expressed as a percentage 

of total risk-weighted assets 
15.60% 

 
28.51% 

28.26% 
 

14.95% 
Total tier 1 capital expressed as a percentage of 

total risk-weighted assets 
14.95% 

 
28.26% 

 

 

The capital adequacy ratio given above is calculated in accordance with the Basel II norms as adopted by Central Bank of 

Oman and IBRF.  
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D Financial risk management (continued)     

 

D7 Segmental information     
       

The activities of the Window are performed as one unit. Reporting to management is made by business unit. The 

Window operates solely in the Sultanate of Oman and as such no geographical segment information is presented. 

 

D8      Other disclosures 

 

Following are the mandatory disclosures required under Article 1.6.1 to 1.6.6 of Title 2 „General Obligations and 

Governance‟ of IBRF: 

 

 The deficit of the Window has been recuperated by the head office (refer note B7); 

 There has been no comingling of the funds.  

 As of 31 December 2014, and amount of RO 0.338 M is receivable for creating of general reserve. 

 

D9    Comparative figures 

 

Certain corresponding figures for 2013 have been reclassified in order to conform with the presentation for the current 

year. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported net profit or shareholders‟ equity.  

 

 

 

 

 

      




